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PART |

Item 1. Business.
OVERVIEW

Aon plc's strategy is to be the preeminent profesdiservice firm in the world, focused on the tspof risk and people. Aon plc (which
may be referred to as "Aon," "the Company," "wei$," or "our") is the leading global provider a§kimanagement services, insurance and
reinsurance brokerage, and human resource corgsaltith outsourcing, delivering distinctive clientuavia innovative and effective risk
management and workforce productivity solutionst fredecessor, Aon Corporation, was incorporatel®if® under the laws of Delaware.
April 2, 2012, we completed the change of our pligson of incorporation from Delaware to the Udhd moved our corporate headquarters t
London. Additionally, we completed a reorganizatidrour corporate structure pursuant to which Aamgoration merged with one of its
indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries and Aon plc &®e the publicly-held parent company of Aon Corporeand the rest of the Aon group.
We sometimes refer to this transaction herein askbdomestication. Moving our global headquartethé U.K. has enhanced our focus on
growth, product and broking innovations at Aon Bngk talent development and financial flexibilifyhe transaction is expected to continue tc
support our strategy and to deliver significanueato our shareholders.

We have approximately 66,000 employees and coraluabperations through various subsidiaries ineiban 120 countries and
sovereignties.

We serve clients through the following reportaldgraents:

 Risk Solutionsacts as an advisor and insurance and reinsurankerbhelping clients manage their risks via cotagialn, as well
as negotiation and placement of insurance risk imghrance carriers through our global distributi@twork.

« HR Solutions partners with organizations to solve their most plax benefits, talent and related financial chajes We are
dedicated to improve business performance by diegjgimplementing, communicating and administedngide range of human
capital, retirement, investment consulting, hea#the, compensation and talent management strategies

Our clients are globally diversified and includessgments of the economy (individuals through @eatlines, mid-market companies
and large global companies) and almost every imgirsthe economy in over 120 countries globallfisTdiversification of our customer base
provides stability in different economic scenatioat may affect specific industries, customer segmer geographies.

Over the last five years we have continued to faausportfolio on higher margin, capital light pes&ional services businesses that have
high recurring revenue streams and strong free fbasigeneration. Aon drives its capital allocatidecision making process around return on
invested capital ("ROIC"). This focus on ROIC, m&asi on a cash-on-cash basis, led to a numbegmifisant portfolio changes:

« In April 2008, we completed the sale of our Cameld Insurance Company of America ("CICA") and Btgrinsurance Company
("Sterling") subsidiaries, which represented théamity of the operations of our former Insuranceddrwriting segment.

« In August 2009, we completed the sale of ourai@mg property and casualty insurance underwritipgrations that were in run-
off.

« In November 2008, we expanded our Risk Solutimosiuct offerings through the acquisition of Befdi Group Limited
("Benfield"), a leading independent reinsurancermiediary. Benfield products have been integratitd @ur existing reinsurance
products.

* In October 2010, we completed the acquisitioheivitt Associates, Inc. ("Hewitt"), one of the Wdis leading human resource
consulting and outsourcing companies. Hewitt ogsrgtobally together with Aon's existing consultargd outsourcing operatic
under the Aon Hewitt brand in our HR Solutions segim

Following the acquisitions of Benfield in 2008 addwitt in 2010, the Company has successfully rafmrstd the portfolio towards
higher-margin, capital light professional servibesinesses such that, in 2013, 66% of our congdelidatal revenues were in Risk Solutions
and 34% of our consolidated total revenues wekRrSolutions, resulting in higher-margin recurriegenue streams and stronger free cash
flow.




BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Risk Solutions

The Risk Solutions segment generated approximé&&dy of our consolidated total revenues in 20134, leas approximately 31,000
employees worldwide. We provide risk and insuraasewell as reinsurance, brokerage and relatetitesrin this segment.

Principal Products and Services

We operate in this segment through two similargeational product lines: retail brokerage and w@iasce brokerage. In addition, a key
component of this business is our risk consultenyises.

Retail brokerageencompasses our retail brokerage services, gffindducts, managing general underwriting, placeeerd captive
management services. The Americas' operationsgequioducts and services to clients in North, Gémind South America, the Caribbean,
and Bermuda. Our International operations in théddrKingdom; Europe, Middle East and Africa; ansigAPacific offer similar products and
services to clients throughout the rest of the @eorl

Our employees draw upon our global network of reses industry-leading data and analytics, andiafiged expertise to deliver value
to clients ranging from small and mid-sized bussessto multi-national corporations. We work witteots to identify their business needs and
help them assess and understand their total costkofOnce we have gained an understanding otliemts' risk management needs, we are
able to leverage our global network and implemerustomized risk approach with local Aon resourdé® outcome is a comprehensive risk
solution provided locally and personally. The Adire@t Promise® enables our colleagues around thieeglo describe, benchmark and price
the value we deliver to clients in a unified apptoebased on the ten most important criteria thacbents believe are critical to managing
their total cost of risk.

Knowledge and foresight, unparalleled benchmarking carrier knowledge are the qualities at thettefarur professional services
excellence. Delivering superior value to clientd differentiation from competitors will be driveinrbugh key Aon Broking initiatives, which
uniquely positions us to provide our clients anslirers with additional market insight as well aw peoduct offerings and facilities.

As a retail broker, we serve as an advisor to tdiend facilitate a wide spectrum of risk managdrselutions for property liability,
general liability, professional and directors' afiicers' liability, workers' compensation, variousalthcare products, as well as other
exposures. Our business is comprised of severaladpeareas structured around specific productiaddstry needs.

We deliver specialized advice and services in $odhstries as technology, financial services, agibess, aviation, construction, health
care and energy, among others. Through our gldbaita business, we provide products for professibliability, life, disability income and
personal lines for individuals, associations ansitesses around the world.

In addition, we are a major provider of risk cortisig services, including captive management, thavigde our clients with alternative
vehicles for managing risks that would be cost-finitilre or unavailable in traditional insurance fets.

Our health and benefits consulting practice adwitiests about structuring, funding, and adminisigemployee benefit programs, wh
attract, retain, and motivate employees. Benefitsalting and brokerage includes health and welfatecutive benefits, workforce strategies
and productivity, absence management, data-drieafth) compliance, employee commitment, and eledienefits services.

Reinsurance brokerageffers sophisticated advisory services in progdmsign and claim recoveries that enhance the eiskfr
characteristics of insurance policy portfolios, noye capital utilization, and evaluate and mitiged¢astrophic loss exposures worldwide. An
insurance or reinsurance company may seek reinsei@mother risk-transfer solutions on all or atipor of the risks it insures. To accomplish
this, our reinsurance brokerage services use dynfimaincial analysis and capital market alternaj\seich as transferring catastrophe risk
through securitization. Reinsurance brokerage @ffers capital management transaction and adviseryices.

We act as a broker or intermediary for all clagdfaginsurance. We place two main types of propanty casualty reinsurance: treaty
reinsurance, which involves the transfer of a plidfof risks, and facultative reinsurance, whicttadls the transfer of part or all of the
coverage provided by a single insurance policy.alge place specialty lines such as professionilitia, workers' compensation, accident, life
and health.

We also provide actuarial, enterprise risk managgnoatastrophe management and rating agency agasovices. We have developed



tools and models that help our clients understaadihancial implications of natural and man-made




catastrophes around the world. Aon Benfield Seiegrjprovides global capital management transaetimmhadvisory services for insurance and
reinsurance clients. In this capacity, Aon Benfi8kturities is recognized as a leader in:

» the structuring, underwriting and trading ofurencelinked securities
» the arrangement of financing for insurance andstg@nce companies, including Lloyd's syndicated

» providing advice on strategic and capital alterrestj including mergers and acquisitic

In addition, our Inpoint business is a leading jdlev of consulting services to the insurance amstrance industry, helping carriers
improve their performance to achieve growth anditadaility.

Compensation

Our Risk Solutions segment generates revenuesghroommissions, fees from clients, and compensétion insurance and reinsurar
companies for services we provide to them. Commisgites and fees vary depending upon severakf&aethich may include the amount of
premium, the type of insurance or reinsurance @meprovided, the particular services provided ¢bemt, insurer or reinsurer, and the
capacity in which we act. Payment terms are cagrsistith current industry practice.

We typically hold funds on behalf of clients asault of premiums received from clients and claitue to clients that are in transit to
from insurers. These funds held on behalf of ciere generally invested in interest-bearing premtiwst accounts and can fluctuate
significantly depending on when we collect cashfrour clients and when premiums are remitted tartkerance carriers. We earn interest on
these accounts; however, the principal is segrdgatd not available for general operating purposes.

Competition

The Risk Solutions business is highly competitind sery fragmented, and we compete with two otthaoal insurance brokers, Marst
McLennan Companies, Inc. and Willis Group Holdihgd., as well as numerous specialists, regionallacal firms in almost every area of «
business. We also compete with insurance and mginse companies that market and service theiramser products without the assistance of
brokers or agents; and with other businesses thabtfall into the categories above, including coencial and investment banks, accounting
firms, and consultants that provide risk-relatediises and products.

Seasonality

The Risk Solutions segment typically experiencgbéi revenues in the first and fourth calendar tgeusuof each year, primarily due to
the timing of policy renewals.

HR Solutions

The HR Solutions segment generated approximatety @dour consolidated total revenues in 2013 , l@a®lapproximately 30,000
employees worldwide with operations in the U.&n&da, the U.K., Europe, South Africa, Latin Amariand the Asia Pacific region.

Principal Products and Services

We provide products and services in this segmentgsily under the Aon Hewitt brand, which was fowria connection with the
acquisition of Hewitt.

The HR Solutions segment works to maximize thee/aluclients’ human resources spending, increagpdogee productivity, and
improve employee performance. Our approach addsestend towards more diverse workforces (demdmgcapnationalities, cultures and
work/lifestyle preferences) that require more cheiand flexibility among employers — so that thag provide benefit options suited to
individual needs.

We work with our clients to identify options in hamresource outsourcing and process improvemenéspiimary areas where
companies choose to use outsourcing services iadladefits administration, core human resourcegsses, workforce and talent
management.

HR Solutions offers a broad range of human capéalices in the following practice areas:



Retirementspecializes in providing global actuarial servjasfined contribution consulting, pension de-migkitax and ERISA
consulting, and pension administration.




Compensationfocuses on compensation advisory/counsel includiompensation planning design, executive rewasadegies, salary
survey and benchmarking, market share studiesaad frce effectiveness assessments, with spegattise in the financial services and
technology industries.

Strategic Human Capitatelivers advice to complex global organizationgalant, change and organizational effectivenesseis,
including talent strategy and acquisition, exeautm-boarding, performance management, leadershgsament and development,
communication strategy, workforce training and demanagement.

Investment consultingdvises public and private companies, other intsiits and trustees on developing and maintaimimgstment
programs across a broad range of plan types, imgutefined benefit plans, defined contributionn@aendowments and foundations.

Benefits Administratiorapplies our HR expertise primarily through defileshefit (pension), defined contribution (401(lghd health
and welfare administrative services. Our modelaegs the resource-intensive processes once redqaiegtininister benefit plans with more
efficient, effective, and less costly solutions.

Exchangesis building and operating health care exchangasttovide employers with a cost effective alteikreato traditional employe
and retiree healthcare, while helping individuakest the insurance that best meets their needs.

Human Resource Business Process Outsourcing ("HR'BBrovides market-leading solutions to manage engaalata; administer
benefits, payroll and other human resources presessid record and manage talent, workforce aret atire HR process transactions as well
as other complementary services such as absenageraent, flexible spending, dependent audit anticgsant advocacy.

Compensation

HR Solutions revenues are principally derived friees paid by clients for advice and services. Wlitamh, insurance companies pay us
commissions for placing individual and group insw® contracts, primarily life, health and accidemterage, and pay us fees for consulting
and other services that we provide to them. Paymeemts are consistent with current industry practic

Competition

Our HR Solutions business faces strong competitmm other worldwide and national consulting comipanincluding Marsh &
McLennan Companies, Inc. and Towers Watson & Cavalbas regional and local firms. Competitors ug independent consulting firms
and consulting organizations affiliated with acctig, information systems, technology, and finahsavices firms, large financial
institutions, and pure play outsourcers. Some oftompetitors provide administrative or consultgggvices as an adjunct to other primary
services. We believe that we are one of the leagiingiders of human capital services in the world.

Seasonality

Due to buying patterns and delivery of certain piaid in the markets we serve, revenues tend tagbest in the fourth quarter of each
fiscal year.

Licensing and Regulation

Our business activities are subject to licensingiirements and extensive regulation under the wsuntries in which we operate, as
well as U.S. federal and state laws. See the dismugontained in the "Risk Factors" section int Bdtem 1A of this report for information
regarding how actions by regulatory authoritiestmnges in legislation and regulation in the judsdns in which we operate may have an
adverse effect on our business.

Risk Solutions
General

Regulatory authorities in the states or countmeshich the operating subsidiaries of our Risk 8ohs segment conduct business may
require individual or company licensing to act asducers, brokers, agents, third party administsatmanaging general agents, reinsurance
intermediaries, or adjusters.



Under the laws of most states in the U.S. and fioosign countries, regulatory authorities havetreddy broad discretion with respect to
granting, renewing and revoking producers', brokard agents' licenses to transact business istaélhe or country. The operating terms may
vary according to the licensing requirements ofgilagticular state or country, which may requirepamother things that a firm operates in the
state or country through a local corporation. fewa states and




countries, licenses may be issued only to individesidents or locally owned business entitiesuaoh cases, our subsidiaries either have suc
licenses or have arrangements with residents andss entities licensed to act in the state or tgun

Our subsidiaries must comply with laws and regatagiof the jurisdictions in which they do businédsese laws and regulations are
enforced by federal and state agencies in the ByShe Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") in th&K., and by various regulatory agencies
and other supervisory authorities in other cousttigough the granting and revoking of licensedadusiness, licensing of agents, monitoring
of trade practices, policy form approval, limits @@mmission rates, and mandatory remunerationadisod requirements.

Insurance authorities in the U.S. and certain gimégdictions in which our subsidiaries operateluding the FCA in the U.K., also have
enacted laws and regulations governing the invastiofefunds, such as premiums and claims procdedd,in a fiduciary capacity for others.
These laws and regulations generally require theegation of these fiduciary funds and limit thpdyg of investments that may be made with
them.

Further, certain of our business activities witthia Risk Solutions segment are governed by otliedagory bodies, including investme
securities and futures licensing authorities. lnthS., we use Aon Benfield Securities, Inc., a.4e§istered broker-dealer and investment
advisor, member of the Financial Industry Regulataunthority ("FINRA") and Securities Investor Proten Corporation, and an indirect,
wholly owned subsidiary of Aon, for capital managertransaction and advisory services and othéwerdealer activities.

Reportable Regulatory Matt

Set forth below is a description of a matter repdpursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Rismluand Syria Human Rights Act
of 2012 and Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act. @orently with this annual report, we are filing atice pursuant to Section 13(r) of the
Exchange Act that the matter has been disclostidsrannual report.

On September 25, 2013, a person designated asaBpPesignated National pursuant to Executivel@mNo. 13224 purchased
travel insurance at a post office in the Uniteddtiam for travel within Europe from September 2®tober 1, 2013 through a program
administered by a subsidiary of the Company indh#&ed Kingdom. Through this program, individualayrpurchase travel insurance at a
United Kingdom post office with immediate coveragith the Company receiving information on the iridual purchasing insurance after
placement. The Company services this program byatipg a call center, providing account recondiiatservices and handling funds
transfers. The Company identified the individuabgmtential Specially Designated National afteritidividual’s trip was already underway at
the end of September 2013. On October 29, 2013dkeoffice transmitted funds to the Company,udoig funds received from the Specially
Designated National for his travel insurance. Tleen@any has frozen the funds associated with thei&8lfjeDesignated National, in
accordance with Company policy. The total coshefpolicy was £22.50, of which £2.61 would haverbeeome to the Company.

The subsidiary of the Company in the U.K. has ngoamg relationship or activity with the Speciallefignated National as a result of
this placement.

HR Solutions

Certain of the retirement-related consulting sewiprovided by Aon Hewitt and its subsidiaries affiliates are subject to the pension
and financial laws and regulations of applicablésjlictions, including oversight and/or supervisimnthe Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC") in the U.S., the FCA in the U.&nd regulators in other countries. Aon Hewittsdiaries that provide investment
advisory services are regulated by various U.Srfddauthorities including the SEC and FINRA, adl we authorities on the state level. In
addition, other services provided by Aon Hewitt @sdsubsidiaries and affiliates, such as trusézeices, and retirement and employee benefi
program administrative services, are subject imouarjurisdictions to pension, investment, and s&es and/or insurance laws and regulations
and/or supervision by national regulators.

Clientele

Our clients operate in many businesses and inésstriroughout the world. No one client accountedrfore than 1% of our consolidat
total revenues in 2013Additionally, we place insurance with many inswa carriers, none of which individually accourtedmore than 109
of the total premiums we placed on behalf of oientk in 2013 .




Segmentation of Activity by Type of Service and Gapaphic Area of Operation

Financial information relating to the types of sees provided by us and the geographic areas obperations is incorporated herein by
reference to Note 17 "Segment Information" of thetdd to Consolidated Financial Statements in Padtem 8 of this report.

Employees
At December 31, 2013 , we employed approximate|@®@& employees, of which approximately 23,000 wedrin the U.S.
Information Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains certain statements relatddttoe results, or states our intentions, beliefd expectations or predictions for the
future which are forward-looking statements as taanh is defined in the Private Securities LitigatReform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements relate to expectations or forecaststofd events. They use words such as "anticipdie|leve," "estimate," "expect," "forecast,”
"project,” "intend," "plan," "potential," and othsimilar terms, and future or conditional tensebedike "could,” "may,"” "might," "should,"
"will" and "would." You can also identify forwardybking statements by the fact that they do noteedtictly to historical or current facts. For
example, we may use forward-looking statements vaughessing topics such as: market and industrglitons, including competitive and
pricing trends; changes in our business strategidamethods of generating revenue; the developarehperformance of our services and
products; changes in the composition or level afreuenues; our cost structure and the outcomesifgaving or restructuring initiatives; the
outcome of contingencies; dividend policy; the estpd impact of acquisitions and dispositions; pemsibligations; cash flow and liquidity;
future actions by regulators; and the impact ohges in accounting rules. These forward-lookingest&nts are subject to certain risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfferdnaterially from either historical or anticigat results depending on a variety of factors.
Potential factors that could impact results include

» general economic conditions in different cowegrin which Aon does business around the worldudieg conditions in emerging
markets and in the European Union relating to ssigardebt and the continued viability of the Euro;

» changes in the competitive environm
» changes in global equity and fixed income markeds tould influence the return on invested as

« changes in the funding status of our variousngeff benefit pension plans and the impact of angeimsed pension funding resulting
from those changes;

e rating agency actions that could affect our abiiityoorrow funds
» fluctuations in exchange and interest rates thaldcmnpact revenue and exper

« the impact of class actions and individual laitgsincluding client class actions, securities slastions, derivative actions and ERISA
class actions;

« the impact of any investigations brought by reqagtauthorities in the U.S., U.K. and other colett

» the cost of resolution of other contingent lidigis and loss contingencies, including potentadilities arising from errors and
omission claims against us;

» failure to retain and attract qualified person

» the impact of, and potential challenges in conimg with, legislation and regulation in the juristions in which we operate,
particularly given the global scope of our businasd the possibility of conflicting regulatory regments across jurisdictions in
which we do business;

» the effect of the Redomestication on our operetiand financial results, including the reactibour clients, employees and other
constituents, the effect of compliance with apflleaJ.K. regulatory regimes or the failure to realsome or all of the anticipated

benefits;

» the extent to which we retain existing clients attdact new businesses and our ability to incergiand retain key employe
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» the extent to which we manage certain riskstecka connection with the various services, ingigdiduciary and advisory services,
among others, that we currently provide, or withyide in the future, to clients;

e our ability to implement restructuring initiaéig and other initiatives intended to yield cosirsgs; and the ability to achieve those cos
savings;

» the potential of a system or network breachisiugtion resulting in operational interruptioniomproper disclosure of client
information or personal data;

e any inquiries relating to compliance with theSUForeign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA") and naisanti-corruption laws and with
U.S. and non-U.S. trade sanctions regimes;

« failure to protect intellectual property rightsaltegations that we infringe on the intellectuadyerty rights of other
» the damage to our reputation among clients, madketsher third partie
» the actions taken by third parties that perforneatpof our business operations and client servarg

e our ability to grow and develop companies that wguire or new lines of busine

Any or all of our forwardeoking statements may turn out to be inaccuratd,there are no guarantees about our performamestattor
identified above are not exhaustive. Aon and itssgliaries operate in a dynamic business envirohimamhich new risks may emerge
frequently. Accordingly, readers should not plandue reliance on forward-looking statements, wisisbak only as of the dates on which they
are made. We are under no obligation (and exprestyaim any obligation) to update or alter angnfard-looking statement that we may
make from time to time, whether as a result of m&armation, future events or otherwise. Furthéoimation about factors that could
materially affect Aon, including our results of epons and financial condition, is contained ia tRisk Factors" section in Part I, ltem 1A of
this report.

Website Access to Reports and Other Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporidForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and akadments to those reports
are made available free of charge through our welgsitp://www.aon.com) as soon as practicable afieh material is electronically filed wi
or furnished to the SEC. Also posted on our welziéethe charters for our Audit, Compliance, Orgation and Compensation,
Governance/Nominating and Finance Committees, awvethance Guidelines and our Code of Business Gundlithin the time period
required by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchgg¥ SE"), we will post on our website any amendtrenor waiver of the Code of
Business Conduct applicable to any executive afficedirector. The information provided on our wigdss not part of this report and is
therefore not incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors.
The risk factors set forth below reflect certagks associated with existing and potential linesusfiness and contain "forward-looking
statements"” as discussed in the "Business" SeatiBart |, Item 1 of this report. Readers shouldsider them in addition to the other

information contained in this report as our businéisancial condition or results of operationsiddoe adversely affected if any of these risks
were to actually occur.

The following are certain risks related to our esises specifically and the industries in whicloperate generally that could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations and cause our actual results terdifaterially from those stated in the forward
looking statements in this document and elsewfidrese risks are not presented in order of impoet@ngrobability of occurrence.

Risks Relating to the Company Generally
Competitive Risks

An overall decline in economic activity could havmaterial adverse effect on the financial conditémd results of operations of our
businesses.

The demand for property and casualty insurancergineises as the overall level of economic atyivincreases and generally falls as
such activity decreases, affecting both the comornissand fees generated by our Risk Solutions lkasin






The economic activity that impacts property andiadty insurance is most closely correlated with kElyyment levels, corporate revenue and
asset values. Downward fluctuations in the yeargear insurance premium charged by insurers teept@gainst the same risk, referred to in
the industry as softening of the insurance madai|d adversely affect our Risk Solutions busiresa significant portion of the earnings are
determined as a percentage of premium chargedrtolieats. A growing number of insolvencies asstaravith an economic downturn,
especially insolvencies in the insurance industoyld adversely affect our brokerage business tirdhe loss of clients, by hampering our
ability to place insurance and reinsurance busioeby exposing us to errors and omissions clarefeyred to here as E&O claims.

The results of our HR Solutions business are gépextiected by the level of business activity afrelients, which in turn is affected by
the level of economic activity in the industrieslanarkets these clients serve. Economic downturssie markets may cause reductions in
technology and discretionary spending by our cliewhich may result in reductions in the growtmetv business as well as reductions in
existing business. If our clients become finangitdkss stable, enter bankruptcy or liquidate tbperations, our revenues and/or collectibilit
receivables could be adversely affected. In additmr revenues from many of our outsourcing casrdepend upon the number of our
clients' employees or the number of participantsuinclients' employee benefit plans and coulddesesely affected by layoffs. We may also
experience decreased demand for our servicesessith of postponed or terminated outsourcing of &iumesources functions or reductions in
the size of our clients' workforce. Reduced denfandur services could increase price competit®ome portion of our services may be
considered by our clients to be more discretiomaryature and thus, demand for these services maypacted by reductions in economic
activity.

We face significant competitive pressures in edauobusinesses.

We believe that competition in our Risk Solutioegment is based on service, product features,,eemission structure, financial
strength and ability to access certain insuranaketsaand name recognition. In particular, we cammath a large number of national,
regional and local insurance companies and othanial services providers and brokers.

Our HR Solutions segment competes with a large rurobindependent firms and consulting organizatiaffiliated with accounting,
information systems, technology and financial se¥sifirms around the world. Many of our competitorghis area are expanding the services
they offer or reducing prices in an attempt to gadditional business. Additionally, some compesitoave established, and are likely to
continue to establish, cooperative relationshipsragrthemselves or with third parties to increasdr thbility to address client needs.

Our competitors may have greater financial, tecddraad marketing resources, larger customer bgseater name recognition, stronger
presence in certain geographies and more estathlishationships with their customers and suppliean we have. In addition, new
competitors, alliances among competitors or mergecompetitors could emerge and gain significaatket share, and some of our
competitors may have or may develop a lower coststre, adopt more aggressive pricing policieproride services that gain greater market
acceptance than the services that we offer or dpvehrge and well-capitalized competitors may Ible o respond to the need for
technological changes and innovate faster, or phiee services more aggressively. They may alsopsde for skilled professionals, finance
acquisitions, fund internal growth and competenfiarket share more effectively than we do. To redforincreased competition and pricing
pressure, we may have to lower the cost of ourices\or decrease the level of service providedi¢mts, which could have an adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations

Financial Risks
We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchaatgs that could negatively impact our financiasults and cash flows.

We face exposure to adverse movements in exchateg of currencies other than our functional cuyethe U.S. Dollar, as a
significant portion of our business is located @e&f the United States. These exposures may ehavey time, and they could have a matt
adverse impact on our financial results and cashdl Our five largest non-U.S. Dollar exposurestheeBritish Pound, Euro, Australian
Dollar, Canadian Dollar and Indian Rupee; howewer also have exposures to emerging market curremdiech can have significant currer
volatility. These currency exchange risks are preseboth the translation of the financial resutour global subsidiaries into U.S. Dollars
our consolidated financial statements, as welhasé of our operations that receive revenue and expenses other than in their respective
local currencies which can reduce the reducedtalufity of our operations based on the directioa tespective currencies’ exchange rates
move. A decrease in the value of certain currenekegive to other currencies could place us airapetitive disadvantage compared to our
competitors that benefit to a greater degree frapegific exchange rate move and can, as a re&lilier services at a lower cost or receive
greater revenues from such a transaction. Althaugluse various derivative financial instrumenthétp protect against adverse foreign
exchange rate fluctuations, we cannot eliminaté sis&s, and changes in exchange rates may adyerf$ett our results.




Changes in interest rates and deterioration of @rgdality could reduce the value of our cash bakesand investment portfolios and
adversely affect our financial condition or results

Operating funds available for corporate use andg$ureld on behalf of clients and insurers were $ili@n and $3.8 billion, respectivel
at December 31, 2013. These funds are reportedsh @nd cash equivalents, Short-term investmemtisk-@uciary assets. We also carry an
investment portfolio of other long-term investmemts of December 31, 2013, these long-term investsiead a carrying value of $132
million. Changes in interest rates and counterpenegit quality, including default, could reduce thalue of these funds and investments,
thereby adversely affecting our financial conditamresults. For example, changes in interest ditestly affect our income from cash
balances and short-term investments. Similarlyeggreconomic conditions, stock market conditidimsncial stability of the investees and
other factors beyond our control affect the valfiew long-term investments. Our cash holdingsluding cash held in our fiduciary capacity,
are subject to the credit, liquidity and other sis&ced by our financial institution counterparties

While we regularly measure, monitor and mitigate @xposure to these risks, a deterioration in thditor liquidity of any of these
counterparties, particularly if sudden or seveeogyd in turn adversely affect us. We also assesporifolio for other-than-temporary
impairments. For investments in which the fair 'eaisi less than the carrying value and the impaitrsetieemed to be other-than-temporary,
we recognize a loss in the Consolidated Statenfdntome.

Higher interest rates could result in a higher alistt rate used by investors to value our futuré ¢asvs thereby resulting in a lower
valuation of the Company.

Our pension obligations could adversely affect slareholders' equity, net income, cash flow andididy.

To the extent that the pension obligations assediatith our major plans continue to exceed thevalue of the assets supporting those
obligations, our financial position and resultsopkrations may be adversely affected. In certaams/there have been declines in interest rate:
As a result of lower interest rates and investmenitrns, the present value of plan liabilities comicrease faster than the value of plan assets,
resulting in higher unfunded positions in sevefadur major pension plans.

We currently plan to contribute approximately $38ilion to our major pension plans in 2014, althbwge may elect to contribute mo
Total cash contributions to these pension plar)i8 were $523 million, which was a decrease ob$tilion compared to 2012.

The significance of our worldwide pension plans ngethat our pension contributions and expensearparatively sensitive to various
market and demographic factors. These factors dieckguity and bond market returns, the assumerksitetes we use to discount our pen
liabilities, foreign exchange rates, rates of itifla, mortality assumptions, potential regulatongl degal changes and counterparty exposure
from various investments and derivative contraotduding annuities. Variations in any of thesetéas could cause significant changes to our
financial position and results of operations froearto year.

The periodic revision of pension assumptions cateri@ly change the present value of expected &uhemefits, and therefore the fundec
status of the plans and resulting net periodic jpansxpense. Changes in our pension benefit oibigatand the related net periodic pension
expense or credits may occur in the future dueyovariance of actual results from our assumptiéssa result, there can be no assurance the
we will not experience future changes in the funstadus of our plans, shareholders' equity, netrire; cash flow and liquidity or that we will
not be required to make additional cash contrilmgtion the future beyond those that have been egima

We have debt outstanding that could adversely dfiecfinancial flexibility.

As of December 31, 2013, we had total consolidd#gat outstanding of approximately $4.4 billion. Teeel of debt outstanding each
period could adversely affect our financial fleitlygi We also bear risk at the time debt matures.

We have two primary committed credit facilities standing, one with U.S. banks, and the other wittopean banks. The U.S. facility
totals $400 million and matures in March 2017. Bueo facility totals €650 million ($890 million bed on exchange rates at December 31,
2013) and matures in October 2015. Both the U@litiaand the Euro facility are intended as a bagkagainst commercial paper and for our
general working capital needs. At December 31, 2@&3had no borrowings under either of these cfeditities. Both facilities require certain
representations and warranties to be made befaveimy and both have similar financial covenantsDatember 31, 2013, we could make all
representations and warranties and were in congdiaith all financial covenants.

A substantial portion of our outstanding debt, irlhg certain intercompany debt obligations, corgdinancial and other covenants. The
terms of these covenants may limit our ability bdain, or increase the costs of obtaining, additidimancing to fund working capital, capital
expenditures, additional acquisitions or genergbarate requirements. This in turn
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may have the impact of reducing our flexibilityrespond to changing business and economic congljtibareby placing us at a relative
disadvantage compared to competitors that haveridebtedness (or fewer or less onerous covenaatei@mted with such indebtedness) and
making us more vulnerable to general adverse ecinama industry conditions.

Our ability to make interest and principal paymetdgefinance our debt obligations and to funchpkd capital expenditures will depend
on our ability to generate cash from operationss,Tlo a certain extent, is subject to general enun, financial, competitive, legislative,
regulatory and other factors that are beyond oatrob It will also reduce the availability to ut®at cash for other purposes, including working
capital, dividends to shareholders, share repusshasquisitions, capital expenditures and gemerglorate purposes.

If we cannot service our indebtedness, we may hatake actions such as selling assets, seekingamdd equity or reducing or delayi
capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, ibmesits and alliances, any of which could impeddrtiementation of our business strategy o
prevent us from entering into transactions thatldatherwise benefit our business. Additionally, may not be able to effect such actions, if
necessary, on commercially reasonable terms, alt. a%e may not be able to refinance any of ouebtddness on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all.

A decline in the credit ratings of our senior dabtd commercial paper may adversely affect our being costs, access to capital, and
financial flexibility.

A downgrade in the credit ratings of our seniortdsid commercial paper could increase our borrowdgis, reduce or eliminate our
access to capital, and reduce our financial fléiggbiOur senior debt ratings at December 31, 2@&8 A- with a stable outlook (Standard &
Poor's), BBB+ with a stable outlook (Fitch, InchdaBaa2 with a positive outlook (Moody's Investensces). Our commercial paper ratings
were A-2 (S&P), F-2 (Fitch) and P-2 (Moody's). Dhgi2013, Standard & Poor's upgraded their ratinguofsenior long-term debt from BBB+
to A-. Additionally, Moody's Investor Services clyga their outlook from stable to positive.

Our credit ratings may not reflect the potentiabaunt of all risks related to structure and othetdes on any trading market for, or trading
value of, our securities. In addition, real or eipited changes in our credit ratings, which caaglilt from any number of factors (including
the modification by a credit rating agency of thiéetia or methodology it applies to particularnisss, will generally affect any trading market
for, or trading value of, our securities.

The economic and political conditions of the coigstiand regions in which we operate could havedresse impact on our business,
financial condition, operating results, liquiditynd prospects for growitt

Our operations in countries undergoing politicadmfpe or economic downturns are subject to uncéytaimd risks that could materially
adversely affect our business. These risks inclpddicularly in emerging markets, the possibilitg would be subject to undeveloped or
evolving legal systems, unstable governments aodauies, and potential governmental actions affgdtie flow of goods, services and
currency. In addition, our European operations @é@xiperience detrimental uncertainty if the deli€worsens or financial market volatility
there increases, and the region’s commerce anddssslevels become impacted by questions surrogimgiriain countries’ ability to satisfy
their debt obligations, the future of the Eurozand the stability of economic conditions in Euremel the value of the Euro generally.

Seemingly nationally or regionally localized paldl and economic changes could have a wider, negiatipact on our businesses that
expands beyond our operations in the immediatéécaed jurisdiction. The continued concerns regagdhe ability of certain European
countries to service their outstanding debt havergrise to instability in the global credit andéicial markets. This instability has in turn led
to questions regarding the future viability of thero as the common currency for the area as vasoeisarios could result in some countries
choosing to return to their former local currendrean effort to regain control over their domes&ttonomies and monetary policies. This
uncertainty has had a dampening effect on growtarial in Europe, and if it deteriorates, may haveaterial negative impact on our
European business as well as that of our clientghEr, any development that has the effect of ldéwvg or replacing the Euro could
meaningfully reduce the value of our assets orifaaifity denominated in that currency, potentiadgsult in charges to our statement of
operations and reduce the usefulness of liquidigrmatives denominated in that currency such asowo Credit Facility. We also deposit
some of our cash, including cash held in a fidyc@pacity, with certain European financial indtans. While we continuously monitor and
manage exposures associated with those deposit® &xtent the uncertainty surrounding econonaibity in Europe and the future viability
of the Euro currency suddenly and adversely impihatse financial institutions, some or all of thessh deposits could be at risk.
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The expected benefits of our Redomestication mialyenealized or may be offset in whole or in gayrtrelated costs.

There can be no assurance that all of the goalsroRedomestication will be achievable, particylas the achievement of the benefits
are, in many important respects, subject to fadtmaswe do not control. These factors would inelsdch things as the reactions of third pa
with whom we enter into contracts and do businesisthe reactions of investors, analysts, and Und.d.S. taxing authorities.

Our effective tax rates and the benefits anticipftem our Redomestication are also subject toreetyaof other factors, many of which
are beyond our ability to control, such as chanigeise rate of economic growth in the U.K. and th&. and other countries, the financial
performance of our business in various jurisdicijarurrency exchange rate fluctuations (especaaligetween the British pound and the U.S.
dollar), and significant changes in trade, monetarfiscal policies of the U.K. or the U.S., inclndg changes in interest rates. The impact of
these factors, individually and in the aggregatelifficult to predict, in part because the occooe of the events or circumstances described it
such factors may be (and, in fact, often seem Yartberrelated, and the impact to us of the ocaweeof any one of these events or
circumstances could be compounded or, alternativetiuced, offset, or more than offset, by the oerice of one or more of the other events
or circumstances described in such factors.

Our Redomestication resulted in an increase in safimer ongoing expenses, including those reladembtmplying with U.K. corporate
and tax laws, and holding board meetings in the. Uh€se additional expenses could serve to reducHset the benefits realized from our
Redomestication.

On September 4, 2013, we received from the IntdReakenue Service (“IRS”) an executed Closing Agreinpursuant to which the
Company and the IRS agreed that the merger (pursmavhich the Redomestication occurred) did neoiseaAon plc to be treated as a U.S.
domestic corporation for federal tax purposes. agieement substantially reduces the risk thabstiaken to date might cause Aon plc to be
treated as a U.S. domestic corporation for fedasapurposes under the current tax statute andaigrs. However, the United States
Congress, the IRS, the United Kingdom Parliameri . tax authorities may enact new statutory guiatory provisions that could advers
affect our status as a non-U.S. corporation, oemilse adversely affect our anticipated globalgasition. Retroactive statutory or regulatory
actions have occurred in the past, and there camo ldssurance that any such provisions, if enamt@domulgated, would not have retroactive
application to us, the Redomestication or any syiset actions. Our net income and cash flow woelddduced if we were to be subject to
U.S. corporate income tax as a domestic corporalioaddition, any future amendments to the curiecame tax treaties between the United
Kingdom and other jurisdictions (including the WdtStates), or any new statutory or regulatory isions that might limit our ability to take
advantage of any such treaties, could subject ircteased taxation.

HM. Revenue and Customs, or HMRC, may disagreeawititonclusions on the U.K. tax treatment of oad&mnestication, or relevant
U.K. legislation may be subject to change.

We have obtained a ruling from HMRC that, followiogr Redomestication, the "temporary period exeomptirom the U.K.'s controlle
foreign company rules will apply such that, subjectertain conditions and limitations based onfaats and circumstances, we will not be
subject to tax on the profits of any controlled @amy that is resident in a foreign jurisdiction anthe controlled foreign company ("CFC")
rules until 24 months after the end of the accagngieriod in which the Redomestication occurretijestt to any changes of legislation. On
March 29, 2012, the U.K. Government published timafce (No 4) Bill, which proposed major reformshie CFC rules for accounting peric
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The proptsetitional rules would preserve the temporamnjogeexemption for exempt periods
beginning before the new rules come into force.l&WHMRC cannot provide any assurance in respettteofpplication of legislation that has
not been enacted, we are of the view based ondher@ment's proposals and published draft legisiatiat the new CFC rules should not
have a material adverse effect on our tax treatinethie U.K. if enacted in their current form. Howee, to the extent that the Finance (No
4) Bill is enacted in a form different to that cemtly proposed, this may result in additional cogpion tax liabilities becoming payable
following implementation of the revised legislation

We have also obtained a ruling from HMRC in respé¢he stamp duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax ("BIpRonsequences of the
Redomestication and as a result believe that we katisfied all stamp duty and SDRT payment amgfibbligations in connection with the
issuance of Class A Ordinary Shares issued in aimmewith our Redomestication.

Further, if HMRC disagrees with our view of anyuss in respect of which no ruling has been obtaiiteday take the position that
material U.K. corporation tax or SDRT liabilities @amounts on account thereof are payable by anyporere of these companies as a resi
our Redomestication, in which case we expect tleatwawuld contest such assessment. To contest ssebsasent, we may be required to remit
cash or provide security of the amount in dispatesuch lesser amount as permitted under U.K. laaveecceptable to HMRC, to prevent
HMRC from seeking enforcement actions pending fepude of such assessment. If we were unsucceadligputing the assessment, the
implications could be materially adverse to usti®extent that HMRC has not provided (and we hetgequested) a ruling on the U.K. tax
aspects of the Redomestication,
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there can be no assurance that HMRC will agree auithinterpretation of the U.K. tax aspects of Bedomestication or any related matters
associated therewith.

Our global effective tax rate is subject to a vayrief different factors, which could create voldiiin that rate, expose us to greater than
anticipated tax liabilities and cause us to adjpsviously recognized tax assets and liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.K., U.8.rmany other jurisdictions. As a result, our globfi¢ctive tax rate from period to
period can be affected by many factors, includingnges in tax legislation, our global mix of eagsinthe tax characteristics of our income,
transfer pricing of revenues and costs, acquissteomd dispositions and the portion of the incomeasf-U.S. subsidiaries that we expect to
remit to the U.S. Significant judgment is requiredietermining our worldwide provision for inconaxes, and our determination of our tax
liability is always subject to review by applicaltéex authorities.

We believe that our Redomestication and relatats@retions should significantly improve our abililymaintain a competitive global tax
rate because the U.K. has implemented a divideathption system that generally does not subjectWéh-earnings to U.K. tax when such
earnings are repatriated to the U.K. in the formdiefdends from non-U.K. subsidiaries. This shoalldw us to optimize our capital allocation
and deploy efficient fiscal structures. However,aa@not provide any assurances as to what ouatexwill be in any period because of, am
other things, uncertainty regarding the natureexidnt of our business activities in any particjmisdiction in the future and the tax laws of
such jurisdictions, as well as changes in U.S.ahdr tax laws, treaties and regulations. Our &cfiedal tax rate may vary from our
expectation and that variance may be material. haidilly, the tax laws of the U.K. and other juiitdtbns could change in the future, and sucl
changes could cause a material change in our tax ra

We also could be subject to future audits condubtefbreign and domestic tax authorities, and #ssiution of such audits could impact
our tax rate in future periods, as would any resifasstion or other matter (such as changes iniegiple accounting rules) that increases the
amounts we have provided for income taxes in ounsclidated financial statements. There can be sorance that we would be successful in
attempting to mitigate the adverse impacts resgfiiom any changes in law, audits and other mat€us inability to mitigate the negative
consequences of any changes in the law, auditsthied matters could cause our global tax ratedresse, our use of cash to increase and ou
financial condition and results of operations tffesu

Changes in our accounting estimates and assumptiounlsl negatively affect our financial position amedults of operations.

We prepare our consolidated financial statemendé&aordance with U.S. GAAP. These accounting pplesirequire us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, and the discieiicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of our financial statements. We are also redud make certain judgments that affect the teplommounts of revenues and expenses
during each reporting period. We periodically eadduour estimates and assumptions including, buimited to, those relating to
restructuring, pensions, recoverability of assettuiding customer receivables, contingencies, shased payments and income taxes. We ba
our estimates on historical experience and vardsssmptions that we believe to be reasonable lmasspecific circumstances. Actual results
could differ from these estimates, which could matly affect the Consolidated Statements of Inco@emprehensive Income, Financial
Position, Shareholders' Equity and Cash Flows. Gésin accounting standards could also have arrsalirmpact on our future Consolidated
Financial Statements.

We may be required to record goodwill or other ldivgd asset impairment charges, which could resu#t significant charge to
earnings.

Under generally accepted accounting principlesreveew our long-lived assets for impairment wheergg or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoveraBt@mdwill is assessed for impairment at least aliymugactors that may be considered in
assessing whether goodwill or intangible assets moaype recoverable include a decline in our shae or market capitalization, reduced
estimates of future cash flows and slower growtag@ our industry. There can be no assurancégdivawill or other long-lived asset
impairment charges will not be required in the fatwhich could materially impact our consolidafeéncial statements.

We are a holding company and, therefore, may natidbe to receive dividends or other payments irdedeamounts from our
subsidiaries.

Our principal assets are the shares of capitaksiod indebtedness of our subsidiaries. We relgividends, interest and other payments
from these subsidiaries to meet our obligationgfofing principal and interest on outstanding addbigation, paying dividends to
shareholders, repurchasing ordinary shares ané@eexpenses. Certain of our subsidiaries arestio regulatory requirements of the
jurisdictions in which they operate or other redions that may limit the amour
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that these subsidiaries can pay in dividends argthyments to us. No assurance can be givenhinagt will not be further changes in law,
regulatory actions or other circumstances thatdcoestrict the ability of our subsidiaries to payidends. In addition, due to differences in tax
rates, repatriation of funds from certain countirgs the U.K. through the U.S. could have unfabteaax ramifications for us. Furthermore,
assurance can be given that our subsidiaries maplbdo make timely payments to us in order fotoumeet our obligations.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

We are subject to E&O claims against us as webthgr contingencies and legal proceedings, sonvehadh, if determined unfavorably
to us, could have a material adverse effect orfittancial condition or results of operations of adiness line or the Company as a whole.

We assist our clients with various matters, inatgdplacing of insurance and reinsurance coveradéandling related claims, consulti
on various human resources matters, providing invest consulting and asset management servicegusdurcing various human resources
functions. E&O claims against us may allege oueptil liability for damages arising from thesevéegs. E&O claims could include, for
example, the failure of our employees or sub ageviisther negligently or intentionally, to placevetage correctly or notify carriers of claims
on behalf of clients or to provide insurance casrigith complete and accurate information relatmghe risks being insured, the failure to give
error-free advice in our consulting business orfdilere to correctly execute transactions in thenan resources outsourcing business. It is nc
always possible to prevent and detect errors aridsions, and the precautions we take may not leetdfe in all cases. In addition, we are
subject to other types of claims, litigation andgaedings in the ordinary course of business, whlichg with E&O claims, may seek damag
including punitive damages, in amounts that coifildwarded, have a material adverse impact on ttragany's financial position, earnings,
and cash flows. In addition to potential liabilfr monetary damages, such claims or outcomes dwulth our reputation or divert
management resources away from operating our lassine

We have historically purchased, and intend to comtito purchase, insurance to cover E&O claimsatingr insurance to provide
protection against certain losses that arise ih soatters. However, we have exhausted or matedaipfeted our coverage under some of the
policies that protect us for certain years andseguently, are self-insured or materially self-neslifor some historical claims. Accruals for
these exposures, and related insurance receivaiiies, applicable, have been provided to the exterttiosses are deemed probable and are
reasonably estimable. These accruals and reces/atBeadjusted from time to time as developmentsawg and may also be adversely
affected by disputes we may have with our insuoees coverage. Amounts related to settlement pimvésare recorded in Other general
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of IncDiseussion of some of these claims, lawsuits, andgedings are contained in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

The ultimate outcome of these claims, lawsuits gnodeedings cannot be ascertained, and liabiliiégsdeterminate amounts may be
imposed on us. It is possible that future StatemehFinancial Position, results of operationsastcflows for any particular quarterly or
annual period could be materially affected by afavorable resolution of these matters.

In addition, we provide a variety of guarantees iad@mnifications to our customers and others. agimum potential amount of futt
payments represents the notional amounts that ¢tmddme payable under the guarantees and indeatitfis if there were a total default by
the guaranteed parties, without consideration skjibe recoveries under recourse provisions orotfehods. Any anticipated amounts that
are deemed to be probable and reasonably estirmablacluded in our consolidated financial statetsiefihese amounts may bear no
relationship to the expected future payments, yf &or these guarantees and indemnifications.

Our businesses are subject to extensive governiregtalation, which could reduce our profitabilitymit our growth, or increase
competition.

Our businesses are subject to extensive legalemdatory oversight throughout the world, includthg U.K. Companies Act and the
rules and regulations promulgated by the FCA, tif& Securities laws and the rules and regulatioosiplgated by the SEC, and a variety of
other laws, rules and regulations addressing, artmey things, licensing, data privacy and protettivage-and-hour standards, employment
and labor relations, anti-competition, anti-coriapf currency, reserves and the amount of locadstment with respect to our operations in
certain countries. This legal and regulatory owgrscould reduce our profitability or limit our gath by increasing the costs of legal and
regulatory compliance, by limiting or restrictinget products or services we sell, the markets wer ettte methods by which we sell our
products and services, or the prices we can ctargrir services, and the form of compensation areaccept from our clients, carriers and
third parties, or by subjecting our businessesi¢éopossibility of legal and regulatory actions ooqeedings.

The global nature of our operations increases dneptexity and cost of compliance with laws and tagans, including training and
employee expenses, adding to our cost of doingibasi In addition, many of these laws and reguiatinay have differing or conflicting legal
standards across jurisdictions, increasing furtiercomplexity and cost of compliance. In

14




emerging markets and other jurisdictions with lésgeloped legal systems, local laws and regulatioeng not be established with sufficiently
clear and reliable guidance to provide us adecasgarance that we are operating our businessamal@mnt manner with all required licenses
or that our rights are otherwise protected.

Certain laws and regulations, such as the Fore@nupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and the Foreign Acnbliax Compliance provisions of
the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment ActATRCA”) in the U.S. and the Bribery Act of 2010 (‘K. Bribery Act”) in the U.K., impact
our operations outside of the legislating countnirbposing requirements for the conduct of oversgeesations, and in a number of cases,
requiring compliance by foreign subsidiaries. Faaraple, in 2011, we entered into settlement agreésneith the U.S. Department of Justice
("DOJ") and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Cosiong("SEC") relating to inadequate controls fotgmial FCPA violations. Those
settlement agreements imposed monetary fines anagireement with the DOJ required that we brintpécattention of the DOJ any criminal
conduct by, or criminal investigations of, Aon oyaof its senior managerial employees as well gsagiministrative proceeding or civil action
brought by any governmental authority that allefyasd or corruption by Aon.

We expect that FACTA will likely result in increaseompliance costs. FATCA will require certain off subsidiaries, affiliates and otl
entities to obtain valid FATCA documentation fromypes prior to remitting certain payments to suayeps. In the event we do not obtain
valid FATCA documents, we may be obliged to witlthalportion of such payments. This obligation igred with our customers and clients
who may fail to comply, in whole or in part. In $ucircumstances, we may incur FATCA compliancesostluding withholding taxes,
interest and penalties. In addition, regulatoryiatives and changes in the regulations and guelpnemulgated under FATCA may increase
our costs of operations, and could adversely affecmarket for our services as intermediariesctvibbuld adversely affect our operations,
results of operations and financial condition.

In addition to the complexity of the laws and regidns themselves, the development of new lawsegdations, changes in application
or interpretation of laws and regulations and antimued operational changes and development mojarisdictions and new service
offerings also increases our legal and regulatorgiance complexity as well as the type of govezntal oversight to which we may be
subject. These changes in laws and regulationslcoahdate significant and costly changes to thewsimplement our services and soluti
or could impose additional licensure requirementsasts to our operations and services. Furthernasreve enter new jurisdictions or lines of
businesses and other developments in our serviegesiay become subject to additional types of lamgs@olicies and governmental oversight
and supervision such as those applicable to tlaadilal lending or other service institutions.

In all jurisdictions, the applicable laws and reggidns are subject to amendment or interpretatjoregulatory authorities. Generally,
such authorities are vested with relatively brosgrtion to grant, renew and revoke licenses gpiavals and to implement regulations.
Accordingly, we may have a license revoked, be lentmbobtain new licenses and be precluded or teaniy suspended from carrying on or
developing some or all of our activities or othesavfined or penalized in a given jurisdiction. Ns@rances can be given that our business ca
further develop or continue to be conducted in gingn jurisdiction as it has been conducted inphst.

In addition, new regulatory or industry developnseculd create an increase in competition thatccadlersely affect us. These
developments include:

» the selling of insurance by insurance companie=ctir to insured:

» changes in our business compensation model asikh oésegulatory actions or chang

* the establishment of programs in which stateaspoed entities provide property insurance in ¢aiphe prone areas or other
alternative types of coverage;

» changes in regulations relating to health antfane plans, defined contribution and defined b&méns, and investment consulting
and asset management;

e additional regulations promulgated by the FCA ia thK., or other regulatory bodies in jurisdictidnsvhich we operate;

« additional requirements respecting data privany data usage in jurisdictions in which we opettadt may increase our costs of
compliance and potentially reduce the manner irctvlliata can be used by us to develop or furthepmguct offerings.

Changes in the regulatory scheme, or even chandesa existing regulations are interpreted, cowdehan adverse impact on our results
of operations by limiting revenue streams or insieg costs of compliance. Likewise, increased guwent involvement in the insurance or
reinsurance markets could curtail or replace oyodpinities and negatively affect our results oigtions and financial condition.
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With respect to our Risk Solutions segment, ouir@ss’ regulatory oversight generally also inclutheslicensing of insurance brokers
and agents, managing general agency or managiregalemderwriting operations and third party adstiators and the regulation of the
handling and investment of client funds held inda¢iary capacity. Our continuing ability to proeithsurance brokering and third party
administration in the jurisdictions in which we cemtly operate depends on our compliance with hesrand regulations promulgated from
time to time by the regulatory authorities in eaflhese jurisdictions. Also, we can be affectetiriectly by the governmental regulation and
supervision of insurance companies. For instarfieee iare providing or managing general underwrisiegvices for an insurer, we may have to
contend with regulations affecting our client. Frert, regulation affecting the insurance companigls whom our brokers place business can
affect how we conduct those operations.

Services provided in our HR Solutions segment @ the subject of ever-evolving government regoitateither because the services
provide to our clients are regulated directly ocdagse aspects of the client's business are redutatgeby indirectly impacting the manner in
which we provide services to those clients. Chamgg®vernment regulations in the United Statesatiifig the value, use or delivery of
benefits and human resources programs, includinggds in regulations relating to health and welfsueh as medical) plans, defined
contribution (such as 401(k)) plans, defined beristich as pension) plans or payroll delivery, radyersely affect the demand for, or
profitability of, our services. Recently, we hawes regulatory initiatives contribute to compargiker discontinuing their defined benefit
programs or demphasizing the importance such programs playdarotterall mix of their benefit programs with a tieloward increased use
defined contribution plans. If organizations distbowme or de-emphasize defined benefit plans mqrigllyathan we anticipate, the results of our
business could be adversely affected.

Recently, our HR Solutions business has made ggnifinvestments in health care exchanges and ptbduct development to assist
clients in de-risking their health benefits and ratg them towards a defined contribution modelwgsdefined benefit model. Depending on
future changes to health legislation, these investmimay not yield returns. In addition, if we ar@ble to adapt our services to changes
resulting from these laws and any subsequent régunga our ability to grow our business or to pae/effective services, particularly in the HR
Solutions segment, could be negatively impactedhEwmore, if our clients reduce the role or extaremployer-sponsored health care in
response to the newly enacted legislation, ourtestioperations could be adversely impacted.

If we violate the laws and regulation to which we aubject, we could be subject to fines, penatiresriminal sanctions and could
prohibited from conducting business in one or mowantries. There can be no assurance that our gegsp contractors or agents will
violate these laws and regulations, causing anradweffect on our operations and condition.

Failure to protect our intellectual property righter allegations that we have infringed on the liegtual property rights of others, could
harm our reputation, ability to compete effectivehd financial condition.

To protect our intellectual property rights, weyreh a combination of trademark laws, copyrightdapatent laws, trade secret
protection, confidentiality agreements and othetti@axtual arrangements with our affiliates, cliestsategic partners and others. In addition,
the protective steps that we take may be inadedqaateter misappropriation of our proprietary imf@ation. We may be unable to detect the
unauthorized use of, or take appropriate stepsaftree, our intellectual property rights. Furtheffective trademark, copyright, patent and ti
secret protection may not be available in everyntguin which we offer our services or competitaray develop products similar to our
products that do not conflict with our related Irgetual property rights. Failure to protect outeitectual property adequately could harm our
reputation and affect our ability to compete effesly.

In addition, to protect or enforce our intellectpabperty rights, we may initiate litigation agditisird parties, such as infringement suits
or interference proceedings. Third parties magrasstellectual property rights claims againstwhjch may be costly to defend, could require
the payment of damages and could limit our abitityse or offer certain technologies, productstbenintellectual property. Any intellectual
property claims, with or without merit, could bepexsive, take significant time and divert managetaeattention from other business
concerns. Successful challenges against us coglireeus to modify or discontinue our use of tedbgg or business processes where such u:
is found to infringe or violate the rights of oteeor require us to purchase licenses from thirtlgs any of which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and operating results

As a result of increased shareholder approval regaients, we have less flexibility as an Englishlipdionited company with respect to
certain aspects of capital management.

English law imposes some restrictions on certaipa@te actions by which previously, as a Delavearporation, we were not
constrained. For example, English law provides ¢hiadard of directors may only allot shares with phior authorization of shareholders, such
authorization being up to the aggregate nominaluarnof shares and for a maximum period of five geaach as specified in the articles of
association or relevant shareholder resolutions @hthorization would

16




need to be renewed by our shareholders upon iisatiom (i.e., at least every five years). Ourd@ets of association authorize the allotment of
additional shares, and renewal of such authorizdtioadditional five year terms may be sought nfegquently.

English law also generally provides shareholdeth wieemptive rights when new shares are issueckfsir; however, it is possible for
the articles of association, or shareholders iregmmeeting, to exclude preemptive rights. Suckxarusion of preemptive rights may be for a
maximum period of up to five years from the datadbption of the articles of association, if thelagion is contained in the articles of
association, or from the date of the sharehold®lution, if the exclusion is by shareholder retiohy in either case, this exclusion would neec
to be renewed upon its expiration (i.e., at leastefive years). Our articles of association egelpreemptive rights, and renewal of such
exclusion for additional five year terms may begttunore frequently.

English law also generally prohibits a company fr@purchasing its own shares by way of "off magkachases" without the prior
approval of our shareholders. Such approval lasta fnaximum period of up to five years. Our sharestraded on the NYSE, which is not a
recognized investment exchange in the U.K. Consgtyyeny repurchase of our shares is currenthsicared an “off market purchase.”
Resolutions were adopted to permit such purchasastp the Redomestication. These resolutions makd to be renewed upon expiration (
at least every five years) but may be sought mmaguently for additional five year terms.

The enforcement of civil liabilities against us nteeymore difficult.

Because we are a public limited company incorpdrateler English law, investors could experienceawbificulty enforcing judgments
obtained against us in U.S. courts than would Heen the case for U.S. judgments obtained agamstGorporation. In addition, it may be
more difficult (or impossible) to bring some typEsclaims against us in courts in England thanduld be to bring similar claims against a
U.S. company in a U.S. court.

We are a public limited company incorporated unttherlaws of England and Wales. Therefore, it maybegossible to effect service of
process upon us within the United States in ordermforce judgments of U.S. courts against us bagsdtie civil liability provisions of the U.
federal securities law:

There is doubt as to the enforceability in England Wales, in original actions or in actions fofoeoement of judgments of U.S. courts,
of civil liabilities solely based on the U.S. fedksecurities laws. The English courts will, howeteeat any amount payable by us under the
U.S. judgment as a debt and new proceedings canorbmenced in the English courts to enforce thig dghinst us. The following criteria
must be satisfied in order for the English courendorce the debt created by the U.S. judgment:

« the U.S. judgment must be for a debt or definite &f money

» the U.S. judgment must be final and conclu

« the U.S. court must, in the circumstances of tlse chave had jurisdiction according to the Englighs of private international la
e the U.S. judgment must not have been obtainedamd

» the enforcement of the U.S. judgment must not beraoy to U.K. public policy; ar

» the proceedings in which the U.S. judgment wasinétamust not have been conducted contrary toules of natural justic

Operational and Commercial Risks

Our success depends on our ability to retain arichet experienced and qualified personnel, inclgdour senior management team and
other professional personnel.

We depend, in material part, upon the members o§enior management team who possess extensivddagasvand a deep
understanding of our business and our strategyufibgpected loss of services of any of our seniecetive officers could have a disruptive
effect adversely impacting our ability to manage lousiness effectively and execute our busineasesty. Competition for experienced
professional personnel is intense, and we are aothgtworking to retain and attract these profesais. If we cannot successfully do so, our
business, operating results and financial conditimnd be adversely affected.

Our global operations expose us to various inteioval risks that could adversely affect our busies

Our operations are conducted globally. Accordinglg,are subject to legal, economic and market ask®sciated with operating in, and
sourcing from, foreign countries, including:
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» the general economic and political conditionstixg in those countries, including risks assamawith a concentration of operations
in certain geographic regions;

» fluctuations in currency exchange ra

« imposition of limitations on conversion of foreigarrencies or remittance of dividends and othenpyts by foreign subsidiaris

e imposition or increase of withholding and othergson remittances and other payments by subsisl,

« difficulties in staffing and managing our forrigffices, including due to unexpected wage inflator job turnover, and the increased
travel, infrastructure and legal and compliancescassociated with multiple international locations

» hyperinflation in certain foreign countri

» imposition or increase of investment and otheriagins by foreign governmen

* longer payment cycle

» greater difficulties in accounts receivable colilet]

» the requirement of complying with a wide varietyforfeign laws

» insufficient demand for our services in foreignigdictions

» ability to execute effective and efficient crdssrder sourcing of services on behalf of our ch

e restrictions on the import and export of technadsgian

» trade barrier:

The occurrence of natural or man-made disasterddcadversely affect our financial condition and ults of operations.

We are exposed to various risks arising out of nadtlisasters, including earthquakes, hurricaness,ffloods and tornadoes, and
pandemic health events, as well as man-made disasteluding acts of terrorism and military acsohe continued threat of terrorism and
ongoing military actions may cause significant Wititst in global financial markets, and a naturalrman-made disaster could trigger an
economic downturn in the areas directly or indiseaffected by the disaster. These consequencdd,@mong other things, result in a decline
in business and increased claims from those afé&y. could also result in reduced underwriting cétgamaking it more difficult for our Risk
Solutions professionals to place business. Dissisieo could disrupt public and private infrastauet including communications and financial
services, which could disrupt our normal busingsesations.

A natural or man-made disaster also could distugpbiperations of our counterparties or result @anéased prices for the products and
services they provide to us. In addition, a digasbeld adversely affect the value of the assetaiminvestment portfolio. Finally, a natural or
man-made disaster could increase the incidenceverity of E&O claims against us.

As an example, in October 2012, Superstorm Sandierfzandfall on the Northeast coast of the UniteateSt The storm caused
widespread disruption and dislocation across fiages but New York and New Jersey in particulare ©hour largest offices, located in lower
Manhattan was closed until January 7, 2013, reqmiuis to relocate a large number of our employeésmporary workspace in the area and
provide for enhanced remote working and informateshnology support arrangements. Given that IdMemnhattan serves as a hub to the
insurance industry, the storm impacted many ofctients, carriers and vendors as well, some of whugerations were severely disrupted.
While we believe our relocation measures and basigentinuity plans allowed us to effectively cong to operate our critical business
functions, it is possible that the disruption af #torm on our operations and that of our clierds;iers and vendors may have resulted in a
negative effect on our results of operations andrfcial condition.

Also, through our merger with Benfield, we acquiBehfield's equity stake in certain Florida-donedilhomeowner insurance
companies. We maintain ongoing agreements to peaviddeling, actuarial, and consulting servicehi¢és¢ insurance companies. These firms
financial results could be adversely affected guasptions used in establishing their underwritiegerves differ from actual experience.
Reserve estimates represent informed judgmentsl lmaseurrently available data, as well as estimatdsture trends in claims severity,
frequency, judicial theories of liability and otHactors. Many of these factors are not quantiéabladvance and both internal and external
events, such as changes in claims handling proesdinflation, judicial and legal developments &glslative changes, can cause estimates t
vary. Additionally, a natural disaster occurringHlorida could increase the incidence or sevelfitg&O claims relating to these existing
service agreements.

Our inability to successfully recover should weezignce a disaster or other business continuitybpgm could cause material financial
loss, loss of human capital, regulatory actiongutational harm or legal liability.

Should we experience a local or regional disastetleer business continuity problem, such as athgaake, hurricane, terrorist attack,
pandemic, security breaches, power loss, teleconuations failure or other natural or man-made d&a®ur continued success will depend,
in part, on the availability of our personnel, affice facilities, and the proper functioning ofraxomputer, telecommunication and other rel
systems and operations. Superstorm Sandy, for deampacted several of our locations in the Naa#itdJnited States, resulting in
interruptions to our operations and informatiorhtemlogy system
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infrastructure. In events like these, while ourragienal size, the multiple locations from which agerate, and our existing back-up systems
provide us with some degree of flexibility, welstihn experience near-term operational challengtsregard to particular areas of our
operations, such as key executive officers or parsb

Our operations are dependent upon our ability ddgot our technology infrastructure against danfem@ business continuity events tl
could have a significant disruptive effect on operations. We could potentially lose client dat@xperience material adverse interruptions to
our operations or delivery of services to our dken a disaster recovery scenario.

We regularly assess and take steps to improve apoaxisting business continuity plans and key rgangnt succession. However, a
disaster on a significant scale or affecting cartdiour key operating areas within or across megjier our inability to successfully recover
should we experience a disaster or other busirmgmaity problem, could materially interrupt owidiness operations and cause material
financial loss, loss of human capital, regulatacians, reputational harm, damaged client relatiggssor legal liability.

We rely on complex information technology systemasreetworks to operate our business. Any signifisgatem or network disruption or
breach in the security of our information technol@ystems could have a negative impact on our atipat operations, sales and operating
results.

We rely on the efficient, uninterrupted and seaperation of complex information technology systeand networks, some of which are
within the company and some are outsourced. Adirmftion technology systems are potentially vulbleréao damage or interruption from a
variety of sources, including but not limited taouter viruses, security breaches, energy blackoatsral disasters, terrorism, war and
telecommunication failures. There also may be sysienetwork disruptions if new or upgraded bussmesinagement systems are defective c
are not installed properly.

We have from time to time experienced cybersecilmigaches, such as computer viruses, unauthoradiégpgaining access to our
information technology systems and similar incidemthich to date have not had a material impadarbusiness. In the future, these types o
incidents could result in intellectual propertyather confidential information being lost or stalércluding client, employee or company data.
We may not be able to detect breaches in our irdtiom technology systems or assess the severitypact of a breach in a timely manner.

We have implemented various measures to managés@amelated to system and network security astugtions, but a security breach
or a significant and extended disruption in thectioning of our information technology systems ebdamage our reputation and cause us to
lose clients, adversely impact our operations,ssatel operating results and require us to incunifiignt expense to address and remediate or
otherwise resolve such issues. The release ofdemtfal information as a result of a security breasuld also lead to litigation or other
proceedings against us by affected individualsusiriess partners, or by regulators, and the outajrsech proceedings, which could include
penalties or fines, could have a significant negsitinpact on our business.

Improper disclosure of personal data could resnltagal liability or harm our reputation.

One of our significant responsibilities is to maintthe security and privacy of our employees' @iehts' confidential and proprietary
information and, in the case of our HR Solutiorisrik, the personal data of their employees anne¢nt and other benefit plan participants.
We maintain policies, procedures and technologiatdguards designed to protect the security andgyriof this information. Nonetheless, we
cannot entirely eliminate the risk of improper e or disclosure of personally identifiable mfi@tion. Such disclosure could harm our
reputation and subject us to liability under ountcacts and laws that protect personal data, iaguh increased costs or loss of revenue.

Further, data privacy is subject to frequently ahag rules and regulations, which are becomingaasingly complex and sometimes
conflict among the various jurisdictions and coig#tin which we provide services both in termsudfstance and in terms of enforceability.
This makes compliance challenging and expensive f@lure to adhere to or successfully implememtcesses in response to changing
regulatory requirements in this area could resulégal liability or impairment to our reputatiomthe marketplace. Further, regulatory
initiatives in the area of data privacy are mosgtrently including provisions allowing authoriti@simpose substantial fines and penalties, an
therefore, failure to comply could also have a iigant financial impact.

Implementation of changes to the methods in whieinternally process and monitor transactions acthaties may encounter delays or
other problems, which could adversely impact owocamting and financial reporting processes.

Our businesses require that we process and moaita,regular basis, a very large number of traiwacand other activities, many of
which are highly complex, across numerous markegseveral different currencies using different egs. Initiatives underway that are
designed to improve these functions will alter heevgather, organize and internally report thesesaations and activities. To the extent thes
initiatives are not implemented properly or we anter problems or delays in
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their implementation, they may adversely impactaegounting and financial reporting processes, &lbkag our invoicing and collection
efforts.

Our business performance and growth plans coulddmgatively affected if we are not able to effedfiapply technology in driving value
for our clients through technolo-based solutions or gain internal efficiencies tigb the effective application of technology andtesd tools.
Conversely, investments in innovative product offer may fail to yield sufficient return to covletr investments.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability tekbgvand implement technology solutions that apéite and keep pace with rapid and
continuing changes in technology, industry stanslart! client preferences. We may not be succassfuiticipating or responding to these
developments on a timely and cost-effective basid,our ideas may not be accepted in the marketpheaditionally, the effort to gain
technological expertise and develop new technofogi@ur business requires us to incur signifieaqtenses. If we cannot offer new
technologies as quickly as our competitors or if @mpetitors develop more casffective technologies, it could have a materialeade effec
on our ability to obtain and complete client engagets. For example, we have invested significantthe development of GRIP, a repository
of global insurance placement information, whichwse to drive better results for our clients initi@irance placement process. Our
competitors are seeking to develop competing datshand their success in this space may impagthility to differentiate our services to «
clients through the use of unique technologicalsmhs. Likewise, we have invested significantlyoir HR BPO business and platform.
Innovations in software, cloud computing or othemhinologies that alter how these services areeatelivcould significantly undermine our
investment in this business if we are slow or uedbltake advantage of these developments.

On the other hand, we are continually developirdjiamesting in innovative and novel product offgsrthat we believe will address
needs that we identify in the markets. Nevertheliesghose efforts to produce meaningful value arereliant on a number of other factors,
some of which our outside of our control. For ex@mpur HR Solutions segment has invested subatdintie and resources in launching
health care exchanges under the belief that thad®ages will serve a useful role in helping cogtions and individuals in the U.S. manage
their growing health care expenses. But in ordetlfese exchanges to be successful, health canemssand corporate and individual
participants have to deem them suitable to pasgteijn, and whether those parties will find theritadule will be subject to their own particular
circumstances.

If our clients or third parties are not satisfiedtlwour services, we may face additional cost, lafggrofit opportunities and damage to
reputation or legal liability.

We depend, to a large extent, on our relationshigsour clients and our reputation for high-qualirokering, risk management and HR
solutions, so that we can understand our clieeesds and deliver solutions and services that doedd to satisfy these needs. If a client is not
satisfied with our services, it may be more damg@inour business than to other businesses and cauke us to incur additional costs and
impair profitability. Many of our clients are busisses that band together in industry groups atdide associations and actively share
information among themselves about the qualityeofise they receive from their vendors. Accordinglgor service to one client may
negatively impact our relationships with multiplder clients. Moreover, if we fail to meet our catual obligations, we could be subject to
legal liability or loss of client relationships.

The nature of much of our work, especially our adal services in our HR Solutions business, ingslassumptions and estimates
concerning future events, the actual outcome otlhie cannot know with certainty in advance. Sirhilan our investment consulting
business, we may be measured based on our tramki nexgarding judgments and advice on investméiatsare susceptible to influences
unknown at the time the advice was given. In addjtive could make computational, software programgnoir data entry or management
errors. A client may nonetheless claim it suffdiesbes due to reliance on our consulting advicel, Amaddition to the risks of liability
exposure and increased costs of defense and itgeupgemiums, claims arising from our professioeatises may produce publicity that could
hurt our reputation and business and adverselgtadig ability to secure new business.

Damage to our reputation could have a material adeesffect on our business.

Our reputation is a key asset of the Company. Wesadur clients on and provide services relateal wode range of subjects and our
ability to attract and retain clients is highly éaglent upon the external perceptions of our leyskovice, trustworthiness, business practices,
financial condition and other subjective qualitidggative perceptions or publicity regarding thessters or others, could erode trust and
confidence and damage our reputation among exiatidgpotential clients, which could make it diffiicior us to attract new clients and
maintain existing ones as mentioned above. Negatitdic opinion could also result from actual deged conduct by us or those currently or
formerly associated with us in any number of atiigi or circumstances, including operations, regmjacompliance, and the use and protec
of data and systems, satisfaction of client expiects, and from actions taken by regulators or i&thre response to such conduct. This
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damage to our reputation could further affect theficlence of our clients, rating agencies, regusatstockholders and the other parties in a
wide range of transactions that are important tobauginess having a material adverse effect orbasiness, financial condition and operating
results.

We rely on third parties to perform key functiofi®or business operations and to provide servioesut clients. These third parties may
act in ways that could harm our business.

We rely on third parties, and in some cases subactot's, to provide services, data and informagioch as technology, information
security, fund transfer, data processing, and adtntion and support functions that are criticethie operations of our business. These third
parties include correspondents, agents and otb&etage and intermediariéssurance marketslata providers, plan trustees, payroll service
providers, software and system vendors, health plaviders, investment managers, investment adyjisexd providers of human resource
functions such as recruiters and trainers, amohnerst As we do not fully control the actions ofgéehird parties, we are subject to the risk
their decisions may adversely impact us and repdpttiese service providers could create signifidatdy and expense. A failure by the third
parties to comply with service level agreementegutatory or legal requirements, in a high quaityl timely manner, particularly during
periods of our peak demand for their services,coault in economic and reputational harm to mgddition, these third parties face their «
technology, operating, business and economic raakd,any significant failures by them, including improper use or disclosure of our
confidential client, employee, or company informaticould cause harm to our reputation. An intefaumpin or the cessation of service by any
service provider as a result of systems failurapacity constraints, financial difficulties or fany other reason could disrupt our operations,
impact our ability to offer certain products andviees, and result in contractual or regulatorygges, liability claims from clients and/or
employees, damage to our reputation and harm tbusiness.

Our business is exposed to risks associated wétthémdling of client funds.

Our Risk Solutions business collects premiums frosareds and, after deducting commissions, remé@gptemiums to the respective
insurers. We also collect claims or refunds frosuiers on behalf of insureds, which are remittethéonsureds. Similarly, part of our HR
Solutions' outsourcing business handles payroligssing for several of our clients. Consequentlang given time, we may be holding and
managing funds of our clients and, in the caseRfSdlutions, their employees, while payroll is lgeprocessed. This function creates a risk o
loss arising from, among other things, fraud by kaiyges or third parties, execution of unauthoritadsactions or errors relating to transac
processing. We are also potentially at risk inghent the financial institution in which we holde#ie funds suffers any kind of insolvency or
liquidity event. The occurrence of any of theseetypf events in connection with this function cocadise us financial loss and reputational
harm.

In connection with the implementation of our comgerstrategy, we face certain risks associated thighacquisition or disposition of
businesses, and the entry into new lines of busines

In pursuing our corporate strategy, we may acoutiner businesses, or dispose of or exit businessasirrently own. The success of this
strategy is dependent upon our ability to iderdifpropriate acquisition and disposition targetgotiate transactions on favorable terms and
ultimately complete such transactions. If acquosisi are made, there can be no assurance that lwealiite the anticipated benefits of such
acquisitions, including, but not limited to, revengrowth, operational efficiencies or expected sgies. In addition, we may not be able to
integrate acquisitions successfully into our ergtbusiness, and we could incur or assume unknownanticipated liabilities or
contingencies, which may impact our results of apens. If we dispose of or otherwise exit certaiisinesses, there can be no assurance tha
we will not incur certain disposition related chesgor that we will be able to reduce overheadeadlto the divested assets.

From time to time, we may enter lines of businegssffer new products and services within existiimgs of business. There are
substantial risks and uncertainties associatedtiike efforts, including the investment of sigmfit time and resources, the possibility that
these efforts will be unprofitable, and the riskadfitional liabilities associated with these efofailure to successfully manage these risks ir
the development and implementation of new linesusiiness and new products and services could heatexial adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operadi External factors, such as compliance with legguns, competitive alternatives and shifting
market preferences may also impact the successfilémentation of a new line of business. In addijtiwe can provide no assurance that the
entry into new lines of business or developmentest products and services will be successful.

We may face additional risks from the growth andeffepment of companies that we acquire or new lafdmisiness.

We face additional risks associated with compattiaswe acquire or new lines of business into wiiehenter, particularly in instances
where the markets are not fully developed. In agdigitmany of the businesses that we acquire andldewiill likely have significantly smaller
scales of operations prior to the implementationwfgrowth strategy. If we are not able to marthgegrowing complexity of these busines
including improving, refining or revising our systse and
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operational practices, and enlarging the scalesande of the businesses, our business may be atjvaffected. Other risks include
developing knowledge of and experience in the nesirtess, recruiting professionals and developimcapitalizing on new relationships w
experienced market participants. Failure to manlgse risks in the acquisition or development of besinesses successfully could materi
and adversely affect our business, results of dipasaand financial condition.

The process of integrating an acquired company onegite unforeseen operating difficulties and ex|teneks.

Companies that we acquire often run on one or remtenology platforms different from those usedum businesses. When integrating
these businesses, we face additional risks. Th&seinclude implementing or remediating contrpiscedures, and policies at the acquired
company, ensuring compliance with licensing andila&gry requirements, integration of the acquirethpany's accounting, human resource,
and other administrative systems, and coordinaifgroduct, engineering, and sales and marketingtfons, transition of operations, users,
and customers onto our existing platforms and dilare to successfully further develop the acquteahnology. Our failure to address these
risks or other problems encountered in connectibh @ur past or future acquisitions and investmenotgdd cause us to fail to realize the
anticipated benefits of such acquisitions or inmesits, incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm lousiness generally.

Key employees of acquired businesses may recebs&antial value in connection with a transactiothi& form of change-in-control
agreements, acceleration of stock options andftirglof restrictions on other equity-based comgagion rights. To retain such employees an
integrate the acquired business, we may offer mthdit retention incentives, but it may still befitifilt to retain certain key employees.

Risks relating Primarily to our Risk Solutions Segment

Results in our Risk Solutions segment may fluctdag¢eto many factors, including cyclical or permanehanges in the insurance and
reinsurance markets outside of our control.

Results in our Risk Solutions segment have hisitlyibeen affected by significant fluctuations arisfrom uncertainties and changes in
the industries in which we operate. A significaattpn of our revenue consists of commissions paids out of the premiums that insurers an
reinsurers charge our clients for coverage. We maveontrol over premium rates, and our revenudspanfitability are subject to change to
extent that premium rates fluctuate or trend imdigular direction. The potential for changes iarpium rates is significant, due to pricing
cyclicality in the commercial insurance and reisie markets.

In addition to movements in premium rates, ourighib generate premium-based commission revenyebeaahallenged by:

» the growing availability of alternative methdas clients to meet their risk-protection needsjuding a greater willingness on the part
of corporations to "self-insure," the use of sdexhl'captive" insurers, and the advent of capitatkats-based solutions and other
alternative capital sources for traditional insweand reinsurance needs that increase marketiggaacrease competition and put
pressure on pricing;

» fluctuation in the need for insurance as theneatic downturn continues, as clients either goofiiusiness or scale back their
operations, and thus reduce the amount of insurdineg procure;

» the level of compensation, as a percentage of prapthat insurance carriers are willing to compénbsaokers for placement activi

» the growing desire of clients to move away freamiable commission rates and instead compensakets based upon flat fees, which
can negatively impact us as fees are not gendralxed for inflation and do not automatically iease with premium as does
commission-based compensation; and

» competition from insurers seeking to sell theirdarcts directly to consumers without the involvemafréin insurance brok

In addition, our increasing focus on new produétrifigs within the Risk Solutions space expose®wlditional risks. For example, GRIP i
relatively new and historically untested offeriiignay fail to catch on within the insurance indysir conversely, if successful, may face
increasing pressure from competitors who developpaiing offerings. As our business, like the ecopasa whole, becomes more
technology focused, the speed at which our prodaretsubject to challenge or becoming outdatedrnisistently increasing.

Our results may be adversely affected by changdsimode of compensation in the insurance industry

Since the Attorney General of New York brought gearagainst members of the insurance brokerage ooitynin 2004, there has been
uncertainty concerning longstanding methods of amspting insurance brokers. Given that the inseréanckerage industry has faced scru
from regulators in the past over its compensatiaetices, it is possible that those regulators ofeose to revisit the same or other practict
the future. If they do so, compliance with new ragjans along
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with any sanctions that might be imposed for paatiices deemed improper could have an adversecinopaour future results of operations
and inflict significant reputational harm on oursiness.

Risks relating Primarily to our HR Solutions Segment
We may not realize all of the anticipated benefitthe acquisition of Hewitt or those benefits rte§e longer to realize than expected.

The acquisition and integration of a company tlze sif Hewitt is a complex, costly and time-consugrpnocess. As a result, we have
devoted and continue to devote significant managémaigention and resources to integrating Hewliti'siness practices and operations with
ours. As described further below, we have closedytbbal restructuring plan related to our acquisibf Hewitt, but a failure by us to further
meet the challenges involved in successfully iraégg Hewitt's operations with ours or to otherwisalize the anticipated benefits of the
transaction could cause an interruption of ounéess, preclude realization of the full benefitgpected by us for the acquisition and seriously
harm our results of operations and cash flowsdttiteon, the overall integration of the two compasimay result in material unanticipated
problems, including, among others:

* managing a significantly larger compa

e maintaining employee morale and retaining key mansmnt and other employe

e integrating two unique business cultures, which maye to be incompatibl

» the possibility of faulty assumptions underlyingpegtations regarding the integration proc

e retaining existing clients and attracting new dk

» consolidating corporate information technology folahs and administrative infrastructures and elaiimg duplicative operatior

» the diversion of management's attention fromoamg business concerns and performance shortibsrasult of the diversion of
management's attention to the acquisition;

» coordinating geographically separate organizationanticipated issues in integrating informat&echnology, communications and
other systems;

* unanticipated changes in applicable laws and réiguks

* managing tax costs or inefficiencies associated imiegrating the operations of the combined corgpanc

» unforeseen expenses or delays associated wittctjugsétion

Many of these factors are outside of our contral any one of them could result in increased calgsreases in the amount of expected
revenues and cash flows and diversion of managésrtane and energy, which could materially impaat lbusiness, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, even if Hewitiperations are integrated successfully with erations, we may not realize the full benefits
of the transaction, including the synergies, castrgys or sales or growth opportunities that weeekpThese benefits may not be achieved
within the anticipated time frame, or at all. Ferthadditional unanticipated costs may be incuimettie integration of our businesses. All of
these factors could cause dilution to our earnidgsrease or delay the expected accretive effabieadcquisition, and cause a decrease in the
price of our ordinary shares. As a result, we caassure you that the acquisition of Hewitt wikuét in the realization of the full benefits
anticipated from the transaction.

In 2010, after completion of the acquisition of Hiéywe announced a global restructuring plan reféto as the Aon Hewitt Plan. The
Aon Hewitt Plan, which closed in December 2013, wésnded to streamline operations across the audbdrganization and facilitate the
integration of Hewitt. The Aon Hewitt Plan resuli@dcumulative costs of approximately $429 millibmough the end of the plan, all of which
are included in our Consolidated Statements ofriregorimarily encompassing workforce reduction el estate rationalization costs. The
total cost of $429 million consisted of approximat®266 million in employee termination costs ampg@oximately $163 million in real estate
rationalization costs. Approximately 2,960 positagiobally, predominantly non-client facing, wefieninated as part of the Aon Hewitt Plan.
We expect to achieve total annual savings of $40imin 2014, of which $99 million is expected be achieved in Risk Solutions and
$303 million is expected to be achieved in HR Sohd, and additional savings in areas such asrrdtion technology, procurement and
public company costs. We cannot assure that weaglilieve the targeted savings.

The profitability of our outsourcing and consultinggagements with clients may not meet our expectatiue to unexpected costs, cost
overruns, early contract terminations, unrealizessamptions used in our contract bidding procestherinability to maintain our prices.

In our HR Solutions segment, our profitability igtly dependent upon our ability to control ourtscsnd improve our efficiency. As we
adapt to change in our business, adapt to theatgulenvironment, enter into new engagements,iexzqdditional businesses and take on
employees in new locations, we may not be ableanage our large, diverse and changing workforagtrebour costs or improve our
efficiency.

23




Most new outsourcing arrangements undergo an ingaégition process whereby our systems and procassesistomized to match a
client's plans and programs. The cost of this p®ée estimated by us and often partially fundedunyclients. If our actual implementation
expense exceeds our estimate or if the ongoingceecost is greater than anticipated, the clientra@t may be less profitable than expected.

Even though outsourcing clients typically sign leéegm contracts, some of these contracts may bertated at any time, with or witho
cause, by our client upon 90 to 360 days writteticeoOur outsourcing clients are generally reglilepay a termination fee; however, this
amount may not be sufficient to offset the costsneerred in connection with the implementation agdtem set-up or fully compensate us fol
the profit we would have received if the contraatl mot been cancelled. A client may choose to delagrminate a current or anticipated
project as a result of factors unrelated to ourkwwoduct or progress, such as the business ardiabcondition of the client or general
economic conditions. When any of our engagemesetseaminated, we may not be able to eliminate aatmtongoing costs or redeploy the
affected employees in a timely manner to minimieeimpact on profitability. Any increased or unesfeel costs or unanticipated delays in
connection with the performance of these engagesmamiuding delays caused by factors outside ouatrol, could have an adverse effect on
our profit margin.

Our profit margin, and therefore our profitabilitg,largely a function of the rates we are ablehtarge for our services and the staffing
costs for our personnel. Accordingly, if we are able to maintain the rates we charge for our sesvor appropriately manage the staffing
costs of our personnel, we may not be able to isusta profit margin and our profitability will stér. The prices we are able to charge for our
services are affected by a number of factors, @iolycompetitive factors, cost of living adjustmenbvisions, the extent of ongoing clients'
perception of our ability to add value through earvices and general economic conditions. Our fattafity in providing HR BPO services is
largely based on our ability to drive cost efficas during the term of our contracts for suchises: If we cannot drive suitable cost
efficiencies, our profit margins will suffer.

We might not be able to achieve the cost savingsired to sustain and increase our profit marginour HR Solutions business.

We provide our outsourcing services over long tefonwariable or fixed fees that generally are s our clients' historical costs to
provide for themselves the services we contradetiver. Also, clients' demand for cost reductiomsy increase over the term of the agreer
As a result, we bear the risk of increases in t® of delivering HR outsourcing services to otigras, and our margins associated with
particular contracts will depend on our abilityctantrol our costs of performance under those cotgrand meet our service commitments cost
effectively. Over time, some of our operating exg@Enwill increase as we invest in additional intfriacture and implement new technologies tc
maintain our competitive position and meet ourrtligervice commitments. We must anticipate andamgpo the dynamics of our industry &
business by using quality systems, process manageimproved asset utilization and effective sugpthanagement tools. We must do this
while continuing to grow our business so that axed costs are spread over an increasing reveraee Have are not able to achieve this, our
ability to sustain and increase profitability mayfeduced.

Our accounting policy for our long-term outsourciogntracts requires using estimates and projectibias may change over time. These
changes may have a significant or adverse effectuomeported results of operations or financiahclition.

Projecting contract profitability on the long-teputsourcing contracts in our HR Solutions busimesgsiires us to make assumptions and
estimates of future contract results. All estimatessinherently uncertain and subject to changanleffort to maintain appropriate estimates,
we review each of our long-term outsourcing conggthe related contract reserves and intangildeta®n a regular basis. These assumption
and estimates involve the exercise of judgmentdisictetion, which may also evolve over time in tighoperational experience, regulatory
direction, developments in accounting principled ather factors. Further, changes in assumptiatsnates or developments in the busine:
the application of accounting principles relatedotog-term outsourcing contracts may change otiairéstimates of future contract results.
Application of, and changes in, assumptions, esémand policies may adversely affect our finan@adllts.

In our investment consulting business, we advisscbon behalf of clients regarding their investiisehe results of these investments
are uncertain and subject to numerous factors, sofivehich are within our control and some which am. Clients that experience losses or
lower than expected investment returns may ast@ns against us.

Our investment consulting business provides addadients on: investment strategy, which can ideladvice on setting investment
objectives, asset allocation, and hedging strasegidection (or removal) of investment managées;jnvestment in different investment
instruments and products; and the selection ofrativestment service providers such as custodiadgransition managers. For some clients,
we are responsible for making decisions on thed&ensaand we may implement such decisions in acfady/agency capacity albeit without
assuming title or custody over the underlying fundassets invested. Asset classes may experi@ocapsolute performance; third parties we
recommend or select, such as
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investment managers, may underperform their bendétsnthue to poor market performance, negligencetwraeasons, resulting in poor
investment returns or losses of some, or all, efddpital that has been invested. These lossedbeattributable in whole or in part to failures
on our part or to events entirely outside of ourtodl. Regardless of the cause, clients experignidisses may assert claims against us, and
these claims may be for significant amounts. Defegndgainst these claims can involve potentiaigngicant costs, including legal defense
costs, as well as cause substantial distractiordasedsion of other resources. Furthermore, ouitalo limit our potential liability is restricted
in certain jurisdictions and in connection withiola involving breaches of fiduciary/agency dutiesther alleged errors or omissions.

We rely heavily on our computing and communicatiofrastructure and the integrity of these systémthe delivery of human resources
services for our HR Solutions clients, and our @pienal performance and revenue growth dependpaim, on the reliability and functionality
of this infrastructure as a means of delivering lanmesources services.

The internet is a key mechanism for delivering lmuman resources services to our HR Solutions gliefficiently and cost effectively.
Our clients may not be receptive to human resoseceices delivered over the internet due to corscergarding transaction security, user
privacy, the reliability and quality of internetrsize and other reasons. Our clients' concernslmayeightened by the fact we use the internet
to transmit extremely confidential information abour clients and their employees, such as compiensanedical information and other
personally identifiable information. In order to imi@in the level of security, service and relialgithat our clients require, we may be required
to make significant additional investments in onliee methods of delivering human resources sesviceaddition, websites and proprietary
online services have experienced service intelwaptand other delays occurring throughout themastfucture. If we cannot use the internet
effectively to deliver our services, our revenuevgih and results of operation may be impaired.

We may lose client data as a result of major catpkes and other similar problems that may materélversely impact our operations.
We have multiple processing centers around thedatbdt use various commercial methods for disast@very capabilities. Our main data
processing center is located near the Aon Hewdthaearters in Lincolnshire, Illinois. In the everfita disaster, our business continuity may
be sufficient, and the data recovered may not Kecgunt for the administration of our clients' hamresources programs and processes.

Risks Related to Our Ordinary Shares

Transfers of the Class A Ordinary Shares may bgestitb stamp duty or SDRT in the U.K., which wantidease the cost of dealing in
the Class A Ordinary Shares.

Stamp duty and/or SDRT are imposed in the U.K.emain transfers of chargeable securities (whickute shares in companies
incorporated in the U.K.) at a rate of 0.5 pera#rthe consideration paid for the transfer. Certeamsfers of shares to depositaries or into
clearance systems are charged at a higher raté petcent.

Our Class A Ordinary Shares are eligible to be helabok entry form through the facilities of Defiosy Trust Company ("DTC").
Transfers of shares held in book entry form throDJIC will not attract a charge to stamp duty or SDR the U.K. A transfer of the shares
from within the DTC system out of DTC and any sujusmnt transfers that occur entirely outside the By§tem will attract a charge to stamp
duty at a rate of 0.5 percent of any consideratidrich is payable by the transferee of the shaeg.such duty must be paid (and the relevant
transfer document stamped by HMRC) before the tearmsin be registered in the books of Aon UK. sl shares are redeposited into DTC,
the redeposit will attract stamp duty or SDRT atte of 1.5 percent of the value of the shares.

We have put in place arrangements to require tieaes held in certificated form cannot be transfiéinto the DTC system until the
transferor of the shares has first delivered tlaeeshto a depository specified by us so that SDRY e collected in connection with the initial
delivery to the depository. Any such shares wilevédenced by a receipt issued by the depositoefor® the transfer can be registered in our
books, the transferor will also be required toipuhe depository funds to settle the resultartility to SDRT, which will be charged at a rate
of 1.5 percent of the value of the shares.

Following the decision of the First Tier Tribunadlak Chamber) itHSBC Holdings plc, The Bank of New York Mellon @oaion v
HMRC2012 UKFTT 163 (TC) and the announcement by HMRAE ithwill not seek to appeal the decision, HMR@dslonger enforcing the
charge to SDRT on the issue of shares into eitheoiEnon-EU depository receipt or clearance systems

If the Class A Ordinary Shares are not eligible dontinued deposit and clearing within the faaéitiof DTC, then transactions in our
securities may be disrupted.

The facilities of DTC are a widely-used mechanisiat llow for rapid electronic transfers of sedasitbetween the participants in the
DTC system, which include many large banks and dnade firms. We believe that prior to the merggrrapimately 99% of the outstanding
shares of common stock of Aon Corporation were héfdin the DTC system. The
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Class A Ordinary Shares of Aon plc are, at presdigible for deposit and clearing within the DT@stem. In connection with the closing of
the merger, we entered into arrangements with Dh€reby we agreed to indemnify DTC for any stamjy éuid/or SDRT that may be
assessed upon it as a result of its service apasidery and clearing agency for our Class A Ordirghares. In addition, we have obtained a
ruling from HMRC in respect of the stamp duty aidRS consequences of the reorganization, and SDRbaan paid in accordance with the
terms of this ruling in respect of the deposit td<3 A Ordinary Shares with the initial depositd.C will generally have discretion to cease
to act as a depository and clearing agency fo€lhes A Ordinary Shares. If DTC determines at ang that the Class A Ordinary Shares are
not eligible for continued deposit and clearancthiwiits facilities, then we believe the Class Adary Shares would not be eligible for
continued listing on a U.S. securities exchang@dusion in the S&P 500 and trading in the Clas®@@inary Shares would be disrupted.
While we would pursue alternative arrangementsésgrve our listing and maintain trading, any sdishuption could have a material adverse
effect on the trading price of the Class A Ordin8hares.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

We have offices in various locations throughoutwuloeld. Substantially all of our offices are locatie leased premises. We maintain our
corporate headquarters at 8 Devonshire Square,dmrithgland, where we occupy approximately 225g¥itare feet of space under an
operating lease agreement that expires in 2018oW+Weone building at Pallbergweg 2-4, Amsterdam Nle¢herlands (150,000 square feet).
The following are additional significant leased pedies, along with the occupied square footageeapitation.

Occupied

Square Lease
Property: Footage Expiration Dates
4 Overlook Point and other locations, Lincolnshili&ois 1,224,001 2017 — 2024
2601 Research Forest Drive, The Woodlands, Texas 414,00( 2020
DLF City and Unitech Cyber Park, Gurgaon, India 413,00( 2014 — 2015
200 E. Randolph Street, Chicago, lllinois 396,00t 2028
2300 Discovery Drive, Orlando, Florida 364,00( 2020
199 Water Street, New York, New York 319,00 2018
7201 Hewitt Associates Drive, Charlotte, North Giai 218,00( 2015

The locations in Lincolnshire, lllinois, The Woodtis, Texas, Gurgaon, India, Orlando, Florida, ahdrfotte, North Carolina, each of
which were acquired as part of the Hewitt acquisiin 2010, are primarily dedicated to our HR Sohg segment. The other locations listed
above house personnel from both of our reportaddengnts.

In November 2011, Aon entered into an agreemelatatse 190,000 square feet in a new building toomstcucted in London, United
Kingdom. The agreement is contingent upon the cetigul of the building construction. Aon expectsrove into the new building in 2015
when it exercises an early break option at the Dshive Square location.

In September 2013, Aon entered into an agreemdaage up to 479,000 square feet in a new builtdirige constructed in Gurgaon,
India. The agreement is contingent upon the conagpletf the building construction. Aon expects towaanto the new building in phases
during 2014 and 2015 upon the expiration of theteng leases at the Gurgaon locations.

In general, no difficulty is anticipated in negditi@ renewals as leases expire or in finding offagisfactory space if the premises becom
unavailable. We believe that the facilities we euntly occupy are adequate for the purposes forwthiey are being used and are well
maintained. In certain circumstances, we may hansed space and may seek to sublet such spadedtpdhties, depending upon the dems
for office space in the locations involved. Seed\®t'Lease Commitments" of the Notes to Consolii&ieancial Statements in Part II, ltem 8
of this report for information with respect to daase commitments as of December 31, 2013 .

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We hereby incorporate by reference Note 16 "Comanittsiand Contingencies” of the Notes to Consolilateancial Statements in
Part Il, Item 8 of this report.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure.

Not applicable

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The executive officers of Aon, their business eigrare during the last five years, and their agespsitions held are set forth below.

Name Age Position

Gregory C. Case 51 President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Casednee President and Chief Executive Officer of Aon in
April 2005. Prior to joining Aon, Mr. Case was atoer with McKinsey & Company, the international
management consulting firm, for 17 years, mostntgeerving as head of the Financial Services tiRkmc
He previously was responsible for McKinsey's Gldbalrance Practice, and was a member of McKin:
governing Shareholders' Committee. Prior to joiriigKinsey, Mr. Case was with the investment banking
firm of Piper, Jaffray and Hopwood and the FedBemderve Bank of Kansas City.

Christa Davies 42  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offidds. Davies became Executive Vice President —
Global Finance in November 2007. In March 2008, Dlavies assumed the additional role of Chief
Financial Officer. Prior to joining Aon, Ms. Davisgrved for 5 years in various capacities at Miaftos
Corporation, an international software company,tmesently serving as Chief Financial Officer ogth
Platform and Services Division. Before joining Mispft in 2002, Ms. Davies served at ninemsn, an
Australian joint venture with Microsoft.

Gregory J. Besio 56  Executive Vice President and Chief Human ResouBféiser. Mr. Besio currently serves as Executive
Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officéaf. Prior to serving is this role, Mr. Besio sedv
as Aon's Chief Administrative Officer and Head dbkal Strategy, and also served as the Executive
Integration Leader for Aon Hewitt following the agsjtion of Hewitt Associates, Inc. Prior to joigirion
in May 2007, Mr. Besio held a variety of senior ifioss in strategy and operations at Motorola.

Peter Lieb 58 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and ComnB&cretary. Mr. Lieb was named Aon's Executive
Vice President and General Counsel in July 2009CGompany Secretary in November 2013. Prior to
joining Aon, Mr. Lieb served as Senior Vice Presiflé&eneral Counsel and Secretary of NCR
Corporation, a technology company focused on a&sbsimtd self-service solutions, from May 2006 tg Jul
2009, and as Senior Vice President, General CoamskSecretary of Symbol Technologies, Inc. from
October 2003 to February 2006. From October 199 dimber 2003, Mr. Lieb served in various senior
legal positions at International Paper Companyluttiog Vice President and Deputy General Counsel.
Earlier in his career, Mr. Lieb served as a lawlcte the Honorable Warren E. Burger, Chief Justitthe
United States.

Stephen P. McGill 56  Group President, Aon plc and Chairman and Chiethtee Officer, Risk Solutions. Mr. McGill joined
Aon in May 2005 as Chief Executive Officer of thiolBal Large Corporate business unit, which is now
part of Aon Global, and was named Chief Executifiicér of Aon Risk Services Americas in January
2006 prior to being named to his current positimfrébruary 2008 and as Group President in May 2012.
Previously, Mr. McGill served as Chief Executivefiddr of Jardine Lloyd Thompson Group plc.

Laurel Meissner 56  Senior Vice President and Global Controller. Msiddeer joined Aon in February 2009, and was
appointed Senior Vice President and Global Cordra@hd designated as Aon's principal accountinigenff
in March 2009. Prior to joining Aon, Ms. Meissnerged from July 2008 through January 2009 as Seniol
Vice President, Finance, Chief Accounting OfficéMmtorola, Inc., an international communications
company. Ms. Meissner joined Motorola in 2000 a@ked in various senior financial positions, inéhgl
Corporate Vice President, Finance, Chief Accoun@fficer.

Kristi A. Savacool 54  Chief Executive Officer, Aon Hewitt. Ms. Savacooirjed Aon upon the completion of the merger betwee
Aon and Hewitt Associates, Inc. and was hamed (xetcutive Officer of Aon Hewitt in February 2012.
Prior to assuming this role, Ms. Savacool serve@@€hief Executive Officer of Aon Hewitt from May
2011 and, prior to that, Chief Executive OfficerBe#nefits Administration for Aon Hewitt. At Hewitt,
Ms. Savacool served in several senior executivéipos, including Senior Vice President, Total Bine
Administration Outsourcing. Ms. Savacool joined htévm July 2005. Prior to July 2005, Ms. Savacool
held a number of executive management positionsi@tBoeing Company since 1985.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities.

Aon's Class A Ordinary Shares, $0.01 nominal vakreshare, are traded on the New York Stock Exalaag hereby incorporate by
reference the "Dividends paid per share" and "Raoge" data in Note 19 "Quarterly Financial Daiththe Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part I, Item 8 of this report.

We have approximately 269 holders of record of@laiss A Ordinary Shares as of January 31, 2014 .

We hereby incorporate by reference Note 11, "Sluddelns’ Equity" of the Notes to Consolidated FinahStatements in Part Il, ltem 8
this report.

The following information relates to the repurctaséequity securities by Aon or any affiliated gliaser during any month within the
fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by tlejsart:

Total Number of Shares Maximum Dollar Value of
Purchased as Part of Publicly Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Announced Plans or Purchased Under the Plans or
Period Purchased Share (1) Programs Programs (1) (2)

10/1/13 — 10/31/13 126,90 $ 78.7¢ 126,90 $ 2,940,498,87
11/1/13 — 11/30/13 838,58 79.7¢ 838,58 2,873,588,14
12/1/13 — 12/31/13 — — — 2,873,588,14
96548 3 79.6¢ 965,48° g 2,873,588,14

(1) Does not include commissions paid to repurchasees

(2) In April 2012, our Board of Directors auth@tza share repurchase program under which up bdl& of Class A Ordinary Shares
were authorized to be repurchased from time to tieygending on market conditions or other factorsubh open market or privately
negotiated transactions, and will be funded fromilable capital. In 2013 , we repurchased 16.8ionilshares at an average price per
share of $65.65 for a total cost of $1.1 billiohhe remaining authorized amount for share re@selunder the 2012 Share Repurc
Program is $2.9 billion .

Information relating to the compensation plans undgch equity securities of Aon are authorizedifsuance is set forth under Part lI,
Item 12 "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiak@rs and Management and Related Stockholder Matiéthis report and is incorporat
herein by reference.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Selected Financial Data

(millions except shareholders, employees and perafe data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Income Statement Data
Commissions, fees and other $ 11,78 $ 1147¢ $ 11,23t $ 8451 $ 7,521
Fiduciary investment income 28 38 52 55 74
Total revenue $ 1181 $ 1151« $ 11,28 $ 851 $ 7,59¢
Income from continuing operations $ 1,148 $ 1,02C $ 1,01C $ 7C $ 681
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (1) (4) — — — 27) 111
Net income 1,14¢ 1,02( 1,01( 73z 792z
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingietst 35 27 31 26 45
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 1,112 $ 99 $ 97¢ $ 70€  $ 747
Basic Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to An Shareholders
Continuing operations $ 357 $ 3.0z $ 29z % 25C $ 2.2t
Discontinued operations (4) — — — (0.09) 0.3¢
Net income $ 357 % 3.0z $ 29z % 241 % 2.6¢
Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable toAon Shareholders
Continuing operations $ 35 % 29¢ % 2871 $ 24¢ 3 2.1¢
Discontinued operations (4) — — — (0.09) 0.3¢
Net income $ SIS 29¢ % 281 % 231 % 2.57
Balance Sheet Data
Fiduciary assets (2) $ 11870 $ 12,21« $ 10,83t $ 10,060 $ 10,83t
Intangible assets including goodwill (3) 11,57¢ 11,91¢ 12,04¢ 12,25¢ 6,86¢
Total assets 30,25: 30,48¢ 29,55:; 28,98: 22,95¢
Long-term debt 3,68¢ 3,71 4,15¢% 4,01« 1,99¢
Total equity 8,19t 7,80% 8,12( 8,30¢ 5,431
Class A Ordinary Shares and Other Data
Dividends paid per share $ 0.6 $ 06z $ 06 $ 0.6C $ 0.6(
Price range:
High 84.3: 57.9: 54.5¢ 46.2¢ 46.1¢
Low 54.6¢ 45.0¢ 39.6¢ 35.1( 34.8]
At year-end:
Market price $ 83.8¢ % 5561 $ 46.8( $ 46.01 % 38.3¢
Common shareholders 281 24C 8,101 9,31¢ 9,88t
Shares outstanding 300.7 310.¢ 324.¢ 332.% 266.2
Number of employees 65,547 64,72¢ 62,44! 59,10( 36,20(

(1) we have sold certain businesses whose resultsiesrereclassified as discontinued operations, diuAlS Management Corporation and our P&C Opergti(both
sold in 2009) and CICA and Sterling Life Insura@@mpany (both sold in 2008).

(2) Represents insurance premiums receivables fromtsles well as cash and investments held in aifiducapacity
(3) In 2010, we completed the acquisition of Hewittctmnection with the acquisition, we recorded igtae assets, including goodwill, of $5.7 billi

(4) For the years ended December 31, 2012, and 201draselated to discontinued operations have besuded in Other income to conform to amounts idetliin the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 104&ese amounts in the years ended December 32,&2@112011, which were historically included indne (loss)
from discontinued operations, have been reclassifieonform with current presentation. The amouettassified were $1 million loss and $4 milliowome for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respgcfinah Income (loss) from discontinued operatitm©ther income. For the years ended December(1 and
2009, amounts related to discontinued operatiomsirein Income (loss) from discontinued operatiasshey are more meaningful to the presentati@oofinuing
operations in those years.
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Item 7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF 2013 FINANCIAL RESULTS

During 2013, we continued to face certain headsintpacting our business. In our Risk Solutionsvsag, these headwinds included
economic weakness in continental Europe and afgignt decline in investment income due to loweasrsiterm interest rates globally. In our
HR Solutions segment, these headwinds include@ pompression in our benefits administration bissrend competitive pressures across
continental Europe.

The following is a summary of our 2013 financiadults:

Revenue increased $301 million , or 3% , comgawethe prior year to $11.8 billion in 2088e primarily to solid organic reven
growth of 3% in the Risk Solutions segment and 8% e HR Solutions segment, and a 1% increasenmmissions and fees
resulting from acquisitions, net of divestitureartfally offset by a 1% unfavorable impact fromdin currency translation. The
increase in revenue was driven by strong manageaofiéneé renewal book portfolio and strong new basigrowth across our
Retall business, as well as solid growth in oumBeiance business, and new client wins in our HRRti®as segment with notak
growth in heath care exchanges.

Operating expenses increased $226 million %6r, 2ompared to the prior year to $10.1 billior261.3 due primarily to an
increase in expense associated with organic revgraveth of 3% , an increase in restructuring charmgfeb76 million and $20
million of legacy, non-recurring claims handlingaches, partially offset by lower intangible assebdization expenses of $28
million , a decrease in headquarters relocatiotsanis$19 million, benefits achieved from the restaring plans and a $43.5
million favorable impact from settlement of a naturring, one-time legal matter.

Operating margin increased to 14.1% in 2013 fid®% in 2012 . The increase in operating mangimfthe prior year is
primarily related to organic revenue growth of 3#lecreased intangible asset amortization, and teehieved from the
restructuring plans. Risk Solutions operating nraigcreased to 19.8% in 2013 from 19.6% in 2012.$tRutions operating
margin increased to 7.8% in 2013 from 7.4% in 2012.

Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $1.1 billion , an increase of $120 million , or 12%om $993 million in 2012 .
Diluted earnings per share increased to $3.53 113 2®m $2.99 in 2012.

Cash flows provided by operating activities 4s6 billion in 2013 , an increase of $214 millicor 15% , from $1.4 billion in
2012 , due primarily to growth in net income, sttamorking capital performance, and a decreasesipa contributions,
partially offset by an increase in cash paid foeega Cash flow from operations in 2013 was alsorfably impacted by the $43.5
million settlement of a non-recurring, one-timedematter.

We focus on four key non-GAAP metrics that we cominate to shareholders: grow organically, exparjdsted margins, increase
adjusted diluted earnings per share, and increasectish flow. The following is our measure of perfance against these four metrics for

2013:

Organic revenue growth, a non-GAAP measure fisatbunder the caption "Review of Consolidatedlkes— Organic
Revenue," was 3% in 2013 . Organic revenue groveth dviven by solid growth across our businesséstn Risk and HR
Solutions. In Risk Solutions, organic revenue gtowas driven by strong management of the renewalt portfolio and strong
new business growth across our Retail Businessgli®s growth in treaty placements in Reinsurait&lR Solutions, organic
growth was driven by new client wins in outsourgipgmarily health care exchanges, and solid graaettoss consulting.

Adjusted operating margin, a non-GAAP measuréedimied under the caption "Review of Consolidd&edults — Adjusted
Operating Margin," was 19.0% for Aon overall, 22.586the Risk Solutions segment, and 16.7% forHReSolutions segment in
2013 .1In 2012, adjusted operating margin was%&d Aon overall, 21.7% for the Risk Solutions semt, and 16.6% for the
HR Solutions segment. The increase in adjustedatipgrmargin for the Risk Solutions segment reflestilid organic revenue
growth and restructuring savings, partially offegtan unfavorable impact from foreign currency $tation and a decline in
fiduciary investment income. The increase in adjdstperating margin for the HR Solutions segmeftegts solid organic
revenue growth and restructuring savings, partiafiget by continued investment in long-term growgiportunities.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share from nebine attributable to Aon's shareholders, a non-GA#sure as defined under the
caption "Review of Consolidated Results — Adjudigldited Earnings per Share," was $4.89
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per share in 2013 , an increase of $0.68 per sbhad&% , from $4.21 per share in 2012 . The irsgetemonstrates solid
operational performance and effective capital manent despite a difficult business environmentyels as the impact of $1.1
billion of share repurchases during 2013 .

e Free cash flow, a non-GAAP measure as definelguthe caption "Review of Consolidated Results reeFCash Flow," wa$l.4
billion in 2013, an increase of $254 million ,22% , from $1.2 billion in 2012 . The increasdree cash flow from the prior ye
was driven by strong cash flow from operations hbbillion in 2013 and a 15% , or $40 million cdease in capital
expenditures.

During 2013, we continued to execute against ttegegiic goals of the Redomestication. We belieeeRhdomestication will continue to
strengthen our long term strategy by:

» Enabling Risk Solutions to deliver superior valoetr clients by executing our Aon Broking straty

* Expanding the HR Solutions portfolio penetratiespecially within consulting, which already hasignificant presence in the
U.K. and EMEA,;

» Enhancing our Risk Solutions' relationship withd amtegration into, London marke

» Increasing our connection to emerging marketselkerating our ability to grow there, and furthégning our strategy with
underwriters and carriers who are also targetiegearhigh growth markets;

» Strengthening our international brand awarenesgaaitioning as a global firr

« Advancing our talent strategy through betteredepment, retention and acquisition of professidakent, with a special focus on
London's insurance talent;

«  Optimizing our fiscal planning and capital abidion and reducing our global tax rate in a mainat provides us with the
increased financial flexibility to properly investour growth.

REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
General

In our discussion of operating results, we somegineéer to certain non-GAAP supplemental informatierived from consolidated
financial information specifically related to orgamevenue growth, adjusted operating margin, ddfudiluted earnings per share, free cash
flow, and the impact of foreign exchange rate fhations on operating results.

Organic Revenue

We use supplemental information related to orgeswenue to help us and our investors evaluate bssigrowth from existing
operations. Organic revenue is a non-GAAP measuteeacludes the impact of foreign exchange rateaghs, acquisitions, divestitures,
transfers between business units, fiduciary investrincome, reimbursable expenses, and certairuahitesms. Supplemental information
related to organic revenue growth represents auneast in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and shouldibe/ed in addition to, not instead of,
our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notastineindustry peers provide similar supplementédrimation about their revenue
performance, although they may not make identidplsiments. Reconciliation of this Nn@AAP measure, organic revenue growth percen
to the reported Commissions, fees and other revgraseth percentages, has been provided in the el Segment” caption, below.

Adjusted Operating Margin

We use adjusted operating margin as a non-GAAP unead core operating performance of our Risk Sohg and HR Solutions
segments. Adjusted operating margin excludes tipadtnof certain items, including restructuring des, intangible asset amortization and
headquarters relocation costs. This supplemerftainration related to adjusted operating margineeents a measure not in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, and should be viewed in addition to, instead of, our Consolidated Financial StatemantsNotes thereto.
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A reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to thpaged operating margin is as follows (in millions)

Total Risk HR
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Aon (1) Solutions  Solutions
Revenue — U.S. GAAP $ 11,81 $ 7,78 $ 4,05
Operating income — U.S. GAAP $ 1671 $ 154 9 31¢
Restructuring charges 174 94 80
Intangible asset amortization 39t 11t 28C
Headquarters relocation costs 5 — —
Operating income — as adjusted $ 224t $ 1,74¢ % 67¢
Operating margins — U.S. GAAP 14.1% 19.8% 7.8%
Operating margins — as adjusted 19.(% 22.5% 16.7%
Total Risk HR
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Aon (1) Solutions  Solutions
Revenue — U.S. GAAP $ 1151« $ 7,632 $ 3,92¢
Operating income — U.S. GAAP $ 159% $ 149 % 28¢
Restructuring charges 101 35 66
Intangible asset amortization 427 12¢ 297
Headquarters relocation costs 24 — —
Operating income — as adjusted $ 214 $ 165 % 652
Operating margins — U.S. GAAP 13.9% 19.¢% 7.4%
Operating margins — as adjusted 18.6% 21.7% 16.€%
Total Risk HR
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Aon (1) Solutions  Solutions
Revenue — U.S. GAAP $ 1128 $ 7531 $ 3,781
Operating income — U.S. GAAP $ 159% $ 1417 % 33€
Restructuring charges 11z 65 48
Legacy receivables write-off 18 18 —
Intangible asset amortization 362 12¢ 23¢
Transaction related costs — UK reincorporation 3 — —
Hewitt related costs 47 — 47
Operating income — as adjusted $ 213 $ 1628 9 664
Operating margins — U.S. GAAP 14.1% 18.7% 8.%
Operating margins — as adjusted 19.(% 21.€% 17.€%

(1) Includes unallocated expenses and the elimimatf intersegment revent

Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share

We also use adjusted diluted earnings per shaaehas-GAAP measure of our core operating performaAdjusted diluted earnings per
share excludes the impact of restructuring chaigémgible asset amortization, headquarters réfmcaosts, Hewitt related costs, and other
unusual items, along with related income taxess Shpplemental information related to adjustedteldiearnings per share represents a
measure not in accordance with U.S. GAAP and shbelldiewed in addition to, not instead of, our Giitmted Financial Statements and
Notes theretc
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Reconciliations of this non-GAAP measure to theortga diluted earnings per share are as followsfltions except per share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2013 U.S. GAAP Adjustments As Adjusted
Operating income $ 1,671 $ 574 $ 2,24¢
Interest income 9 — 9
Interest expense (210) — (210
Other income 68 — 68
Income before income taxes 1,53¢ 574 2,112
Income taxes 39C 14€ 53€
Net income 1,14¢ 42¢ 1,57¢
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollinghetsts 35 — 35
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 1,11 $ 42¢ % 1,541
Diluted earnings per share $ 35 % 1.3€ % 4.8¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding — dilute 315.¢ 315.¢ 315.¢
Year Ended December 31, 2012 U.S. GAAP Adjustments As Adjusted
Operating income $ 159 $ 54¢ $ 2,14«
Interest income 10 — 10
Interest expense (22¢) — (228)
Other income 2 2 4
Income before income taxes 1,38( 55C 1,93(
Income taxes 36C 144 504
Net income 1,02( 40€ 1,42¢
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollinghetsts 27 — 27
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 99: % 40€ $ 1,39¢
Diluted earnings per share $ 29¢ % 122 % 4.21
Weighted average common shares outstanding — dilute 332.¢ 332.¢ 332.¢
Year Ended December 31, 2011 U.S. GAAP Adjustments As Adjusted
Operating income $ 159 $ 54 $ 2,13¢
Interest income 18 — 18
Interest expense (24%) — (24%)
Other income 19 19 38
Income before income taxes 1,38¢ 562 1,95(
Income taxes 37¢ 152 531
Net income 1,01( 40¢ 1,41¢
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollinghetsts 31 — 31
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 97¢ $ 40¢ $ 1,38¢
Diluted earnings per share $ 287 $ 1.2C $ 4.07
Weighted average common shares outstanding — dilute 340.¢ 340.¢ 340.¢
Free Cash Flow

We use free cash flow, defined as cash flow praliole operations minus capital expenditures, asna@BAP measure of our core
operating performance. This supplemental infornmatedated to free cash flow represents a measuria mgcordance with U.S. GAAP and
should be viewed in addition to, not instead of, Gonsolidated Financial Statements and Notes tihefée use of this non-GAAP measure
does not imply or represent the residual cash ftovdiscretionary expenditures.
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Reconciliations of this non-GAAP measure to Castvfprovided by operations are as follows (in mikg:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011

Cash flow provided by operations-U.S. GAAP $ 1,63 $ 1,41¢ $ 1,01¢
Less: Capital expenditures (229) (269) (247
Free cash flow $ 1404 $ 1,15C $ 777

Impact of Foreign Exchange Rate Fluctuations

Because we conduct business in more than 120 desyrfioreign exchange rate fluctuations have aifsignt impact on our business. In
comparison to the U.S. dollar, foreign exchange nabvements may be significant and may distort pergod-to-period comparisons of
changes in revenue or pretax income. Thereforgivifinancial statement users meaningful inforeratibout our operations, we have
provided an illustration of the impact of foreignrency exchange rates on our financial results. Methodology used to calculate this impact
isolates the impact of the change in currenciesdet periods by translating last year's revenysgemses and net income, using current year's
foreign exchange rates. Using this illustrative meblogy, currency fluctuations had an unfavoratleact of $0.03, $0.06, and favorable
impact of $0.04 during the years ended Decembe2@13 , 2012, and 2011, respectively, on adjusétdncome per diluted share, when we
translate prior year results at current year engio exchange rates. These translations are pegtbfor comparative and illustrative purposes
only and do not impact the accounting policy orcficees for amounts included in the ConsolidatecR@ial Statements.

Summary of Results

Our consolidated results of operations follow (iiflions):

Years ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011
Revenue:
Commissions, fees and other $ 11,787 $ 1147¢ $ 11,23t
Fiduciary investment income 28 38 52
Total revenue 11,81 11,51 11,28°
Expenses:
Compensation and benefits 6,94¢ 6,70¢ 6,561
Other general expenses 3,19¢ 3,20¢ 3,12¢
Total operating expenses 10,14« 9,91¢ 9,691
Operating income 1,671 1,59¢ 1,59¢
Interest income 9 10 18
Interest expense (210 (22¢) (24%)
Other income 68 2 18
Income before income taxes 1,53¢ 1,38( 1,38¢
Income taxes 39C 36C 37¢
Net income 1,14¢ 1,02( 1,01(
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingheists 35 27 31
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 1,11 $ 99: $ 97¢

Consolidated Results for 2013 Compared to 2012
Revenue

Revenue increased by $301 million , or 3% , to $hlllion in 2013, compared to $11.5 billion in22D. The increase was driven by
organic revenue growth of 3% in the Risk Solutisegment and 3% in the HR Solutions segment. Organisth in the Risk Solutions
segment was driven by solid growth across bothiRatd Reinsurance. Strong growth in Latin Amer®aljd new business growth in U.S.
Retail and strong management of the renewal bodigtio across the region drove organic revenuenginan the Americas. International
organic revenue growth was driven by strong grawtAsia, emerging markets and New Zealand. Reimagarganic growth was driven by
growth in international treaty placements. Orgagrimwth in the HR Solutions segment was driven bgrg growth in health care exchanges,
growth in investment and compensation consultimystrong growth in health care exchanges, modesitgrin benefits administration and
HR BPO, partially offset by a modest decline inuacial services in retirement consulting.
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Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and benefits increased $236 millmm4% , compared to 2012 . The increase was dilyesm increase in expense
associated with 3% organic revenue growth, paytiafiset by the impact of realization of benefitsrh restructuring initiatives.

Other General Expenses

Other general expenses remained flat in 2013 cardpar2012 due largely to a decrease in intangibilertization of $28 million ,
decreased costs related to the headquarters rietocditb19 million, a $43.5 million favorable imp&com settlement of a non-recurring one-
time legal matter and restructuring savings, piytafset by a $76 million increase in formal nestturing costs and $20 million of legacy,
non-recurring claims handling charges.

Interest Income

Interest income represents income earned on opgredish balances and other income-producing inwesgsnit does not include interest
earned on funds held on behalf of clients. Inteiresime decreased $1 million , or 10% , from 20#Re to lower average interest rates glol
and lower average cash balances.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense, which represents the cost ofvoddwide debt obligations, decreased $18 milli@n 8% , from 2012 . The decrease in
interest expense reflects a decline in the avertatgeon total debt outstanding.

Other Income

Other income increased $66 million from $2 milliori2012 to $68 million in 2013 . Other income inl30ncludes $28 million in gains
on investments, equity earnings of $20 millionrefgn exchange gains of $13 million , and $10 wrillin gains on disposal of businesses,
partially offset by a $10 million loss from deriwggs. Other income in 2012 includes equity earnimig8l3 million and $7 million in gains on
investments, partially offset by foreign exchanggsks of $19 million .

Income before | ncome Taxes
Income before income taxes was $1.5 billion in 2G8increase of $158 million , or 11% , from $hikion in 2012 .
Income Taxes

The effective tax rate on net income was 25.4%0ih32and 26.1% in 2012 . The 2013 rate reflectamediscrete tax adjustments and
changes in the geographic distribution of incomee 2012 rate reflects the release of a valuatilmavahce relating to foreign tax credits and
net operating losses, partially offset by the intpd@ U.K. tax rate change. The effective tax ratexpected to decrease over time.

Net I ncome

Net income increased to $1.1 billion ( $3.53 ditlteet income per share) in 2013 , compared to §illion ( $2.99diluted net income p
share) in 2012 .

Consolidated Results for 2012 Compared to 2011
Revenue

Revenue increased by $227 million, or 2%, to $blll®n in 2012, compared to $11.3 billion in 20The increase was driven by
organic revenue growth of 4% for both the Risk 8ohs and HR Solutions segments. Organic growthénRisk Solutions segment was dri
by solid growth across all regions, including sggavew business growth for U.S. retail and continerechagement of the renewal book portf
in the Americas. International organic revenue ghowas driven by strong growth in Asia and in enmgggnarkets, as well as modest growth
in continental Europe. Reinsurance organic growdl driven by strong growth across global treatiyedr by favorable pricing in the netarm
and new business growth, partially offset by aificgmt decline in capital market transactions adgisory business. Organic growth in the
Solutions segment was driven by growth in investneensulting, pension administration services,naénd rewards, and communications



consulting, as well as new client wins in HR BP@rtjally offset by a modest decline in benefits austration.
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Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and benefits increased $142 millio2%, compared to 2011. The increase was drivefbyrganic revenue growth,
partially offset by the impact of realization ofrtedits from restructuring initiatives.

Other General Expenses

Other general expenses increased by $85 millioB%arin 2012 compared to 2011. The increase wagsadgely to an increase in
intangible amortization of $61 million and increds®sts related to the headquarters relocatiodbfdillion. These increased costs were
partially offset by lower restructuring chargespa® million and restructuring savings.

Interest Income

Interest income represents income earned on opgredish balances and other income-producing inwesgsnit does not include interest
earned on funds held on behalf of clients. Inteiresime decreased $8 million, or 44%, from 201% tulower average interest rates globally.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense, which represents the cost ofvoddwide debt obligations, decreased $17 milli@n7%, from 2011. The decrease was
due primarily to lower average debt outstandingrduthe year, as well as the use of commercial ppmeet short-term working capital
needs.

Other Income

Other income in 2012 of $2 million decreased $1lfionifrom 2011. The decrease in income was thaltes foreign exchange gains
(losses) that were $26 million of additional los2D12 and an $11 million decrease in gains relatéangterm investments, partially offset
$6 million of additional income from equity methoestments and $19 million loss on extinguishnardebt in 2011.

Income before | ncome Taxes
Income before income taxes was $1.4 billion, fanhpared to $1.4 billion in 2011.
Income Taxes

The effective tax rate on income was 26.1% in 281@27.3% in 2011. The 2012 rate reflects the sele&a valuation allowance
relating to foreign tax credits and net operatiogsks, partially offset by the impact of a U.K. tate change. The 2011 rate reflects the releas
of a valuation allowance relating to foreign tardits offset partially by net unfavorable defertax adjustments in non-U.S. jurisdictions
including the impact of a U.K. tax rate change.

Net I ncome

Net income remained at $1.0 billion ($2.99 dilutedd income per share) in 2012 compared to $1.@bi{$2.87 diluted net income per
share) in 2011.

Restructuring Initiatives
Aon Hewitt Restructuring Plan

On October 14, 2010, we announced a global resttingt plan in connection with the acquisition ofidtt. The Aon Hewitt Plan is
intended to streamline operations across the cadbiton Hewitt organization, the Health & Benefitganization and shared services and
facility rationalization across the company. ThenAdewitt Plan included approximately 2,960 job éfiations. The Aon Hewitt Plan resulted
in cumulative costs of $429 million through the exidhe plan, which closed in 2013. The costs irediconsisted of approximately $266
million in employee termination costs and approxiha$163 million in real estate rationalizatiorr@ss the company.

For the $429 million of total costs, approximat$ly74 million , $98 million , and $105 million weirgcurred in 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively. Charges related to the restructusiegncluded in Compensation and benefits and Q@f@eeral expenses in the accompanying



Consolidated Statements of Income. The plan waedl®ecember 2013.
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The following summarizes the restructuring andteslacosts, by type, that were incurred relatethéoXon Hewitt Plan (in millions):

Completed Plan

2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
Workforce reduction $ 49 $ 64 $ 74 $ 79 % 26€
Lease consolidation 3 32 18 83 13€
Asset impairments — 7 4 7 18
Other costs associated with restructuring (2) — 2 2 5 9
Total restructuring and related expenses $ 52 $ 10t $ 98 $ 174 $ 42¢

The following summarizes the restructuring andtesleexpenses for both reportable segments thatineweed related to the Aon Hewv
Plan (in millions):

Completed Plan

2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
HR Solutions $ 52 $ 4 $ 66 $ 80 % 247
Risk Solutions — 56 32 94 182
Total restructuring and related expenses $ 52 $ 10t % 98 $ 174 $ 42¢

(1) Costs included in the Risk Solutions segmeatdae to the inclusion of the health and benefitssulting business in the Risk
Solutions segment, which was transferred from HRitBms to Risk Solutions effective January 1, 20@8sts incurred in 2011 in the
HR Solutions segment of $41 million related to liealth and benefits consulting business have besassified and presented in the
Risk Solutions segment.

We estimate that we realized approximately $32%aniland $236 million of cost savings before anpvestment in 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Approximately $260 million and $69Imn of the costs savings before reinvestmentdh®was realized in the HR Solutions
segment and Risk Solutions segment, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Liquidity
Executive Summary

We believe that our balance sheet and strong ¢astpfovide us with financial flexibility to createng-term value for our shareholders.
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flow fraperations, available cash reserves and debtitgp&ailable under various credit faciliti
Our primary uses of liquidity are operating expensapital expenditures, acquisitions, share réf@ses, restructuring initiatives, funding
pension obligations and shareholder dividends.

Cash on our balance sheet includes funds availabgeneral corporate purposes, as well as amoastscted as to their use. Funds helc
on behalf of clients in a fiduciary capacity argregated and shown together with uncollected imagg@remiums in Fiduciary assets in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, wittorresponding amount in Fiduciary liabilitiesd#&giary funds cannot be used for general
corporate purposes, and are not a source of ligufioli us.

Cash and cash equivalents and Short-term invessmareased $363 million to $1.0 billion in 201Buring 2013 , cash flow from
operating activities increased $214 million to $hildon . Additional sources of funds in 2013 inded $93 million in sales of long-term
investments and issuance of debt net of net ofyrapats of $227 million . The primary uses of fuml2013 included share repurchases of
$1.1 billion , cash contributions to our major defil benefit plans of $523 million, capital expeadis of $229 million , dividends paid to
shareholders of $212 million , and net purchaseshoft term investments of $174 million .

Our investment grade rating is important to ussfmumber of reasons, the most important of whigiréserving our financial flexibility.
If our credit ratings were downgraded to below Btweent grade, the interest expense on any outsigubdiances on our credit facilities would
increase and we could incur additional requestpénsion contributions. To manage unforeseen gingtwe have committed credit lines of
approximately $1.3 billion and we manage our bussrte ensure we maintain our current investmertdegratings. At December 31, 2013 , we
had no borrowings on these credit lines.
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities in 201@&eased $214 million to $1.6 billion compared 1o4$billion in 2012 . The primary
driver of the cash provided by operating activitiess net income of $1.1 billion and adjustmentsiam-cash items of $856 million , primarily
related to depreciation, amortization, and stockpensation expense. These items were partiallgiofis pension contributions of $523
million. Net cash provided by operating activitigas favorably impacted by a $43.5 million settletr@ra non-recurring, one-time legal
matter. Pension contributions during 2013 were $6#Bon compared to $638 million in 2012 . In 2014e expect to contribute $385 million
to our pension plans, with the majority attribugatsl non-U.S. pension plans, which are subjechémges in foreign exchange rates. In 2014 ,
we also expect to have cash payments related troicasing plans of $92 million .

We expect cash generated by operations for 20b8 sufficient to service our debt and contractinipations, fund the cash
requirements of our restructuring programs, finaceggital expenditures, continue purchases of sharésr our share repurchase program, ant
continue to pay dividends to our shareholdersh@lgh cash from operations is expected to be geiftico service these obligations, we have
the ability to borrow under our credit facilities &ccommodate any timing differences in cash flow& have committed credit facilities of
approximately $1.3 billion , of which all was aable at December 31, 2013 . We can access thebtes on a same day or next day basis.
Additionally, under current market conditions, wadibve that we could access capital markets toimbebt financing for longer-term funding,
if needed.

Investing Activities

Cash flow used for investing activities in 2013 889 million . The primary drivers of the cashwilased for investing activities were
capital expenditures of $229 million , net purclsagkshort term investments of $174 million , asifions of businesses, net of cash acquired
of $54 million , partially offset by sales of longrm investments of $93 million .

Cash flow provided by investing activities in 204as $177 million . The primary drivers of the célshw provided byinvesting activitie:
were sales of long term investments for $178 nmilkmd net sales of short term investments for $4dlon, partially offset by acquisitions of
$160 million, and capital expenditures of $269 ol

Cash flow used for investing activities in 2011 486 million . The primary drivers of the cashwilased for investing activities were
acquisitions of $97 million, primarily related tioet acquisition of Glenrand, net purchases of nduefary short-term investments for
$8 million, and capital expenditures of $241 milljgartially offset by the sale of businesses ®n#llion, consisting of proceeds from several
small dispositions, and sales, net of purchasdsngfterm investments for $160 million.

Financing Activities

Cash flow used for financing activities during 2048s $1.0 billion . The primary drivers of the cdlslwv used for financing activities
were share repurchases of $1.1 billion and dividgradd to shareholders of $212 million , partiaifiset by issuances of debt, net of
repayments, of $227 million and proceeds from tterase of share options and issuance of sharehased through the employee stock
purchase plan of $98 million .

Cash flow used for financing activities during 2042s $1.6 billion . The primary drivers of the cdlslw used for financing activities
were share repurchases of $1.1 billion and dividgraid to shareholders of $204 million, partialfiset by issuances of debt, net of
repayments, of $344 million and proceeds from tter@se of share options and issuance of sharebased through the employee stock
purchase plan of $118 million.

Cash flow used for financing activities during 2044s $896 million . The primary drivers of the céishv used for financing activities
were share repurchases of $828 million and divideyadd to shareholders of $200 million, and dividkepaid to, and purchase of shares from
non-controlling interests were $54 million, patijadffset by proceeds from the exercise of shat@éap and issuance of shares purchased
through the employee stock purchase plan of $20iomi

Cash and | nvestments

At December 31, 2013, our cash and cash equiwatsmd short-term investments were $1.0 billion inenease of $363 million
compared to the balance of $637 million as of Ddmem31, 2012 . Of the total balance as of Decer@beR013 , $214 milliomvas restricted ¢
to its use, which was comprised of $126 millioroperating funds in the U.K. as required by the F&W $88 million held as collateral for
various business purposes. At December 31, 20536 #illion of cash and cash equivalents and steont investments were held in the U.S.
and $484 million were held in other countries. I total balance as of December 31, 2012 , $2d@milas restricted as to its use, which
was comprised of $124 million of operating fundsha U.K. as required by the FCA and $76 milliofdress collateral for various business
purposes. At December 31, 2012, $138 milliorcagh and cash equivalents and short-term invessmere held in the U.S. and $499



million was held in
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other countries. Due to differences in tax rates,repatriation of funds from certain countriewitite U.S., if repatriated, could have an
unfavorable tax impact.

In our capacity as an insurance broker or agentodlect premiums from insureds and, after dedgotiar commission, remit the
premiums to the respective insurance underwriter.ai§o collect claims or refunds from underwriensbehalf of insureds, which are then
returned to the insureds. Unremitted insurance pras and claims are held by us in a fiduciary c#pa addition, some of our outsourcing
agreements require us to hold funds on behalfientd to pay obligations on their behalf. The lewv& fiduciary assets and liabilities can
fluctuate significantly, depending on when we odildne premiums, claims and refunds, make paynteniaderwriters and insureds, collect
funds from clients and make payments on their ighatl foreign currency movements. Fiduciary asdesause of their nature, are require
be invested in very liquid securities with highbted, credit-worthy financial institutions. In dDonsolidated Statements of Financial Position
the amount we report for Fiduciary assets and Fadydiabilities are equal. Our Fiduciary assetduded cash and investments of $3.8 billion
and $4.0 billion and fiduciary receivables of $Billion and $8.2 billion at December 31, 2013 afd 2, respectively. While we earn
investment income on the fiduciary assets heldshand investments, the cash and investmentotaoswvned by us, and cannot be used for
general corporate purposes.

As disclosed in Note 15 "Fair Value MeasurementsRinancial Instruments” of the Notes to ConsobddEinancial Statements, the
majority of our investments carried at fair value emoney market funds. Money market funds are @aiat cost as an approximation of fair
value. Consistent with market convention, we comisabst a practical and expedient measure of &irev These money market funds are held
throughout the world with various financial institins. We do not believe that there are any mditqeidity issues that would materially imp:
the fair value of these investments.

As of December 31, 2013, our investments in manayket funds and highly liquid debt instruments hddir value of $2.1 billion and
are reported as Short-term investments or Fidu@asgts in the Consolidated Statements of FinaRosition depending on their nature and
initial maturity.

The following table summarizes our Fiduciary asseis non-fiduciary Cash and cash equivalents awod-$rm investments as of
December 31, 2013 (in millions):

Statement of Financial Position Classification

Cash and Cash Short-term Fiduciary

Asset Type Equivalents Investments Assets Total
Certificates of deposit, bank deposits or time d&po $ 477 3 — 222 $ 2,69¢
Money market funds — 528 1,531 2,05¢
Highly liquid debt instruments — — 25 25
Other investments due within one year — — — —
Cash and investments 477 523 3,77¢ 4,77¢
Fiduciary receivables — — 8,09: 8,09:
Total $ 477 % 52 % 11,87: $ 12,87:
Share Repurchase Program

In April 2012, our Board of Directors authorizedteare repurchase program under which up to $9hitf Class A Ordinary Shares may
be repurchased ("2012 Share Repurchase Programderithis program, shares may be repurchased thittiegopen market or in privately
negotiated transactions, from time to time, basegrevailing market conditions, and will be fundeain available capital.

During 2013, the Company repurchased 16.8 millshrares at an average price per share of $6®wi6& tbtal cost of $1.1 billion under
the 2012 Share Repurchase Program. During 20E2Géimpany repurchased 21.6 million shares at arageerice per share of $52.16 for a
total cost of $1.1 billion under the 2012 Share iRepase Program and the previously completed 2640eSRepurchase Program. The
remaining authorized amount for share repurchaderuhe 2012 Share Repurchase Program is appr@iim@g.9 billion. Since the inceptio
of the 2012 Share Repurchase Program, we reputiastal of 36.3 million shares for an aggregatst of $2.1 billion .

For information regarding share repurchases madagithe fourth quarter of 2012, see Item 5 — "Maror Registrant's Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer lfages of Equity Securities" as previously described
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Dividends

During 2013, 2012, and 2011 , we paid dividemi®ar Class A Ordinary Shares of $212 million , $2@illion , and $200 million,
respectively. Dividends paid per Class A Ordinainai® were $0.68 , $0.62 , and $0.60 for the yeate@December 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011 , respectively.

Redomestication

As a U.K. incorporated company, we must have "ittistable reserves” to make share repurchases adip@agnds to shareholders.
Distributable reserves may be created through dheiregs of the U.K. parent company and, amongdratiethods, through a reduction in sl
capital approved by the English Companies Coustributable reserves are not linked to a U.S. GA&pdbrted amount (e.g., retained
earnings). On April 4, 2012, we received approwaiT the English Companies Court to reduce our shmium and in connection with that
approval, recognized distributable reserves iratheunt of $8.0 billion. As of December 31, 2013 20d2, we had distributable reserves of
$5.9 billion and $7.0 billion, respectively.

Borrowings

Total debt at December 31, 2013 was $4.4 billimhich represents an increase of $224 million comgbéo December 31, 2012 . During
2013, the €500 million ( $685 million ) debt seties due July 2014 were classified as Short-terbt died current portion of long-term debt in
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Posit®tha date of maturity is less than one year.

On March 8, 2013, we issued $90 million in aggregatncipal amount of 4.250% Notes Due 2042.

On May 21, 2013, we issued $250 million aggregaitecipal amount of 4.45% Notes Due 2043. The 4.488tes Due 2043 were issued
by Aon plc and fully and unconditionally guarantdsydAon Corporation. We used the proceeds of thaaisce to repay commercial paper
borrowings and for general corporate purposes.

On November 21, 2013, the Company issued $350amilli aggregate principal amount of 4.00% Notes 2Q@3. The 4.00% Notes D
2023 were issued by Aon plc and fully and uncooddily guaranteed by Aon Corporation. The Compaseduthe proceeds of the issuance to
repay commercial paper borrowings and for genenglarate purposes.

Our total debt as a percentage of total capitébatable to Aon shareholders was 35.0% at botreBer 31, 2013 and December 31,
2012.

Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2013, we have a five-year $400aniunsecured revolving credit facility in the USU.S. Facility") that expires in
2017. The U.S. facility is for general corporategmses, including commercial paper support. Adddlty, we have a five-year € 650 million
( $890 million at December 31, 2013 exchange fated Facility available, which expires in Octob&18. At December 31, 2013, we had no
borrowings under either of these credit facilities.

On April 29, 2013, we amended our Euro Facilityesgnent to add Aon plc as an additional borrower.

For both our U.S. Facility and Euro Facility, teotmost significant covenants require us to maiégaratio of consolidated EBITDA
(earnings before interest, taxes, depreciationaanalrtization), adjusted for Hewitt related trangacttosts and up to $50 million in non-
recurring cash charges ("Adjusted EBITDA") to cdigated interest expense and a ratio of consolildebt to Adjusted EBITDA. For both
facilities, the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to consadited interest expense must be at least 4 to thEdturo Facility, the ratio of consolidated
debt to Adjusted EBITDA must not exceed 3 to 1. therU.S. Facility, the ratio of consolidated debAdjusted EBITDA must not exceed the
lower of (a) 3.25 to 1.00 or (b) the greater of3(i)0 to 1.00 or (ii) the lowest ratio of consotieth debt to Adjusted EBITDA then set forth in
the Euro Facility or Aon's $450 million Term Loaraddity. We were in compliance with these and #flev covenants during 2013 .

Shelf Registration Statement

On August 31, 2012, we filed a shelf registratitatament with the SEC, registering the offer arld am time to time of an
indeterminate amount of, among other securitielst, decurities, preference shares, Class A OrdiSheyes and convertible securities. The
availability of any potential liquidity for thesgges of securities is dependent on investor denmraadket conditions and other factors. Our
March 2013 offering of $90 million of 4.25% Notesi®2042, May 2013 offering of $250 million of 4.4946tes Due 2043, and November
2013 offering of $350 million of 4.00% Notes Due22Qutilized this registration statement.
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Rating Agency Ratings

The major rating agencies' ratings of our debtedirérary 18, 2014 appear in the table below.

Ratings
Senior Commercial
Long-term Debt Paper Outlook
Standard & Poor's A- A-2 Stable
Moody's Investor Services Baa2 pP-2 Positive
Fitch, Inc. BBB+ F-2 Stable

During 2013, Standard & Poor's upgraded their gatihour senior long-term debt from BBB+ to A-. Atidnally, Moody's Investor
Services changed their outlook from stable to pasitA downgrade in the credit ratings of our semiebt and commercial paper would
increase our borrowing costs, reduce or eliminateagcess to capital, reduce our financial flekigiincrease our commercial paper interest
rates or possibly restrict our access to the comialgraper market altogether, or may impact fupersion contribution requirements.

Letters of Credit and Other Guarantees

We had total letters of credit ("LOCs") outstandfogapproximately $71 million at December 31, 20t®mpared to $74 million at
December 31, 2012 . These letters of credit cdwebeneficiaries related to certain of our U.S. @adadian non-qualified pension plan
schemes and secure deductible retentions for onnveavkers compensation program. We also have iss@éik to cover contingent payments
for taxes and other business obligations to thindi@s, and other guarantees for miscellaneousopegat our international subsidiaries.

We have certain contractual contingent guarant@egrémium payments owed by clients to certainriasce companies. Costs
associated with these guarantees, to the extemtadde and probable, are provided in our allowdonceloubtful accounts. The maximum
exposure with respect to such contractual contingearantees was approximately $98 million at Ddzem31, 2013 compared to $104 million
at December 31, 2012 .

Adequacy of Liquidity Sources

We believe that cash flows from operations andlaluks credit facilities will be sufficient to meeurr liquidity needs, including principal
and interest payments on debt obligations, capipénditures, pension contributions, cash restringficosts, and anticipated working capital
requirements, for the foreseeable future. We ddawe exposure related to off balance sheet amaaiges. Our cash flows from operations,
borrowing availability and overall liquidity arelsject to risks and uncertainties. See Item 1, ‘imf@mtion Concerning Forward-Looking
Statements" and Item 1A, "Risk Factors."

Contractual Obligations

Summarized in the table below are our contracthhdjations and commitments as of December 31, ZBiRhillions):

Payments due in

2015 - 2017 — 2019 and
2014 2016 2018 beyond Total
Short- and long-term borrowings $ 702 $ 1,11¢ % 35¢ $ 2211 $ 4,38¢
Interest expense on debt 224 33€ 28¢ 1,44( 2,28:
Operating leases 40¢ 70& 537 903 2,55¢
Pension and other postretirement benefit plana}L) ( 373 623 46% 657 2,11¢
Purchase obligations (3) (4) (5) 36¢ 317 112 122 922
Insurance premiums payable 11,87: — — — 11,87:

$ 1394¢ $ 310 $ 1,752 $ 533« $ 24,13t

(1) Pension and other postretirement benefit plaigations include estimates of our minimum furgdiequirements, pursuant to ERISA
and other regulations and minimum funding requinet®@greed with the trustees of our U.K. pensiamgl Additional amounts may
be agreed to with, or required by, the U.K. pengitam trustees. Nonqualified pension and otherrptisgment benefit obligations are
based on estimated future benefit payments. Wemeke additional discretionary contributions.
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(2) In 2013, our principal U.K subsidiary agreeithvihe trustees of one of the U.K. plans to cdmiié an average of$11 million per year
to that pension plan for the next three years.tfiees of the plan have certain rights to reqtiedgtour U.K. subsidiary advance an
amount equal to an actuarially determined windipgdgficit. As of December 31, 2013 , the estimatétting-up deficit was
£150 million ($243 million). The trustees of thaplhave accepted in practice the agreeon schedule of contributions detailed at
and have not requested the winding-up deficit bd. pa

(3) Purchase obligations are defined as agreen@pisrchase goods and services that are enfoecaabllegally binding on us, and that
specifies all significant terms, including whatdsbe purchased, at what price and the approxitirateg of the transaction. Most of
our purchase obligations are related to purchals@dormation technology services or other sengoatracts.

(4) Excludes $34 million of unfunded commitmergkated to an investment in a limited partnership tuour inability to reasonably
estimate the period(s) when the limited partnershibrequest funding.

(5) Excludes $164 million of liabilities for undam tax positions due to our inability to reasdgyadstimate the period(s) when cash
settlements will be made.

Financial Condition

At December 31, 2013, our net assets of $8.Dhillirepresenting total assets minus total liabdjtincreased from $7.8 billion at
December 31, 2012 . The increase was due printarijet income of $1.1 billion for the year endedc:Bber 31, 2013 , a decrease in
Accumulated other comprehensive loss of $236 millielated primarily to a decrease in the postegtent benefit obligation, partially offset

by share repurchases of $1.1 billion and dividesfd&212 million . Working capital decreased by $hilion from $1.0 billion at December
31, 2012 to $919 million at December 31, 2013 .

Equity

Equity at December 31, 2013 was $8.2 billion ,razréase of $390 million from December 31, 2012e Herease resulted primarily
from Net income of $1.1 billion , a decrease in dowilated other comprehensive loss of $236 millipartially offset by share repurchases of
$1.1 billion and $212 million of dividends to shiaotders.

The $236 million decrease in Accumulated other camensive loss from December 31, 2012 , primaefiects the following:

* negative net foreign currency translation agnesits of $65 million , which are attributable te strengthening of the U.S. dollar
against certain foreign currencies,

» adecrease of $293 million in net postirement benefit obligatior
* net derivative gains of $6 millignanc
* netinvestment gains of $1 million

REVIEW BY SEGMENT
General

We serve clients through the following segments:

* Risk Solutionsacts as an advisor and insurance and reinsurankerbhelping clients manage their risks, via cttason, as well as
negotiation and placement of insurance risk wigumance carriers through our global distributiotwoek.

» HR Solutionspartners with organizations to solve their most plax benefits, talent and related financial chalesy and improve
business performance by designing, implementingynsonicating and administering a wide range of huoggpital, retirement,
investment management, health care, compensatitatent management strategies.
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Risk Solutions

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Revenue $7,789 $7,632 $7,537
Operating income 1,540 1,493 1,413
Operating margin 19.8% 19.6% 18.7%

The demand for property and casualty insurancergineises as the overall level of economic atyivincreases and generally falls as
such activity decreases, affecting both the comonssand fees generated by our brokerage busifikesconomic activity that impacts
property and casualty insurance is described assexp units, and is most closely correlated witipleyment levels, corporate revenue and
asset values. During 2013 , we continued to seeawngment in pricing on average globally; howeves,would still consider this to be a "soft
market," which began in 2007. In a soft marketngten rates flatten or decrease, along with commissévenues, due to increased
competition for market share among insurance aardeincreased underwriting capacity. Changesemiums have a direct and potentially
material impact on the insurance brokerage induasyommission revenues are generally based ercargage of the premiums paid by
insureds. In 2013, pricing showed signs of stahilon and improvement in our retail brokerage pobdines.

Additionally, beginning in late 2008 and continuitigough 2013 we faced difficult conditions as a result of uegedented disruptions
the global economy, the repricing of credit riskidine deterioration of the financial markets. Wghdbal economic conditions have reduced
our customers' demand for our retail brokeragerams$urance brokerage products, which have hadjatine impact on our operational rest

Risk Solutions generated approximately 66% of aumsolidated total revenues in 2013 . Revenuesearrergted primarily through fees
paid by clients, commissions and fees paid by mrste and reinsurance companies, and investmemh@oa funds held on behalf of clients.
Our revenues vary from quarter to quarter throughtweiyear as a result of the timing of our clieptdicy renewals, the net effect of new and
lost business, the timing of services providedupaients, and the income we earn on investmevitigh is heavily influenced by short-term
interest rates.

We operate in a highly competitive industry and pete with many retail insurance brokerage and agémus, as well as with
individual brokers, agents, and direct writersrurance coverage. Specifically, we address tHeyhgpecialized product development and
risk management needs of commercial enterprisefggsional groups, insurance companies, governieeadth care providers, and nprofit
groups, among others; provide affinity productsgmfessional liability, life, disability incomend personal lines for individuals, associations,
and businesses; provide products and servicesRIR Golutions; provide reinsurance services toraste and reinsurance companies and
other risk assumption entities by acting as brokeiatermediaries on all classes of reinsuranoayige capital management transaction and
advisory products and services, including mergedsacquisitions and other financial advisory sexsjcapital raising, contingent capital
financing, insurancéinked securitizations and derivative applicatiopgvide managing underwriting to independent agantd brokers as w
as corporate clients; provide risk consulting, adal, loss prevention, and administrative serviodsusinesses and consumers; and manage
captive insurance companies.

Revenue

Commissions, fees and other revenue for Risk Swistivere as follows (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Retail brokerage:
Americas $ 3,191 $ 3,071 $ 3,001
International (1) 3,06¢ 3,01¢ 3,021
Total retail brokerage 6,25¢ 6,08¢ 6,022
Reinsurance brokerage 1,50t 1,50t 1,46:
Total $ 7,761 $ 7,59¢ $ 7,48t

(1) Includes the U.K., Europe, Middle East, Afranad Asia Pacific.

In 2013, commissions, fees and other revenuease$167 million , or 2% , compared to 2012 dugtoorganic revenue growth,
partially offset by a 1% unfavorable impact fromefigin currency exchange rates. Organic revenuetgraias driven primarily by strong
growth in Latin America, Asia and emerging markstsdid growth in U.S. Retail, as well as growthri@aty placements in the Reinsurance
business.
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Reconciliation of organic revenue growth to repditemmissions, fees and other revenue growth fb82@rsus 2012 is as follows:

Less:
Less: Acquisitions,
Percent Currency Divestitures Organic
Change Impact & Other Revenue
Retail brokerage:
Americas 4% (D)% —% 5%
International (1) 2 — — 2
Total retail brokerage 3 (1) — 4
Reinsurance brokerage — Q) Q) 2
Total 2% )% —% 3%

(1) Includes the U.K., Europe, Middle East, Afread Asia Pacific.

Retail brokerage Commissions, fees and other revenue increased 2%l driven by 4% organic revenue growth, reflegtievenue
growth in both the Americas and International bess) partially offset by a 1% impact from unfavéedioreign currency exchange rates in the
Americas.

Americas Commissions, fees and other revenue increased £%lia reflecting 5% organic revenue growth drivgrstvtong growth in
Latin America and new business generation in Ue&aiR partially offset by a 1% impact from unfagbte foreign currency exchange rates.

International Commissions, fees and other revenue increased 2%ilid reflecting 2% organic revenue growth drivgrstsong growth
across emerging markets, New Zealand and Asidapnffset by a decline in certain countries ess@ontinental Europe.

ReinsuranceCommissions, fees and other revenue was flat cardparthe prior year due to 2% organic revenue tralsiven primarily
by net new business growth in treaty placementsigfig offset by a 1% unfavorable impact from fipe currency exchange rates and a 1%
unfavorable impact from acquisitions, net of diiteises.

Operating Income

Operating income increased $47 million , or 3%nfr2012 to $1.5 billion in 2013 . In 2013, opargtincome margins in this segment
were 19.8% , up 20 basis points from 19.6% in 20@Perating margin improvement was driven by reeegrowth and savings related to the
restructuring programs, which was partially offegtthe unfavorable impact from foreign currencynsiation and a decline in fiduciary
investment income.

HR Solutions

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Revenue $4,057 $3,925 $3,781
Operating income 318 289 336
Operating margin 7.8% 7.4% 8.9%

Our HR Solutions segment generated approximately 84our consolidated total revenues in 2013 andiges a broad range of human
capital services, as follows:

» Retiremenspecializes in global actuarial services, defin@aticbution consulting, tax and ERISA consultingdgension
administration.

» Compensatiofiocuses on compensatory advisory/counsel includingipensation planning design, executive rewaedesiies,
salary survey and benchmarking, market share stuadlid sales force effectiveness, with special ¢igedn the financial services
and technology industries.

» Strategic Human Capitalelivers advice to complex global organizationgadaent, change and organizational effectivenesgess
including talent strategy and acquisition, exeaitm-boarding, performance management, leadershgsament and
development, communication strategy, workforcentrej and change management.
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* Investment consultinadvises public and private companies, other irtgiitg and trustees on developing and maintaining
investment programs across a broad range of pfstyncluding defined benefit plans, defined dbntron plans, endowments
and foundations.

» Benefits Administratioapplies our HR expertise primarily through defitehefit (pension), defined contribution (401(k)da
health and welfare administrative services. Our @hoeplaces the resouragensive processes once required to administezfe
plans with more efficient, effective, and less bosblutions.

» Exchangeis building and operating healthcare exchangespittatide employers with a cost effective alternatio traditional
employee and retiree healthcare, while helpingviddals select the insurance that best meets tieeids.

 Human Resource Business Processing Outsourcing BPI®") provides market-leading solutions to manage emglaada;
administer benefits, payroll and other human resssiprocesses; and record and manage talent, waeldad other core HR
process transactions as well as other complemesggijces such as flexible spending, dependent andiparticipant advocacy.

Beginning in late 2008, the disruption in the glotr@dit markets and the deterioration of the ficiahmarkets created significant
uncertainty in the marketplace. Weak economic darh globally continued throughout 20138he prolonged economic downturn is adver:
impacting our clients' financial condition and tbfare the levels of business activities in the Btdas and geographies where we operate.
While we believe that the majority of our practieae well positioned to manage through this tirhesé challenges are reducing demand for
some of our services and putting continued pressuithe pricing of those services, which is hawangadverse effect on our new business anc
results of operations.

Revenue

Commissions, fees and other revenue were as folliowaillions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Consulting services $ 1,62¢ $ 1,58t $ 1,54¢
Outsourcing 2,46¢ 2,37 2,25¢
Intersegment (38) (32 (23

Total $ 4,057 $ 3,928 $ 3,781

Commissions, fees and other revenue for HR Solstiocreased $132 million , or 3% , in 2013 compdee?i012 due to 3% organic
growth in commissions and fees in 2013 .

Reconciliation of organic revenue growth to repgtemmissions, fees and other revenue growth fb82@rsus 2012 is as follows:

Less:
Less: Acquisitions,
Percent Currency Divestitures Organic

Year ended December 31 Change Impact & Other Revenue
Consulting services 3% (D)% 1% 3%
Outsourcing 4 — 1 3
Intersegment N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 3% —% —% 3%

Consulting servicegevenue increased $41 million , or 3% , due prilpada organic revenue growth of 3% , driven by dajrowth in
investment and compensation consulting, pensionirasimation services for certain project-relatedrkydalent and rewards, and
communication consulting, partially offset by a lifee in actuarial services in retirement consulting

Outsourcing revenue increased $97 million , or 4% , due primaoi 3% organic revenue growth driven by strongvgth in the health
care exchanges, modest growth in benefits admaistrand HR BPO business, and 1% favorable imfipact acquisitions, net of divestitures.

Operating Income

Operating income was $318 million , an increas$2% million , or 10% , from 2012 . This increasesvggimarily driven by organic
revenue growth and savings related to the Aon Heestructuring program, partially offset by comida
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investment in long-term growth opportunities. Maigin this segment for 2013 were 7.8% , an incre&d® basis points from 7.4% in 2012
driven by strong organic revenue growth and saviezged to the Aon Hewitt restructuring programartially offset by continued investment
long-term growth opportunities.

Unallocated Income and Expense

A reconciliation of our operating income to incobmefore income taxes is as follows (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Operating income:
Risk Solutions $ 154C $ 1,49 $ 1,41
HR Solutions 31¢& 28¢ 33€
Unallocated (187) (18¢€) (153
Operating income 1,671 1,59¢ 1,59¢
Interest income 9 10 18
Interest expense (210 (22¢) (24%)
Other income 68 2 19
Income before income taxes $ 153t $ 1,38C $ 1,38¢

Unallocated operating expensdncludes corporate governance costs not allodat#fie operating segments. Net unallocated expenses
remained relatively flat in 2013 compared to 2012 .

Interest income represents income earned on operating cash balanceother income-producing investments. It do¢sntlude
interest earned on funds held on behalf of clidnterest income decreased $1 million , or 10%mf2012 , due to lower average interest rate
globally and lower average cash balances.

Interest expense,which represents the cost of our worldwide delligations, decreased $18 million , or 8% , from 20Qivhich is
primarily due to a decline in the average interatt on total debt outstanding.

Other income increased $66 million from $2 million in 2012$%68 million in 2013 . Other income in 2013 inclu28 millionin gains
on investments, equity earnings of $20 millionrefgn exchange gains of $13 million , and $10 wnillin gains on disposal of businesses,
partially offset by $10 million in losses from deatives. Other income in 2012 includes equity eagsiof $13 million and $7 million gains on
investments, partially offset by foreign exchangssks of $19 million .

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notestindave been prepared in accordance with U.S. ’EAA prepare these financial
statements, we made estimates, assumptions anuhgundsg that affect what we report as our assetdianitities, what we disclose as conting
assets and liabilities at the date of the finarstialements, and the reported amounts of revemaksxaenses during the periods presented.

In accordance with our policies, we regularly eaéduour estimates, assumptions and judgmentsdingjubut not limited to, those
concerning revenue recognition, restructuring, jmess goodwill and other intangible assets, cominaies, share-based payments, and incom
taxes, and base our estimates, assumptions, agiehgrds on our historical experience and on fast@rbelieve reasonable under the
circumstances. The results involve judgments atfautarrying values of assets and liabilities eaidily apparent from other sources. If our
assumptions or conditions change, the actual eesudtreport may differ from these estimates. Weehelthe following critical accounting
policies affect the more significant estimatespagstions, and judgments we used to prepare thessdlidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Risk Solutions segment revenues primarily includgirance commissions and fees for services rendekthvestment income on funds
held on behalf of clients. Revenues are recogniteeh they are earned and realized or realizable.ddmpany considers revenues to be
earned and realized or realizable when all of tlewing four conditions are met: (1) persuasivé&ewnce of an arrangement exists, (2) the
arrangement fee is fixed or determinable, (3) @glivor performance has occurred, and (4) collelityis reasonably assured. For brokerage
commissions, revenue is typically recognized atctirapletion of the placement process, assumingtladir criteria required to recognize
revenue have been met. The placement processdéaltyronsidered complete on the effective datthefrelated policy. Commission reven
are recorded net of allowances for estimated paacellations, which are determined based on aluation of historical and current



cancellation data.
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HR Solutions segment revenues consist primarifige$ paid by clients for consulting advice and outsing contracts. Fees paid by
clients for consulting services are typically chead@n an hourly, project or fixed-fee basis. Reesrfuiom time-and-materials or cost-plus
arrangements are recognized as services are pedpaasuming all other criteria to recognize reedmave been met. Revenues from fixed-fe
contracts are recognized as services are provisied a proportional-performance model or at the gletion of a project based on facts and
circumstances of the client arrangement. Revenoes lfiealth care exchange arrangements are typiealbgnized upon successful enrollmen
of participants, net of a reserve for estimatedcceliations, assuming all other criteria to recognmievenue have been met. Reimbursements
received for out-of-pocket expenses are recordedcasnponent of revenues. The Company's outsouccingacts typically have three-to-five
year terms for benefits services and -to-ten year terms for human resources businesepsmutsourcing ("HR BPO") services. The
Company recognizes revenues as services are pedoaasuming all other criteria to recognize reedmave been met. The Company may
also receive implementation fees from clients eitigfront or over the ongoing services period as a aomapt of the fee per participant. Lul
sum implementation fees received from a clienttgpecally deferred and recognized ratably overdhgoing contract services period. If a
client terminates an outsourcing services arrangépror to the end of the contract, a loss ondiretract may be recorded, if necessary, and
any remaining deferred implementation revenues evtygically be recognized over the remaining serperiod through the termination date.

In connection with the Company's long-term outsmgservice agreements, highly customized impleatent efforts are often
necessary to set up clients and their human resaurbenefit programs on the Company's system®pauhting processes. For outsourcing
services sold separately or accounted for as aatepanit of accounting, specific, incremental diréct costs of implementation incurred prior
to the services commencing are generally defemeldamortized over the period that the related argyeervices revenue is recognized.
Deferred costs are assessed for recoverabilitymariadic basis to the extent the deferred costeds related deferred revenue.

Restructuring
Workforce reduction costs

The method used to recognize workforce reductiatscdepends on whether the benefits are providddrunone-time benefit
arrangement or under an ongoing benefit arrangerémaccount for relevant expenses as an ongoingfibarrangement when we have an
established termination benefit policy, statut@guirements dictate the termination benefit amqguortsve have an established pattern of
providing similar termination benefits. The methodestimate the amount of termination benefitsaisedl on the benefits available to the
employees being terminated.

In most cases, workforce reductions are made patsaan ongoing arrangement. We recognize the fao& reduction costs related to
restructuring activities resulting from an ongolmenefit arrangement when we identify the specifissification (or functions) and locations of
the employees being terminated and notify the eypggas.

Although it occurs less frequently, when a workéoreduction is made pursuant to a one-time beaeingement, we recognize the
workforce reduction costs related to restructuantivities resulting from a one-time benefit arramgnt when we identify the specific
classification (or functions) and locations of #raployee(s) being terminated, notify the employe&(sd expect to terminate the employee(s)
within the legally required notification period. \& employees receive incentives to stay beyontetadly required notification period, we
recognize the cost of their termination benefitsrahe remaining service period.

Lease termination costs

Where we have provided notice of cancellation pamsto a lease agreement or vacated space anchbawention of reoccupying it, we
recognize a loss and corresponding liability. Tiability reflects our best estimate of the fairwalof the future cash flows associated with the
lease at the date we vacate the property or sfyblease arrangement. To determine the loss anesponding liability, we estimate sublease
income based on all information that is reasonalilable, which typically includes current markettes for similar properties.

Useful lives on leasehold improvements or otheetasassociated with lease abandonments may bedewaseflect a shorter useful life
than originally estimated, which results in accated depreciation.

Fair value concepts of severance arrangements and lease losses
Accounting guidance requires that the liabilitiesorded related to our restructuring activitiesriemsured at fair value.

Where material, we discount the lease loss calonisito arrive at their present value. Most workéoreductions happen over a short
span of time and therefore no discounting is nesgssiowever, we may discount the termination bieaefangement when we terminate
employees who will provide no future service andpag their severance over an extended
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period. The discount reflects our incremental being rate, which matches the lifetime of the liéil Significant changes in the discount rate
selected or the estimations of sublease incomeeicdse of leases could impact the amounts recorded

Other associated costs with restructuring activities
We recognize other costs associated with restringf@ctivities as they are incurred, including nmaycosts and consulting and legal f
Pensions

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans througtheutvorld. Our most significant plans are locatethe U.S., the U.K., the
Netherlands and Canada. Our significant U.S., @kl Canadian pension plans are closed to new éntk&fle have ceased crediting fut
benefits relating to salary and service for our.JJUBK. and Canadian plans.

Recognition of gainsand losses and prior service

Certain changes in the value of the obligation iarttie value of plan assets, which may occur duatmus factors such as changes in
the discount rate and actuarial assumptions, aderabgraphic experience and/or plan asset perfarenare not immediately recognized in net
income. Such changes are recognized in Other cdrapsé/e income and are amortized into net inconpaetsof the net periodic benefit cost.

Unrecognized gains and losses that have been eéfierOther comprehensive income, as previouslygridees, are amortized into
Compensation and benefits expense as a componpatiotlic pension expense based on the averagetegfature service of active
employees for our plans in the Netherlands and @ara the average life expectancy of the U.S.ldukd plan members. After the effective
date of the plan amendments to cease creditingefitenefits relating to service, unrecognized gaimlosses are also be based on the avere
life expectancy of members in the Canadian plars.awiortize any prior service expense or creditsahise as a result of plan changes over a
period consistent with the amortization of gaind ksses.

As of December 31, 2013, our pension plans hafermel losses that have not yet been recognizedighrincome in the Consolidated
Financial Statements. We amortize unrecognizecagieddosses outside of a corridor, which is dedims 10% of the greater of market-related
value of plan assets or projected benefit obligatito the extent not offset by future gains, inceatal amortization as calculated above will
continue to affect future pension expense similarigil fully amortized.

The following table discloses our combined expareloss, the number of years over which we are tinmag the experience loss, and
the estimated 2014 amortization of loss by cou@ngounts in millions):

U.K. U.S. Other
Combined experience loss $ 2012 $ 121¢ $ 40z
Amortization period (in years) 29 26 11-2Z
Estimated 2014 amortization of loss $ 53 §$ 44 3 1C

The unrecognized prior service cost at Decembe@13 was $27 million in the U.K. and Other plans.

For the U.S. pension plans we use a market-relatktion of assets approach to determine the éggeeturn on assets, which is a
component of net periodic benefit cost recognizethé Consolidated Statements of Income. This ambroecognizes 20% of any gains or
losses in the current year's value of market-rdlatsets, with the remaining 80% spread over tkefoer years. As this approach recognizes
gains or losses over a five-year period, the futatae of assets and therefore, our net periodiefitecost will be impacted as previously
deferred gains or losses are recorded. As of DeeeBih 2013 , the market-related value of assess$&a8 billion . We do not use the market-
related valuation approach to determine the fursdatlis of the U.S. plans recorded in the Cons@ii8tatements of Financial Position.
Instead, we record and present the funded statiei@onsolidated Statements of Financial Poshiased on the fair value of the plan assets.
As of December 31, 2013, the fair value of plasetswas $1.9 billion .

Our non-U.S. plans use fair value to determine etgakreturn on assets.
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Rate of return on plan assets and asset allocation

The following table summarizes the expected lomgiteate of return on plan assets for future pensigrense and the related target asse
mix as of December 31, 2013:

U.K. u.s. Other
Expected return (in total) 6.0% 8.8% 5.6 - 6.5%
Expected return on equities (1) 9.4% 9.7% 7.5-8.3%
Expected return on fixed income 4.8% 6.6% 4.7 - 4.8%
Asset mix:
Target equity (1) 28.4% 70.0% 39.1-60.0%
Target fixed income 71.6% 30.0% 40.0 - 60.9%

(1) Includes investments in infrastructure, real estatéted partnerships and hedge fui

In determining the expected rate of return forglan assets, we analyzed investment community &ste@nd current market conditions
to develop expected returns for each of the asasses used by the plans. In particular, we sudraydtiple third party financial institutions
and consultants to obtain long-term expected retameach asset class, considered historical peaftge data by asset class over long period
and weighted the expected returns for each assss bly target asset allocations of the plans.

The U.S. pension plan asset allocation is basexpproved allocations following adopted investmaritiglines. The actual asset
allocation at December 31, 2013 was 69% equityHAd fixed income securities for the qualified plan.

The investment policy for each U.K. and non-U.Shgien plans is generally determined by the planstées. Because there are several
pension plans maintained in the U.K. and non-UaBegory, our target allocation presents a randbeofarget allocation of each plan. Further,
target allocations are subject to change. As ofebdaer 31, 2013 , the U.K. and non-U.S. plans werested between 30% and 50% in equity
and between 50% and 70% in fixed income securities.

I mpact of changing economic assumptions
Changes in the discount rate and expected retuasgegts can have a material impact on pensionatigligs and pension expense.

Holding all other assumptions constant, the follogviable reflects what a one hundred basis poanease and decrease in our estimatec
liability discount rate would have on our projectezhefit obligation at December 31, 2013 (in mik:

100 Basis Point Change in Discour

Estimated liability discount rate Rate

Increase (decrease) in projected benefit obligatioaf December 31, 2013 (1) Increase Decrease
U.K. plans $ 989) $ 1,057
U.S. plans (273) 38¢€
Other plans (171) 251

(1) Increases to the projected benefit obligatiftect increases to the Company's pension obtigatiwhile decreases in the projected
benefit obligation are recoveries toward fully feddstatus. A change in the discount rate has arsavelationship to the projected
benefit obligation.
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Holding all other assumptions constant, the follogviable reflects what a one hundred basis poanease and decrease in our estimatec
liability discount rate would have on our estimag®d 4 pension expense (in millions):

100 Basis Point Change in Discour

Rate
Increase (decrease) in expense Increase Decrease
U.K. plans $ 32 $ 28
U.S. plans (§0)] —
Other plans 2 2

Holding other assumptions constant, the followimlgle reflects what a one hundred basis point iser@ad decrease in our estimated
long-term rate of return on plan assets would laveur estimated 2014 pension expense (in millions)

100 Basis Point Change in Long-

Term Rate
of Return on Plan Assets
Increase (decrease) in expense Increase Decrease
U.K. plans $ B4 $ 54
U.S. plans (18 18
Other plans (12 11

Estimated future contributions
We estimate contributions of approximately $383ionlin 2014 as compared with $523 million in 2013
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over thenfarket value of the net assets acquired. Weibfamsr intangible assets acquired as
either trademarks, customer relationships, teclgyplnoon-compete agreements, or other purchaseupihias.

Goodwill is not amortized, but rather tested fopairment at least annually in the fourth quarterthle fourth quarter, we also test the
acquired tradenames (which also are not amortizedinpairment. We test more frequently if there ardicators of impairment or whenever
business circumstances suggest that the carrying wd goodwill or trademarks may not be recovezalbhese indicators may include a
sustained significant decline in our share prio# mwarket capitalization, a decline in our expedtadre cash flows, or a significant adverse
change in legal factors or in the business climateyng others. No events occurred during 2013inldatate the existence of an impairment
with respect to our reported goodwill or tradenames

We perform impairment reviews at the reporting lgwel. A reporting unit is an operating segmenoioe level below an operating
segment (referred to as a "component"). A compoofah operating segment is a reporting unit ifeheponent constitutes a business for
which discrete financial information is availabledasegment management regularly reviews the opgregsults of that component. An
operating segment shall be deemed to be a repantingf all of its components are similar, if noagits components is a reporting unit, or if
the segment comprises only a single component.

The goodwill impairment test is initially a quatitze analysis to determine if it is "more likelyattn not" that the fair value of each
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value, inclgdioodwill, of the corresponding reporting unitthe "more likely than not" threshold is not
met, then the goodwill impairment test becomesadtep analysis. Step One requires the fair vafl@ach reporting unit to be compared to its
book value. Management must apply judgment in déténg the estimated fair value of the reportingtainf the fair value of a reporting unit
is determined to be greater than the carrying vafube reporting unit, goodwill and trademarks deemed not to be impaired and no further
testing is necessary. If the fair value of a rapgrtnit is less than the carrying value, we penf@tep Two. Step Two uses the calculated fair
value of the reporting unit to perform a hypothatigurchase price allocation to the fair valuehef assets and liabilities of the reporting unit.
The difference between the fair value of the répgruinit calculated in Step One and the fair valfithe underlying assets and liabilities of the
reporting unit is the implied fair value of the cgfing unit's goodwill. A charge is recorded in firancial statements if the carrying value of
the reporting unit's goodwill is greater than itgplied fair value.

In determining the fair value of our reporting snitve use a discounted cash flow ("DCF") model th@seour most current forecasts. '
discount the related cash flow forecasts usingubighted-average cost of capital method at the afadéaluation. Preparation of forecasts and



selection of the discount rate for use in the DGeleh involve significant judgments,
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and changes in these estimates could affect theatet fair value of one or more of our reportimgtsiand could result in a goodwiill
impairment charge in a future period. We also uaekat multiples which are obtained from quoted gsiof comparable companies to
corroborate our DCF model results. The combineidneséd fair value of our reporting units from ou€P model often results in a premium
over our market capitalization, commonly referreds a control premium. We believe the implied admiremium determined by our
impairment analysis is reasonable based upon logtata of premiums paid on actual transactionkiwibur industry. Based on tests
performed in both 2013 and 2012 , there was naatitin of goodwill impairment, and no further tegtiwas required.

We review intangible assets that are being amaltiaeimpairment whenever events or changes irunigtance indicate that their
carrying amount may not be recoverable. There weriadications that the carrying values of amobliedntangible assets were impaired as o
December 31, 2013 . If we are required to recoqgbiinment charges in the future, they could matigriedpact our results of operations.

Contingencies

We define a contingency as an existing conditi@t tfivolves a degree of uncertainty as to a pasgjhin or loss that will ultimately be
resolved when one or more future events occuribrof@ccur. Under U.S. GAAP, we are required ttabBsh reserves for loss contingencies
when the loss is probable and we can reasonabiyagstits financial impact. We are required to asgsbe likelihood of material adverse
judgments or outcomes, as well as potential rangesobability of losses. We determine the amodmeserves required, if any, f
contingencies after carefully analyzing each indlinal item. The required reserves may change doeviodevelopments in each issue. We do
not recognize gain contingencies until the contimayes resolved and amounts due are probable fatmn.

Share-based Payments

Share-based compensation expense is measureddraderestimated grant date fair value and recegniwer the requisite service
period for awards that we ultimately expect to viéée estimate forfeitures at the time of grant Ham® our actual experience to date and revis
our estimates, if necessary, in subsequent peffiadsual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Share Option Accounting

We generally use a lattice-binomial option-pricmgdel to value share options granted. Latbased option valuation models use a ri
of assumptions over the expected term of the ogptiand estimate expected volatilities based omtieeage of the historical volatility of our
share price and the implied volatility of tradediops on our shares. No share options were grahtadg 2013 or 2012.

In terms of the assumptions used in the latticetasodel, we:

» use historical data to estimate option exeraist employee terminations within the valuation niodée stratify employees
between those receiving Leadership Performance (AL&#P") options, Special Share Plan options, dhdther option grants. We
believe that this stratification better represgmtspective stock option exercise patterns,

» base the expected dividend yield assumption ortouent dividend rate, a

» base the riskree rate for the contractual life of the optiontbe U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at theetiaf grant

The expected life of employee share options reptegbe weighted-average period share optionsxqrected to remain outstanding,
which is a derived output of the lattice-binomiabael.

Restricted Share Units

Restricted share units ("RSUs") are service-baseatds for which we recognize the associated congimmscost on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period. We estimatdahesalue of the awards based on the market midke underlying share on the date of grant

Performance Share Awards

Performance share awards ("PSAs") are performaaseebawards for which vesting is dependent on¢heeement of certain
objectives. Such objectives may be made on a paksgpmoup or company level. We estimate the faineaf the
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awards based on the market price of the underlsiogk on the date of grant, reduced by the presduoé of estimated dividends foregone
during the vesting period.

PSAs may immediately vest at the end of the perfmce period or may have an additional service ge@@mpensation cost is
recognized over the performance or additional serpiriod,

whichever is longer. The number of shares issudth@resting date will vary depending on the acpgaformance objectives achieved. We
make assessments of future performance using sivgj@stimates, such as long-term plans. As atieshAnges in the underlying assumptions
could have a material impact on the compensatipe®se recognized.

The largest performance-based share-based paymard plan is the LPP, which has a three-year perdioice period. The 2011 to 2013
performance period ended on December 31, 20120he to 2012 performance period ended on Decenthet( 2, the 2009 to 2011
performance period ended on December 31, 2011then?i008 to 2010 performance period ended on DeeeB1 2010. The LPP currently
has two open performance periods: 2012 to 20146848 to 2015. A 10% upward adjustment in our edeéch@erformance achievement
percentage for both LPP plans would have increase@013expense by approximately $5.9 million, while a 18&twnward adjustment wou
have decreased our expense by approximately $Hi®@miAs the percent of expected performance iases or decreases, the potential chang
in expense can go from 0% to 200% of the targettd &xpense.

Income Taxes

We earn income in numerous countries and this ircisnsubject to the laws of taxing jurisdictionghin those countries. The estimated
effective tax rate for the year is applied to ouaderly operating results. In the event that theresignificant unusual or discrete item
recognized, or expected to be recognized, in oartgtly operating results, the tax attributabléhiat item would be separately calculated and
recorded at the same time as the unusual or disitesn, such as the resolution of prior-year taxtens.

The carrying values of deferred income tax assaddiabilities reflect the application of our incenax accounting policies, and are bz
on management's assumptions and estimates aborg figerating results and levels of taxable incand,judgments regarding the
interpretation of the provisions of current accangiprinciples.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation alloesif, based on the consideration of all avadlalidence, it is more likely than not
that some portion of the deferred tax asset willbwrealized. In this assessment, significant ttdigygiven to evidence that can be objectively
verified.

We assess carryforwards and tax credits for rdaizas a reduction of future taxable income byigsi "more likely than not"
determination. We have not recognized a U.S. dedfieiax liability for permanently reinvested earrsmg certain non-U.S. subsidiaries.
Additional U.S. income taxes could be recordedrfourred) if we change our investment strategytiredeto these subsidiaries, which could
materially affect our future effective tax rate.

We base the carrying values of liabilities for inmtaxes currently payable on management's intatfme of applicable tax laws, and
incorporate management's assumptions and judgrabatg using tax planning strategies in variousiguurisdictions. Using different
estimates, assumptions and judgments in accouftiiigcome taxes, especially those that deployptarning strategies, may result in
materially different carrying values of income tssets and liabilities and changes in our restiltperations.

We operate in many jurisdictions where tax lawatiey to our businesses are not well developedudi jurisdictions, we typically
obtain professional guidance, when available, amdicer existing industry practices before usingpianning strategies and meeting our tax
obligations. Tax returns are routinely subjectuditin most jurisdictions, and tax liabilities drequently finalized through negotiations. In
addition, several factors could increase the fulewel of uncertainty over our tax liabilities, Inding the following:

» the portion of our overall operations condudtedon-U.S. tax jurisdictions has been increasamgl we anticipate this trend will
continue,

» to deploy tax planning strategies and conduaball operations efficiently, our subsidiaries freqtly enter into transactions with
affiliates, which are generally subject to comptiex regulations and are frequently reviewed byatathorities,

» tax laws, regulations, agreements and treakiaage frequently, requiring us to modify existiag strategies to conform to such
changes, and



the move of the corporate headquarters to Lot
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Principlend Practices" of the Notes to Consolidated EiaaStatements contains a
summary of our significant accounting policies,lirding a discussion of recently issued accountimppuncements and their impact or future
potential impact on our financial results, if detérable.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to potential fluctuations in earsiiegsh flows, and the fair value of certain of assets and liabilities due to changes in
interest rates and foreign exchange rates. To neatfegrisk from these exposures, we enter intaietyaof derivative instruments. We do not
enter into derivatives or financial instruments tiading or speculative purposes.

The following discussion describes our specificasyres and the strategies we use to manage tBkseS3ee Note 2 "Summary of
Significant Accounting Principles and Practicestied Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementa fiscussion of our accounting policies
for financial instruments and derivatives.

Foreign Exchange Ris

We are subject to foreign exchange rate risk. @angry exposures include exchange rates betweed.®elollar and the Euro, British
Pound, the Canadian Dollar, the Australian Dobend the Indian Rupee. We use over-the-counter ("QPdftions and forward contracts to
reduce the impact of foreign currency risk to aoafmcial statements.

Additionally, some of our non-U.S. brokerage sulagids receive revenues in currencies that difiemftheir functional currencies. Our
U.K. subsidiary earned approximately 30% of its2@dvenue in U.S. dollars and 6% of its revenuguros, but most of its expenses are
incurred in Pounds Sterling. At December 31, 2042 have hedged 45% and 81% of our U.K. subsidiagiepected U.S. Dollar transaction
exposure for the years ending December 31, 2012018 , respectively. In addition, we have hedge® &f our U.K. subsidiaries' expected
Euro transaction exposures for the same time peri generally do not hedge exposures beyond yiees.

We also use forward contracts to economically hédgegn exchange risk associated with monetargrizad sheet exposures, such as
inter-company notes and short-term assets anditiebithat are denominated in a non-functionatency and are subject to remeasurement.

The potential loss in future earnings from foreggehange derivative instruments resulting from pdtlyetical 10% adverse change in
yearend exchange rates would be $40 million and $1lfomiat December 31, 2014 and 2015 respectively.

Interest Rate Ris

Our fiduciary investment income is affected by dmsin international and domestic short-term irsterates. We monitor our net
exposure to short-term interest rates and as apptephedge our exposure with various derivatimarfcial instruments. This activity primarily
relates to brokerage funds held on behalf of ciégmthe U.S. and on the continent of Europe. Adtlgetical, instantaneous parallel decrease i
the year-end yield curve of 100 basis points waaldse a decrease, net of derivative positions2bfdillion and $32 million to 2014 ar015
pretax income, respectively. A corresponding insegia the year-end yield curve of 100 basis pairdsld cause an increase, net of derivative
positions, of $51 million and $54 million to 201Ach2015 pretax income, respectively.

We have long-term debt outstanding with a fair reaskalue of $3.9 billion and $4.2 billion at Deceenl31, 2013 and 2012espectively
This fair value was greater than the carrying véily&208 million at December 31, 2013 , and $448%ianigreater than the carrying value at
December 31, 2012 . A hypothetical 1% increasesgrehse in interest rates would change the fairevay approximately 6% at both
December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

We have selected hypothetical changes in foreigrenay exchange rates, interest rates, and equitienprices to illustrate the possible
impact of these changes; we are not predicting atakents.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &ia.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Aon plc

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatits of financial position of Aon plc as of DeceanB1, 2013 and 2012 , and the
related consolidated statements of income, compsdhe income, shareholders' equity, and cash ffowsach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013 . These financial statenaeatthe responsibility of the Company's managén@am responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Aon
plc at December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and the catadeli results of its operations and its cash flimvgach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with U&hegally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Aon plc's
internal control over financial reporting as of Bather 31, 2013, based on criteria establishedtarial Control-Integrated Framework issuec
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (1992 Framework) and our tegeted February 18, 2014
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Gt ¥ MLLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 18, 2014
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Aon plc
Consolidated Statements of Income

(millions, except per share data) Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Revenue
Commissions, fees and other $ 11,780 $ 11,47¢ $ 11,23t
Fiduciary investment income 28 38 52
Total revenue 11,81t 11,51 11,28
Expenses
Compensation and benefits 6,94t 6,70¢ 6,567
Other general expenses 3,19¢ 3,20¢ 3,12
Total operating expenses 10,14« 9,91¢ 9,691
Operating income 1,671 1,59¢ 1,59¢
Interest income 9 10 18
Interest expense (210 (22¢) (24%)
Other income 68 2 19
Income before income taxes 1,53¢ 1,38( 1,38¢
Income taxes 39C 36C 37¢
Net income 1,14¢ 1,02( 1,01(
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingheists 35 27 31
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 111 $ 992 % 97¢
Basic net income per share attributable to Aon shaholders $ 357 §% 3.0z $ 2.9z
Diluted net income per share attributable to Aon shreholders $ 35: % 29¢ $ 2.87
Cash dividends per share paid on ordinary shares $ 0.6¢ $ 0.6z $ 0.6(
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding — basi 311.¢ 328.t 335t
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding — dilied 315.¢ 332.¢ 340.¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents.
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Aon plc
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(millions) Years Ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 1,14¢ $ 1,02 $ 1,01C
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingheists 35 27 31
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 1,112 $ 99¢ $ 97¢
Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax:
Change in fair value of investments 1 — —
Change in fair value of derivatives 6 9 a3
Foreign currency translation adjustments (65) 10¢ (43
Post-retirement benefit obligation 292 (35¢) (396
Total other comprehensive gain (loss) 23t (240 (452)
Less: Other comprehensive (loss) income attribatedhoncontrolling interests Q) — 1
Total other comprehensive gain (loss) attributadldon shareholders 23€ (240 (45%)
Comprehensive income attributable to Aon sharehside $ 1,34¢ % 75 $ 52€

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents.
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Aon plc
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(millions, except nominal value) As of December 31 2013 2012

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 477 % 291
Short-term investments 522 34¢
Receivables, net 2,89¢ 3,101
Fiduciary assets 11,87: 12,21«
Other current assets 563 43C

Total Current Assets 16,33( 16,38:

Goodwill 8,991 8,94:
Intangible assets, net 2,57¢ 2,97t
Fixed assets, net 791 82C
Investments 132 165
Non-current deferred tax assets 19¢ 28t
Other non-current assets 1,23( 91¢€
TOTAL ASSETS $ 30,25 $ 30,48¢

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Fiduciary liabilities $ 1187 $ 12,21«
Short-term debt and current portion of long-terrhbtde 703 452
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,931 1,85:
Other current liabilities 90¢€ 831

Total Current Liabilities 15,41: 15,35(

Long-term debt 3,68¢ 3,71
Non-current deferred tax liabilities 42C 30¢€
Pension, other post retirement, and post employirahilities 1,607 2,27¢
Other non-current liabilities 932 1,03¢
TOTAL LIABILITIES 22,05¢ 22,68

EQUITY
Ordinary shares - $0.01 nominal value
Authorized: 750 shares (issued: 2013 - 300.7; 2(B10.9) 3 3
Additional paid-in capital 4,78" 4,43¢
Retained earnings 5,731 5,93:
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,379 (2,610
TOTAL AON SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 8,14¢ 7,76
Noncontrolling interests 50 43
TOTAL EQUITY 8,19t 7,80¢

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 30,25 $ 30,48¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents.
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Aon plc

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

Ordinary
Shares and Accumulated
Additional Other
Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive Loss, Noncontrolling
(millions) Shares Capital Earnings Stock Net of Tax Interests Total
Balance at January 1, 2011 385.¢ $ 438 $ 7861 $ (2,079 (1,919 55 $ 8,30¢
Net income — — 97¢ — — 31 1,01(
Shares issued — employee benefit plans 0.t 112 Q) — — — 112
Shares purchased — — — (82¢) — — (82¢)
Shares reissued — employee benefit plans — (359 (45) 354 — — (4%)
Tax benefit — employee benefit plans — 3€ — — — — 3€
Share compensation expense — 23t — — — — 23t
Dividends to stockholders — — (200 — — — (200
Change in net derivative gains/losses — — — — (13 — (13)
Net foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — (44) 1 (43)
Net post-retirement benefit obligation — — — — (396) — (39€)
Purchase of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling
interests — 9) — — — (15) (24)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests on
subsidiary common stock — — — — — (30 (30)
Balance at December 31, 2011 386.¢ 4,407 8,594 (2,559 (2,370 42 8,12(
Net income — — 99¢ — — 27 1,02(
Retirement of treasury shares (60.0) (60) (2,412 2,472 — — —
Shares issued — employee benefit plans 4 2¢ — — — — 2¢
Shares purchased (20) — (2,029 (200) — — (2,129
Shares reissued — employee benefit plans — (187) (13 181 — — (23)
Tax benefit — employee benefit plans — 33 — — — — 33
Share-based compensation expense — 212 — — — — 21z
Dividends to shareholders — — (204 — — — (209)
Change in net derivative gains/losses — — — — 9 — 9
Net foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — 10¢ — 10¢
Net post-retirement benefit obligation — — — — (35¢) — (35¢)
Purchase of subsidiary shares from non-controlling
interest — Q) — — — 1 —
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests on
subsidiary common stock — — — — — 27) 27)
Balance at December 31, 2012 310.¢ 4,43¢ 5,93 — (2,610 43 7,80¢
Net income — — 1,118 — — 35 1,14¢
Shares issued — employee benefit plans 0.7 2€ 0] — — — 27
Shares issued — employee compensation 5.¢ (50) — — — — (5C)
Shares purchased (16.9) — (2,102) — — — (2,102
Tax benefit — employee benefit plans — 74 — — — — 74
Share-based compensation expense — 30C — — — — 30C
Dividends to shareholders — — (212) — — — (212)
Net change in fair value of investments — — — — 1 — 1
Change in net derivative gains/losses — — — — 6 — 6
Net foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — (64) (@) (65)
Net post-retirement benefit obligation — — — — 292 — 29¢
Purchase of subsidiary shares from non-controlling
interest — (©)] — — — 8) 11
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests on
subsidiary common stock — — — — — (29 (19)
Balance at December 31, 2013 300.7 % 478¢ 3% 5731 % — (2,379 50 $ 8,19t




See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents.

58




Aon plc
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(millions) Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 1,146 $ 1,02 $ 1,0U
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash praviole operating activities:
Gain from sales of businesses, net (65) — (6)
Depreciation of fixed assets 24C 232 22C
Amortization of intangible assets 39t 42% 362
Share-based compensation expense 30C 212 23t
Deferred income taxes (14) (95) 14¢€
Change in assets and liabilities:
Fiduciary receivables (4 (1,402 149
Short-term investments — funds held on behalf igints 15€ 23¢ (713)
Fiduciary liabilities (152 1,16: 727
Receivables, net 141 10€ (499)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48 (37 —
Restructuring reserves 15 (46) (73)
Current income taxes (11¢€) 18t 12C
Pension and other post employment liabilities (502) (58%) (399)
Other assets and liabilities 43 4 (103)
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,63: 1,41¢ 1,01¢
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales of long-term investments 93 17¢ 19C
Purchases of long-term investments (15) (12 (30
Net (purchases) sales of short-term investmentona-fiduciary (1749 44C 8
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (54) (162) (10€)
Proceeds from sale of businesses 40 2 9
Capital expenditures (229 (269) (241
CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES (339 177 (18€)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share repurchase (1,109 (1,125 (82¢)
Issuance of shares for employee benefit plans 98 11¢€ 201
Issuance of debt 4,90¢ 733 1,67
Repayment of debt (4,679 (1,077 (1,689
Cash dividends to shareholders (212) (209) (200)
Purchases of shares from noncontrolling interests (8 4 (29
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (19 (27) (30
CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,01¢) (1,58¢€) (896)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (92 9 (20
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S 18€ 19 (74)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 291 272 34¢€
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 477 $ 291 % 272
Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid $ 206 $ 23z % 24C
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 44% 23¢ 77

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financi®ents.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial StaterrsrddNotes thereto have been prepared in accordétice).S. generally accepted
accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"). The Consoligthf-inancial Statements include the accounts offloand all controlled subsidiaries
("Aon" or the "Company"). All intercompany accouiatsd transactions have been eliminated. The Calaell Financial Statements include
the opinion of management, all adjustments (cangjstf normal recurring adjustments and reclasaifims) necessary to present fairly the
Company's consolidated financial position, resoftsperations and cash flows for all periods présgén

Reclassification

Certain amounts in prior year's consolidated fimgrstatements and related notes have been rd@dss conform to the 2013
presentation. In prior periods, income or lossemfdiscontinued operations and its related tax msg@evas recognized in Income (loss) from
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statésnaf Income. These amounts are now included iedhcome in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The amounts reclassified $maillion loss and $4 million income for the ye@nded December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. There was no earnings per share inip@©12, and a $0.01 diluted per share impa20ihl.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying Consolidatedrigial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAPui&gs management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, disclosuresatingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, and the reported amafrrsserves and expenses. These estimates andmsssiare based on management's best
estimates and judgments. Management evaluatestittisates and assumptions on an ongoing basis hstagical experience and other factc
including the current economic environment, whichn@gement believes to be reasonable under tharstances. Aon adjusts such estimates
and assumptions when facts and circumstancesaelitfiauid credit markets, volatile equity markedsd foreign currency movements incre
the uncertainty inherent in such estimates andnagians. As future events and their effects cafeodetermined with precision, actual results
could differ significantly from these estimates.a@ijes in estimates resulting from continuing charnige¢he economic environment will be
reflected in the financial statements in futureiqeas.

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Principlesand Practices

Revenue Recognition

Risk Solutions segment revenues primarily includgirance commissions and fees for services rendekthvestment income on funds
held on behalf of clients. Revenues are recogniteeh they are earned and realized or realizable.ddmpany considers revenues to be
earned and realized or realizable when all of tlewing four conditions are met: (1) persuasivé&ewnce of an arrangement exists, (2) the
arrangement fee is fixed or determinable, (3) @glivor performance has occurred, and (4) collelityis reasonably assured. For brokerage
commissions, revenue is typically recognized atctirapletion of the placement process, assumingtladir criteria required to recognize
revenue have been met. The placement processdéaltyronsidered complete on the effective datthefrelated policy. Commission reven
are recorded net of allowances for estimated paacellations, which are determined based on aluation of historical and current
cancellation data.

HR Solutions segment revenues consist primarifige$ paid by clients for consulting advice and outsing contracts. Fees paid by
clients for consulting services are typically chead@n an hourly, project or fixed-fee basis. Reesrfuiom time-and-materials or cost-plus
arrangements are recognized as services are pedpaasuming all other criteria to recognize reedmave been met. Revenues from fixed-fe
contracts are recognized as services are provisied a proportional-performance model or at the gletion of a project based on facts and
circumstances of the client arrangement. Revenoes lfiealth care exchange arrangements are typiealbgnized upon successful enrollmen
of participants, net of a reserve for estimatecceliations, assuming all other criteria to recognmigvenue have been met. Reimbursements
received for out-of-pocket expenses are recordedcasnponent of revenues. The Company's outsouccingacts typically have three -tiive
year terms for benefits services dive -to- ten year terms for human resources bussipeocess outsourcing ("HR BPQO") services. The
Company recognizes revenues as services are pedoaasuming all other criteria to recognize reedmave been met. The Company may
also receive implementation fees from clients eitigefront or over the ongoing services period as a aomapt of the fee per participant. Lul
sum implementation fees received from a clienttgpecally deferred and recognized ratably overdhgoing contract services period. If a
client terminates an outsourcing services arrangépwor to
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the end of the contract, a loss on the contractlpeaecorded, if necessary, and any remaining aefémplementation revenues would
typically be recognized over the remaining seryieaod through the termination date.

In connection with the Company's long-term outsmgservice agreements, highly customized impleatent efforts are often
necessary to set up clients and their human resaurbenefit programs on the Company's systemspauhting processes. For outsourcing
services sold separately or accounted for as aatepanit of accounting, specific, incremental diréct costs of implementation incurred prior
to the services commencing are generally defemeldamortized over the period that the related angyeervices revenue is recognized.
Deferred costs are assessed for recoverabilitymariadic basis to the extent the deferred costeas related deferred revenue.

Share-Based Compensation Costs

Share-based payments to employees, including godetsiployee share options, restricted sharesestdated share units ("RSUs"),
performance share awards ("PSAs") as well as eraplshare purchases related to the Employee SharieaBa Plan, are measured based on
estimated grant date fair value. The Company rezegrcompensation expense over the requisite sepedod for awards expected to
ultimately vest. Forfeitures are estimated on thie @f grant and revised if actual or expectedeftufe activity differs materially from original
estimates.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

The Company has net period cost relating to itsieenand other post-retirement benefit plans basechlculations that include various
actuarial assumptions, including discount ratesyiaed rates of return on plan assets, inflatiogsranortality rates, compensation increases,
and turnover rates. The Company reviews its a@liassumptions on an annual basis and modifieg tisumptions based on current rates
trends. The effects of gains, losses, and priaficgecosts and credits are amortized over futuréice periods or future estimated lives if the
plans are frozen. The funded status of each playlated as the fair value of plan assets lesbéhefit obligation, is reflected in the
Company's Consolidated Statements of FinanciatiBosising a December 31 measurement date.

Net Income per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigncome available to ordinary shareholders bybighted-average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, including participg@securities, which consist of unvested share aswaith non-forfeitable rights to dividends.
Diluted net income per share is computed by digdiet income available to ordinary shareholderthbyweightedaverage number of ordine
shares outstanding, which have been adjusted déadithtive effect of potentially issuable ordinatyares (excluding those that are considered
participating securities), including certain cogtmtly issuable shares. The diluted earnings paestalculation reflects the more dilutive ef
of either (1) the two-class method that assumesthieaparticipating securities have not been egertior (2) the treasury stock method.

Certain ordinary share equivalents, related prilp&oi options, were not included in the computatidmiluted income per share because
their inclusion would have been antidilutive.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term I nvestments

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balancealldrighly liquid investments with initial matuiéts of three months or less. Short-
term investments include certificates of depos@ney market funds and highly liquid debt instrunsgmirchased with initial maturities in
excess of three months but less than one yearrarchaiied at amortized cost, which approximatesvédue.

The Company is required to hold £ 77 million of mng funds in the U.K. as required by the Finah€onduct Authority, which were
included in Short-term investments. These operdtings, when translated to U.S. dollars, were $tflion and $124 milliorat December 3:
2013 and 2012, respectively. Cash and cash e@uitgincluded restricted balances of $88 milliod &6 million at December 31, 2013 and
2012 , respectively. The restricted balances pilyneglate to cash required to be held as collatera

Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities

In its capacity as an insurance agent and brokem,@llects premiums from insureds and, after didgiéts commission, remits the
premiums to the respective insurers. Aon also ctdlelaims or refunds from insurers on behalf stineds. Uncollected premiums from
insureds and uncollected claims or refunds fromries are recorded as Fiduciary assets in the Qoytgp@onsolidated Statements of Finar
Position. Unremitted insurance premiums and clanesheld in a fiduciary capacity and the obligatiememit these funds is recorded as
Fiduciary liabilities in the Company's Consolidat&tatements of Financial Position. Some of the Guomgjs outsourcing agreements also
require it to hold funds to pay certain
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obligations on behalf of clients. These funds dse eecorded as Fiduciary assets with the relabdidation recorded as Fiduciary liabilities in
the Company's Consolidated Statements of FinaRdcisition.

Aon maintained premium trust balances for premigpikected from insureds but not yet remitted taimasice companies of $3.8 billion
and $4.0 billion at December 31, 2013 and 2012peetively. These funds and a corresponding ligtalie included in Fiduciary assets and
Fiduciary liabilities, respectively, in the accompang Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company's allowance for doubtful accounts wegpect to receivables is based on a combinatiectdrs, including evaluation of
historical write-offs, aging of balances and othealitative and quantitative analyses. Receivaibielsided an allowance for doubtful accounts
of $90 million and $118 million at December 31, 3Gind 2012 , respectively.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost, less accumulepedaiation. Included in this category is internsg software, which is software that is
acquired, internally developed or modified solaynteet internal needs, with no plan to market exetity. Costs related to directly obtaining,
developing or upgrading internal use software aggtalized. Depreciation and amortization are cot@guwsing the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, whiclganerally as follows:

Asset Description Asset Life

Software Lesser of the life of an associated license, ar 4 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life or lease term to@xceed 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4 to 10 years

Computer equipment 4 to 6 years

Buildings 35 years

Automobiles 6 years

I nvestments

The Company accounts for investments as follows:

» Equity method investmer — Aon accounts for limited partnership and otlmyestments using the equity method of accounting if
Aon has the ability to exercise significant infleerover, but not control of, an investee. Signifidafluence generally represents an
ownership interest between 20% and 50% of the gatiock of the investee. Under the equity methoalcobunting, investments are

initially recorded at cost and are subsequentlystd for additional capital contributions, distions, and Aon's proportionate share
of earnings or losses.

* Cost method investments- Investments where Aon does not have an owneistgpest of greater than 20% or the ability torexe
significant influence over the operations of thegistee are carried at cost.

* Fixedmaturity securitiesre classified as available for sale and are regat fair value with any resulting unrealized gaiiross
recorded directly to shareholders' equity as a asrapt of Accumulated other comprehensive losséndbmpany's Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, net of deferrambime taxes. Interest on fixed-maturity securitieecorded in Interest income in the
Company's Consolidated Statements of Income whereéand is adjusted for any amortization of premar accretion of discount.

The Company assesses any declines in the fair eflingestments to determine whether such deckmether-than-temporary. This
assessment is made considering all available esédéncluding changes in general market conditispsgific industry and individual comps
data, the length of time and the extent to whi@hfttir value has been less than cost, the finanoiadlition and the near-term prospects of the
entity issuing the security, and the Company'stgtahd intent to hold the investment until recgvef its cost basis. Other-than-temporary
impairments of investments are recorded as padtlér income (expense) in the Consolidated Statesrdrincome in the period in which the
determination is made.

Goodwill and I ntangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair value of the net assets in the adipnsof a business. Goodwill is alloca
to various reporting units, which are one reportegel below the operating segment. Upon dispasitiba business entity, goodwill is
allocated to the disposed entity based on thevédire of that entity compared to the fair valuehef reporting unit in which it was included.



Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is testedifigpairment at least annually.
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The goodwill impairment test is performed at thgarting unit level. The Company initially perforragqualitative analysis to determine if it is
more likely than not that the goodwill balancenpaired. If such a determination is made, therQbmpany will perform a two-step
guantitative analysis. First, the fair value ofleagporting unit is compared to its carrying valifie¢he fair value of the reporting unit is lesai
its carrying value, the Company performs a hypathépurchase price allocation based on the repprinit's fair value to determine the fair
value of the reporting unit's goodwill. Fair valisedetermined using a combination of present vedokniques and market prices of comparabl
businesses.

Intangible assets include customer related andacirbased assets representing primarily clieaticglships and nonempete covenant
tradenames, and marketing and technology relattsaasThese intangible assets, with the excepfitnadenames, are amortized over periods
ranging from 1 to 13 years, with a weighted averagginal life of 10 years. Tradenames are gdiyanat amortized as such assets have bee
determined to have indefinite useful lives, andtasted at least annually for impairments usingredysis of expected future cash flows.
Interim impairment testing may be performed wheands or changes in circumstances indicate thatdhging amount of the intangible asset
may not be recoverable.

Derivatives

Derivative instruments are recognized in the Cadatdd Statements of Financial Position at faiueaWhere the Company has entered
into master netting agreements with counterpartesderivative positions are netted by counteypand are reported accordingly in other
assets or other liabilities. Changes in the falu@af derivative instruments are recognized imeays each period, unless the derivative is
designated as a hedge and qualifies for hedge atiogu

The Company has historically designated the follmaiedging relationships for certain transacti¢s hedge of the change in fair
value of a recognized asset or liability or firrmuoitment (“fair value hedge"), (ii) a hedge of treiability in cash flows from a recognized
variable-rate asset or liability or forecasted saation (“"cash flow hedge"), and (iii) a hedgehsf het investment in a foreign operation ("net
investment hedge").

In order for a derivative to qualify for hedge asnting, the derivative must be formally designaeda fair value, cash flow, or a net
investment hedge by documenting the relationshiyden the derivative and the hedged item. The deotation must include a description of
the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the ridkdhedged, Aon's risk management objective aatesty for undertaking the hedge, the
method for assessing the effectiveness of the hedgkthe method for measuring hedge ineffectivengdditionally, the hedge relationship
must be expected to be highly effective at offagttthanges in either the fair value or cash flolwhe hedged item at both the inception of the
hedge and on an ongoing basis. Aon assesses thingrajfectiveness of its hedges and measuresemids hedge ineffectiveness, if any, at
the end of each quarter or more frequently if factd circumstances require.

For a derivative designated as hedging the expdsuwrieanges in the fair value of a recognized amskability or a firm commitment (a
fair value hedge), the gain or loss is recognizeelarnings in the period of change together witghatisetting loss or gain on the hedged item
attributable to the risk being hedged. The effedbireflect in earnings the extent to which thddeeis not effective in achieving offsetting
changes in fair value. For a cash flow hedge thatifies for hedge accounting, the effective portid the change in fair value of a hedging
instrument is recognized in Other Comprehensiverne ("OCI") and subsequently reclassified to ea®im the same period the hedged item
impacts earnings. The ineffective portion of tharde in fair value is recognized immediately im&ags. For a net investment hedge, the
effective portion of the change in fair value o thedging instrument is recognized in OCI as pltti@ cumulative translation adjustment,
while the ineffective portion is recognized immadig in earnings.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative thatasdesignated as part of a hedging relationshim(aonly referred to as an "economic
hedge") are recorded in other income (expensdjerConsolidated Statements of Income.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting proseéctivhen (1) the derivative expires or is soldiimated, or exercised, (2) the
qualifying criteria are no longer met, or (3) maeagnt removes the designation of the hedging ogistiip.

When hedge accounting is discontinued becausedttieative no longer qualifies as a fair value hedhe Company continues to carry
the derivative in the Consolidated Statements paR¢ial Position at its fair value, recognizes sgent changes in the fair value of the
derivative in the Consolidated Statements of Incareases to adjust the hedged asset or liabilitglfanges in its fair value and accounts for
the carrying amount (including the basis adjustntanised by designating the item as a hedged itethgdedged asset, liability or firm
commitment in accordance with GAAP applicable tosthassets or liabilities.

When hedge accounting is discontinued and the akirescontinues to exist but the forecasted traimacs no longer probable of
occurrence, the Company continues to carry thevaigve in the Consolidated Statements of Finarfegaition at its fair value, recognizes



subsequent changes in the fair value of the dérevat the Consolidated Statements of Income, and
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continues to defer the derivative gain or loss aadated in OCI (unless the forecasted transactialeemed probable not to occur, at which
time it would be reclassified to earnings) unti thedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

Foreign Currency

Certain of the Company's non-US operations use thspective local currency as their functionakency. These operations that do not
have the U.S. dollar as their functional curremayslate their financial statements at the cunatets of exchange in effect at the balance shee
date and revenues and expenses using rates thakepgte those in effect during the period. Thaulisy translation adjustments are included
as a component of stockholders' equity in Accunedlather comprehensive loss in the Consolidate@tnts of Financial Position. Gains
and losses from the remeasurement of monetarysaasétiabilities that are denominated in a norefiomal currency are included in Other
income within the Consolidated Statements of Incohine effect of foreign exchange gains and losseth® Consolidated Statements of
Income was a gain of $3 million in 2013 , a los$b6 million in 2012 and a gain of $10 million iB2L . Included in these amounts were
hedging losses of $10 million in 2013, hedginghgaf $3 million in 2012 , and hedging losses d $dllion in 2011 .

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for the effeteamporary differences between financial repgriind tax basis of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the enacted imalrtax rates and laws that are currently in éff€be effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities from a change in tax rates is recogdizethe period when the rate change is enacted.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation alloesif, based on the consideration of all avadlalidence, it is more likely than not
that some portion of the deferred tax asset witlbwrealized. Significant weight is given to evide that can be objectively verified. Deferred
tax assets are realized by having sufficient futarable income to allow the related tax benefiteetluce taxes otherwise payable. The source
of taxable income that may be available to realieebenefit of deferred tax assets are future ssd®f existing taxable temporary differenc
future taxable income exclusive of reversing terappdifferences and carry-forwards, taxable incamearry-back years and tax planning
strategies that are both prudent and feasible.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taitipas only if sustaining those positions is makely than not. Tax positions that
meet the more likely than not recognition threshmitlare not highly certain are initially and sudpsently measured based on the largest
amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likdlp@ing realized upon settlement with the taxinthatity. Only information that is available
at the reporting date is considered in the Commargcognition and measurement analysis, and egegtsanges in facts and circumstances
accounted for in the period in which the eventtmrge in circumstance occurs.

The Company records penalties and interest retatadrecognized tax benefits in Income taxes inGbmpany's Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Changesin Accounting Principles

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incc

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stangd@dard ("FASB") issued guidance on the disclosdimounts to be reclassified out
of accumulated other comprehensive income. Theagiel requires that amounts reclassified out ofraatated other comprehensive income
be presented either on the face of the statemesperhtions or in the notes to the financial statetsiby component. The guidance was
effective for Aon beginning in the first quarterl®) The adoption of this guidance did not have gena impact on the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Asset Impairment

In July 2012, FASB issued guidance on the testfrigdefinite-lived intangible assets for impairmehnat gives an entity the option to
perform a qualitative assessment that may elimithe@equirement to perform the annual quantitatxgt. The guidance gives an entity the
option to first perform a qualitative assessmemtdtermine whether it is more likely than not ttheg fair value of a an indefinite-lived
intangible asset is less than its carrying amolfrdn entity concludes that this is the case,lshperform the quantitative test. The guidance
was effective for Aon beginning in the first quarg®13. The adoption of this guidance did not haweaterial impact on the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheet Offsettit

In December 2011, the FASB issued guidance onifwdodure of offsetting assets and liabilities halele users of financial statements to
evaluate the effect or potential effect of nettimgangements on an entity's financial position. dbjective of this disclosure is to facilitate
comparison between those entities that preparefthancial statements on the basis of U.S. GAA® uose entities that prepare their finar
statements on the basis of IFRS. The guidancenesjoertain derivatives, repurchase agreementsearadse repurchase agreements, and
securities borrowing and lending transactions seldse both the gross and net position of thesadilal instruments. The guidance was
effective for Aon beginning in the first quarterI® The adoption of this guidance did not haveagenial impact on the Company’s
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Presentation of Unrecognized Tax Bene

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance on the ptesien of certain unrecognized tax benefits onfiencial statements. The guidance
requires, unless certain conditions exist, an wgeized tax benefit to be presented as a redutdiardeferred tax asset in the financial
statements for a net operating loss carryforwasdmélar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward eTguidance is effective for Aon in the first
quarter of 2014. The adoption of this guidanceoisaxpected to have a material impact on the Cogip&@onsolidated Financial Statements.

Foreign Currency

In March 2013, the FASB issued new accounting quidaclarifying the accounting for the release ahalative translation adjustment
into net income when a parent either sells a paatl®f its investment in a foreign entity or ranger holds a controlling financial interest in a
subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprafittly or a business within a foreign entity. Tépeidance is effective for Aon in the first quau
of 2014. The adoption of this guidance is not expe:to have a material impact on the Company's @inlaged Financial Statements.

3. Other Financial Data

Consolidated Statements of Income Information
Other Income

Other income consists of the following (in milligns

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Equity earnings $ 20 $ 13  $ 7
Gains on investments 28 7 18
Gain on disposal of business 10 1 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — (19
Foreign currency remeasurement gains (losses) 13 (29 3C
Derivative (losses) gains (20 3 (20
Other 7 3 3
$ 68 % 2 3% 19

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position Infanation

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

An analysis of the allowance for doubtful accoustas follows (in millions):

Years ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of year $ 11¢  $ 104 % 10z
Provision charged to operations 9 45 43
Accounts written off, net of recoveries (38) (30 (42
Effect of exchange rate changes and other 1 (D] 1
Balance at end of year $ Q0 $ 11€ % 104
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Other Current Assets

The components of Other current assets are asv®llim millions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Prepaid expenses $ 22¢ % 231
Taxes 204 69
Deferred project costs 98 95
Other 32 35
$ 56 $ 43C

Fixed Assets, net

The components of Fixed assets, net are as followsillions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Software $ 997 $ 867
Leasehold improvements 434 42¢
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 323 331
Computer equipment 341 332
Construction in progress 70 10¢
Other (1) 124 124
2,28¢ 2,18¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation 1,49¢ 1,36¢
Fixed assets, net $ 791 % 82(C

(1) Land and buildings and Automobiles, disclosepasately in 2012, are now presented in Other bdocm with the current presentation.

Depreciation expense, which includes software amadion, was $240 million , $232 million , and $22dlion for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 , respectively.

Other Non-Current Assets

The components of Other non-current assets am@law/$ (in millions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Prepaid pension $ 567 $ 34C
Deferred project costs 273 26C
Taxes 10¢ 84
Other 282 232
$ 1,23C $ 91€

Other Current Liabilities

The components of Other current liabilities aréadlsws (in millions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Deferred revenue $ 478 $ 43t
Taxes 184 15E

Other 247 241




90¢

831
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Other Non-Current Liabilities

The components of Other non-current liabilities asdollows (in millions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Leases $ 204 % 21t
Taxes 184 17¢
Deferred revenue 134 15C
Compensation and benefits 10t 21€
Other 30t 277
$ 93z % 1,03¢

4. Acquisitions and Dispositions

In 2013, the Company completed the acquisitioeigiit businesses in the Risk Solutions segmenttard businesses in the HR
Solutions segment.

In 2012 , the Company completed the acquisitiosixbusinesses in the Risk Solutions segment aeddiisinesses in the HR Solutions
segment.

The following table includes the aggregate consitien transferred and the preliminary value ofigiale assets recorded as a result of
the Company's acquisitions (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012
Consideration $ 54 % 17t
Intangible assets:
Goodwill $ 38 3 90
Other intangible assets 28 10C
Total $ 66 $ 19C

The results of operations of these acquisitionsrarleded in the Consolidated Financial Statemastsf the acquisition date. The results
of operations of the Company would not have beeteriadly different if these acquisitions had beeparted from the beginning of the period
in which they were acquired.

Dispositions

During 2013, the Company completed the disposibioseven businesses in the Risk Solutions segnmehtveo businesses in the HR
Solutions segment. Total pretax gains of $10 nrillicere recognized on these sales, which are indlid®ther income in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

During 2012, the Company completed the disposibibtiiree businesses in the Risk Solutions segnrehbae business in the HR
Solutions segment. Total pretax gains of $1 millieere recognized on these sales, which are inclid@ther income in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

During 2011, the Company completed the disposibitivo businesses in the Risk Solutions segmeatpigtax gains or losses were
recognized on these sales.
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5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the net carrying amount of goodwilbperating segment for the years ended Decenthe2(d.3 and 2012 , respectively,
are as follows (in millions):

Risk HR
Solutions Solutions Total
Balance as of January 1, 2012 $ 5551 $ 321 % 8,77(
Gooduwill related to acquisitions 49 47 96
Goodwill related to disposals (D) — D
Goodwill related to other prior year acquisitions (6) — (6)
Transfers (1) 313 (319 —
Foreign currency translation 70 14 84
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 598: $ 2,961 $ 8,94
Goodwill related to acquisitions 36 2 38
Goodwill related to disposals 9 (©)] (12
Gooduwill related to other prior year acquisitions 2 17 15
Foreign currency translation 13 — 13
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 6,02 $ 2971 $ 8,991

(1) Effective January 1, 2012, the Health and Ben€onsulting business was transferred from tReSblutions segment to the Risk
Solutions segment.

Other intangible assets by asset class are asvi(io millions):

As of December 31

2013 2012
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Intangible assets with indefinite lives:
Tradenames $ 1,01¢ % — % 1,01¢ % 1,028 % —  $ 1,02¢
Intangible assets with finite lives:
Customer related and contract based 2,72 1,31( 1,41C 2,71¢ 96¢ 1,74¢
Marketing, technology and other (1) 584 43t 14¢ 61¢ 414 20t
$ 4,327 % 1,748 $ 257¢ % 4,35¢ $ 1,387 % 2,97¢

(1) Tradenames with finite lives disclosed separatelgrior years are now presented in Marketing, teldgy, and othe

Amortization expense from finite-lived intangiblesgts was $395 million , $423 million and $362 imillduring 2013 , 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively.

The estimated future amortization for intangibleeds as of December 31, 2013 is as follows (inionii):

Risk HR
Solutions Solutions Total
2014 $ 98 $ 243 % 341
2015 83 212 29t
2016 72 177 24¢
2017 59 141 20C
2018 42 94 13€
Thereafter 76 262 33¢
$ 43C $ 1,12¢ $ 1,55¢
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6. Restructuring

Aon Hewitt Restructuring Plan

On October 14, 2010, the Company announced a gitebalicturing plan ("Aon Hewitt Plan") in connexctiwith the acquisition of
Hewitt. The Aon Hewitt Plan was intended to straambperations across the combined Aon Hewitt degdion and included 2,960 job
eliminations. Additionally, duplicate space andedssvere abandoned. The Company incurred all rengagosts for the Aon Hewitt Plan and
the plan was closed in 2013. The Aon Hewitt Plaulted in cumulative costs of approximately $428iam , consisting of approximate§26¢
million in employee termination costs and approxisha$163 million in real estate rationalizatiorst

The Company recorded $174 million of restructurielgted expenses for the year ended December 23, @harges related to the
restructuring are included in Compensation and fitsrend Other general expenses in the accompar@imgolidated Statements of Income.

The following summarizes restructuring and relatests by type that were incurred through the erti@festructuring initiative related
to the Aon Hewitt Plan (in millions):

Completed Plan

2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
Workforce reduction $ 49 3 64 $ 74 % 79 $ 26€
Lease consolidation 3 32 18 83 13€
Asset impairments — 7 4 7 18
Other costs associated with restructuring (1) — 2 2 5 9
Total restructuring and related expenses $ 52 $ 108 % 98 3 174 % 42¢

(1) Other costs associated with restructuringdtiites, including moving costs and consulting &ghl fees, are recognized when
incurred.

The following summarizes the restructuring andteslaexpenses, by segment, that have been inclmealgh the end of the restructuring
initiative related to the Aon Hewitt Plan (in mdhs):

Completed Plan

2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
HR Solutions $ 52 §$ 49 9 66 $ 80 $ 247
Risk Solutions — 56 32 94 18z
Total restructuring and related expenses $ 52 $ 105 $ 98 $ 174  $ 42¢

(1) Costs included in the Risk Solutions segmeatdae to the inclusion of the health and benefitssulting business in the Risk
Solutions segment, which was transfered from HRi8wis effective January 1, 2012. Costs incurre2iihl in the HR Solutions
segment of $41 million related to the health andefies consulting business have been reclassifieidoaesented in the Risk Solutions
segment.
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As of December 31, 2013 , the Company's liabilitarsts restructuring plans are as follows (inlriis):

Aon
Aon Hewitt Benfield 2007
Plan Plan Plan Other Total
Balance at January 1, 2011 $ 88 $ 26 $ 112 % 10 % 237
Expensed 98 19 (12) — 10€
Cash payments (93 (24) (59 2 (179¢)
Foreign exchange translation and other 2 Q) 7 — 8
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 95 $ 20 % 50 $ 8 $ 17z
Expensed 94 6 3 — 97
Cash payments (95) (24) (18) (5) (142)
Stock compensation — Q) — — (1)
Foreign exchange translation and other 2 2 6 — 10
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 9% $ 3 % 3B 3 ¢ 137
Expensed 167 — — — 167
Cash payments (125) )] (29 Q) (152)
Foreign exchange and other 5 — 9 — 14
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 14 $ 1 3 20 % 2 3 16€

The Company's unpaid restructuring liabilities imeuded in both Accounts payable and accruedlites and Other non-current

liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of FitiahPosition.

7. Investments

The Company earns income on cash balances andrimy@s, as well as on premium trust balances tiga€bmpany maintains for
premiums collected from insureds but not yet readitp insurance companies, and funds held undeethes of certain outsourcing agreem
to pay certain obligations on behalf of clienteefium trust balances and a corresponding liakaligyincluded in Fiduciary assets and
Fiduciary liabilities in the accompanying Consotith Statements of Financial Position.

The Company's interest-bearing assets and othestiments are included in the following categoniethe Consolidated Statements of

Financial Position (in millions):

As of December 31 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $ 477 $ 291

Short-term investments 528 34¢€

Fiduciary assets (1) 3,77¢ 4,02¢

Investments 13z 165
$ 491C $ 4,831

(1) Fiduciary assets include funds held on behalf ieiht$ but does not include fiduciary receivalt
The Company's investments are as follows (in nm#jo

As of December 31 2013 2012

Equity method investments $ 112 % 10z

Other investments, at cost (2) 10 43

Fixed-maturity securities (2) 9 2C
$ 132 $ 16t

(2) The reductions in other investments and fireaturity securities are primarily due to s
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8. Debt

The following is a summary of outstanding debtrfiitlions):

As of December 31 2013 2012

6.25% EUR 500 debt securities due July 2014 $ 68t $ 661
5.00% senior notes due September 2020 59¢ 59¢
3.50% senior notes due September 2015 59¢ 59¢
8.205% junior subordinated deferrable interest dabres due January 2027 521 521
3.125% senior notes due May 2016 50C 50C
4.76% CAD 375 debt securities due March 2018 352 377
4.00% senior notes due November 2023 34¢ —
6.25% senior notes due September 2040 29¢ 297
4.45 senior notes due May 2043 24¢ —
4.25% senior notes due December 2042 19t 107
Term loan credit facility due October 2013 (LIBOR38%) — 38¢
Other 43 12:
Total debt 4,38¢ 4,16
Less short-term and current portion of long-terratde 703 452
Total long-term debt $ 3,68 $ 3,71

The Company uses proceeds from the commercial pageket from time to time in order to meet shortrtevorking capital needs. The
Company had no commercial paper outstanding atieee31, 2013 and $50 million of commercial papgstanding at December 31, 2012
which was included in Short-term debt in the Conym@onsolidated Statements of Financial Posifitme weighted average commercial
paper outstanding for 2013 and 2012 was $339 milliod $67 million , respectively. The weighted agerinterest rate of the commercial
paper outstanding during 2013 and 2012 was 0.35®a1.% , respectively.

On November 21, 2013, the Company issued $350amilhi aggregate principal amount of 4.00% Notes PQ@3. The 4.009%lotes Due
2023 were issued by Aon plc and fully and uncooddily guaranteed by Aon Corporation. The Compaseduthe proceeds of the issuance to
repay commercial paper borrowings and for genenglarate purposes.

On May 21, 2013, the Company issued $250 millioaggregate principal amount of 4.45% Notes Due 2048 4.45% Notes Due 2043
were issued by Aon plc and fully and unconditiopgiliaranteed by Aon Corporation. The Company usegtoceeds of the issuance to repay
commercial paper borrowings and for general coegparposes.

On April 29, 2013, the Company amended its Eurdliaagreement to add Aon plc as an additionakrbaer. On May 8, 2013, the
Company established a multi-currency commerciakpgpogram in aggregate principal amount of up@0Emillion . Aon Corporation is a
guarantor under the program.

On April 15, 2013, an S-4 registration statemegtstering $256 million in aggregate principal ambah4.250% Notes Due 2042 (the
"Exchange Notes") under the Securities Act of 12&3amended (the "Securities Act"), was declarftife by the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Exchange Notes were exchangetiéoDtiginal Notes. The form and terms of the ExgeaNotes are substantially identical
in all material respects to those of the Originat®$ except that the Exchange Notes are registemel the Securities Act and the transfer
restrictions, registration rights and related addal interest provisions applicable to the OrigiNates do not apply to the Exchange Notes.
Like the Original Notes, the Exchange Notes wesadsl by Aon plc and unconditionally guaranteed by £orporation. All Original Notes
were exchanged for Exchange Notes in the seconteq913

On March 8, 2013, the Company issued $90 millioaggregate principal amount of 4.250% Notes Due220#e 4.250% Notes Due
2042 constitute a further issuance of, and wersaatated to form a single series of debt securitvéh, the $166 million aggregate principal
amount of the 4.250% Notes Due 2042 issued by AoompDecember 12, 2012 (collectively, the "OridiNates"). The Original Notes were
unconditionally guaranteed as to the payment ofgipal and interest by Aon Corporation.
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On December 12, 2012, the Company issued $166omiggregate principal amount of 4.250% Notes OME2n connection with an
exchange offer of Aon Corporation's outstandind@B% junior subordinated deferrable interest debestdue January 2027. In connection
with this exchange, the Company paid a premiunb8f @illion which will be amortized into Interestpense over the life of the new notes.

On August 31, 2012, the Company filed a shelf tegfion statement with the SEC, registering theméind sale from time to time of an
indeterminate amount of, among other securitielst, decurities, preference shares, Class A OrdiSheyes and convertible securities. The
availability of any potential liquidity for thesgges of securities is dependent on investor denraadket conditions and other factors.

On March 20, 2012, Aon entered into the U.S. RgciBorrowings under the U.S. Facility will beatenest, at the Company's option, at ¢
rate equal to either (a) the rate for eurodollgradits as reflected on the applicable Reuters LIBORage for the interest period relevant to
such borrowing ("Eurodollar Rate"), plus the apglie margin or (b) the highest of (i) the raterdérest publicly announced by Citibank as its
prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective ratenfi time to time plus 0.5% and (iii) the one moRtirodollar rate plus 1.0% , in each case plus
the applicable margin. The applicable margin fartnings under the U.S. Facility may change depamdin achievement of certain public
debt ratings. The U.S. Facility has a maturity ddt®darch 20, 2017. In conjunction with the Compamgering into the U.S. Facility the prior
revolving U.S. credit agreement dated DecembeB@9 2vas terminated.

On May 24, 2011, Aon entered into an underwritiggeeament for the sale of $500 million of 3.125%amsed Senior Notes due 2016
(the "Notes"). On June 15, 2011, Aon entered infer@n Credit Agreement for unsecured term loannfameg of $450 million ("2011 Term
Loan Facility") due on October 1, 2013. The 201inT&oan Facility is a variable rate loan that iséd on LIBOR plus a margin and at
December 31, 2012, the effective annualized raeapproximately 1.59% . The Company used the metegds from the Notes issuance and
2011 Term Loan Facility borrowings to repay all amts outstanding under its $1.0 billion three -y&radit agreement dated August 13, 2010
("2010 Term Loan Facility"), which was entered imaconnection with the acquisition of Hewitt. TBempany recorded a $19 million loss on
the extinguishment of the 2010 Term Loan Facilgyaaesult of the write-off of the deferred finargicosts, which is included in Other income
(expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

On March 8, 2011, an indirect wholly-owned subsigliaf Aon issued CAD 375 million ( $377 at DecemBg&, 2012 exchange rates) of
4.76% senior unsecured debt securities, which aeerdMarch 2018 and are guaranteed by the ComJdreyCompany used the net proceeds
from this issuance to repay its CAD 375 millio@%% debt securities upon their maturity on Apri] 2011.

On August 13, 2010, in connection with the acqigisibf Hewitt, Aon entered into an unsecured thgear Term Credit Agreement (the
"2010 Term Loan Credit Facility"), which providedsecured term loan financing of up to $1.0 billicrhis Term Loan Credit Facility has an
interest rate of LIBOR + 2.5% . The Company borrd#&.0 billion under this facility on October 1,1Dto finance a portion of the Hewitt
purchase price. The Company incurred $26 milliodeferred finance costs associated with the Tereml@redit Facility that were to be
amortized over the term of the loan. Concurrenhwittering into the Term Loan Credit Facility, thempany also entered into a Senior Bri
Term Loan Credit Agreement which provided unsecimiédye financing of up to $1.5 billion (the "Bridd.oan Facility") to finance a portion
of the Hewitt purchase price.

In lieu of drawing under the Bridge Loan Facilion September 7, 2010, Aon entered into an Undengrigreement (the "Underwritir
Agreement") with several underwriters with resgedhe offering and sale by the Company of $600ionilaggregate principal amount of its
3.50% Senior Notes due 2015 (the "2015 Notes")p$60ion aggregate principal amount of its 5.00&n®Br Notes due 2020 (the "2020
Notes") anc$300 million aggregate principal amount of its 825enior Notes due 2040 (the "2040 Notes" and thegevith the 2015 Notes
and 2020 Notes, the "Notes") under the Companygssiation Statement on Form S-3. All of these Natee unsecured. Deferred financing
costs associated with the Notes of $12 million weagitalized and are included in Other non-curessets, and will be amortized over the
respective term of each note. Following the issaafchese Notes, on September 15, 2010, the Btidga Facility was terminated and the
Company recorded $14 million of related deferreduificing costs in the Consolidated Statements aiec

On October 15, 2010, the Company entered into a8650 million ( $860 million at December 31, 20X2leange rates) multi-currency
revolving loan credit facility (the "Euro Facilityised by certain of Aon's European subsidiarieg. Euro Facility replaced the previous
facility which was entered into in October 2005 amatured in October 2010 (the "2005 Facility"). THgo Facility expires in October 2015
and has commitment fees of 35 basis points payabthe unused portion of the facility. Aon hasmgueed the obligations of its subsidiaries
with respect to this facility. The Company had morbwings under the Euro Facility.

On July 1, 2009, an indirect wholly-owned subsigiaf Aon issued €500 million ( $661 million at Deaber 31, 2012 exchange rates) of
6.25% senior unsecured debentures due on Julyl?, Zle carrying value of the debt includes $1liomil
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related to hedging activities. The payment of theqipal and interest on the debentures is uncanditly and irrevocably guaranteed by Aon.
Proceeds from the offering were used to repay tragany's $677 million outstanding indebtedness uitsl2005 Facility.

In 1997, Aon created Aon Capital A, a wholly-owrstdtutory business trust ("Trust"), for the purpok&ssuing mandatorily redeemable
preferred capital securities ("Capital Securities®n received cash and an investment in 100%ettdmmon equity of Aon Capital A by
issuing 8.205% Junior Subordinated Deferrable ésieDebentures (the "Debentures") to Aon Capitaltfese transactions were structured
such that the net cash flows from Aon to Aon Capitanatched the cash flows from Aon Capital A te third party investors. Aon determin
that it was not the primary beneficiary of Aon GapA, a VIE, and, thus reflected the Debenturelwag-term debt. During the first half of
2009, Aon repurchased $15 million face value ofGaital Securities for approximately $10 millioresulting in a $5 million gain, which was
reported in Other income (expense) in the Cons@di&tatements of Income. To facilitate the legldase of the obligation created througt
Debentures associated with this repurchase antefudpurchases, Aon dissolved the Trust effectivee 25, 2009. This dissolution resulted in
the exchange of the Capital Securities held byltharties for the Debentures. Also in connectiotihhe dissolution of the Trust, the $24
million of common equity of Aon Capital A held byoA was exchanged for $24 million of Debenturescivhwere then cancelled. Following
these actions, $687 million of Debentures remaistanding. The Debentures are subject to mandatdmption on January 1, 2027 or are
redeemable in whole, but not in part, at the optibAon upon the occurrence of certain events.

There are a number of covenants associated withthetU.S. and Euro facilities, the most signiftcafwhich require Aon to maintain a
ratio of consolidated EBITDA (earnings before ietgr taxes, depreciation, and amortization), ad§ufir Hewitt related transaction costs and
up to $50 million in non-recurring cash chargesdjusted EBITDA"), to consolidated interest expeabdto 1 and a ratio of consolidated d
to Adjusted EBITDA, of not greater than 3 to 1. Amas in compliance with all debt covenants duriag2

Other than the Debentures, outstanding debt sexsidate not redeemable by Aon prior to maturityerehare no sinking fund provisions.
Interest is payable semi-annually on most debtritessi

Repayments of total debt are as follows (in milipn

2014 $ 703
2015 60¢
2016 51C
2017 4
2018 352
Thereafter 2,211

$ 4,38¢

9. Lease Commitments

The Company leases office facilities, equipment amwmobiles under non-cancelable operating led$ese leases expire at various
dates and may contain renewal and expansion opfio@asidition to base rental costs, occupancy lagseements generally provide for rent
escalations resulting from increased assessmantsdbestate taxes and other charges. The Congplaage obligations are primarily for the
use of office space.

In September 2013, the Company entered into areaget to lease up to 479,000 square feet in a nddirg to be constructed in
Gurgaon, India. The agreement is contingent upercémpletion of the building construction. Aon esseto move into the new building in
phases during 2014 and 2015 upon the expiratidheoéxisting leases at the Gurgaon locations. Tdragainy has included the future minim
rental payments for this leased space in the sdhdulow.

In November 2011, the Company entered into an aggaeto lease office space in a new building tedrestructed in London, United
Kingdom. The agreement is contingent upon the cetigul of the building construction. Aon expectsrove into the new building in 2015
when the building is completed and it exercisesanty break option at another leased facility. Cmmpany has included the future minimum
rental payments for this leased space in the séhdslow and has excluded the future minimum repdgiments for the existing lease beyond
the expected date of the exercise of the breakiopti
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Rental expenses (including amounts applicablextestansurance and maintenance) for operating $emseas follows (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011

Rental expense $ 52C $ 53¢ $ 52t

Sub lease rental income 77 72 71
Net rental expense $ 44 $ 464 $ 454

At December 31, 2013, future minimum rental paytaeaquired under operating leases that havelioiti,emaining non-cancelable
lease terms in excess of one year, net of subteasal income, are as follows (in millions):

2014 $ 40¢
2015 371
2016 334
2017 287
2018 25(C
Thereafter 90z
Total minimum payments required $ 2,55¢

10. Income Taxes

Income before income tax and the provision for medax consist of the following (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Income before income taxes:
U.K. $ 9% $ 36 222
u.sS. 34¢ 46€ 30t
Other 1,09: 87€ 861
Total $ 153 $ 1,38C $ 1,38¢
Income tax (benefit) expense:
Current:
U.K. $ (18 $ (10) $ 13
U.S. federal 111 17C a7
U.S. state and local 52 57 35
Other 25¢ 23€ 204
Total current $ 404 $ 458§ 23t
Deferred:
U.K. $ 43 $ 446 % 32
U.S. federal (48) (83 10¢
U.S. state and local 10 (10 14
Other (19 (48) (12)
Total deferred $ (14 $ (95) $ 142
Total income tax expense $ 39C $ 36C $ 37¢

Income before income taxes shown above is bas#tedocation of the business unit to which sucmiegs are attributable for tax
purposes. In addition, because the earnings shbaweamay in some cases be subject to taxation e than one country, the income tax
provision shown above as U.K., U.S., or Other matycorrespond to the geographic attribution oféheings.
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A reconciliation of the income tax provisions basedthe Company's domicile and statutory rate elh @@porting period is performed.
Due to the Redomestication, the 2013 and 2012 oi#lcations are based on the U.K. statutory corpmotak rate of 23% and 24% , respectively
and 2011 is based on the U.S. statutory rate of 3&#ich was the statutory rate prior to the Redstination. The reconciliation to the
provisions reflected in the Consolidated FinanSi@tements is as follows:

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Statutory tax rate 23.0% 24.0% 35.0%
U.S. state income taxes, net of U.S. federal benefi 2.6 2.2 2.3
Taxes on international operations (1) (4.4 0.6 (11.5)
Nondeductible expenses 1.4 2.0 3.5
Adjustments to prior year tax requirements (1.6) 0.4 (1.2)
Deferred tax adjustments, including statutory chtenges 1.4 0.7 0.9
Deferred tax adjustments, international earnings 3.3 — —
Adjustments to valuation allowances a.7) (5.6) .7)
Other — net 1.4 1.8 (0.2)
Effective tax rate 25.4% 26.1% 27.3%

(1) The Company determines the adjustment forstaxeinternational operations based on the differdretween the statutory tax rate
applicable to earnings in each foreign jurisdictiond the enacted rate of 23% , 24% and 35% at Dieexe®d, 2013, 2012 and 2011 ,

respectively.

The components of the Company's deferred tax aaedtiabilities are as follows (in millions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Employee benefit plans 623 917
Net operating/capital loss and tax credit carryfmme 354 36¢
Other accrued expenses 14z 47
Investment basis differences 50 13
Other 58 77
Total 1,227 1,422
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets (127) (159
Total 1,10( 1,26¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangibles and property, plant and equipment (2,079 (1,129
Unremitted earnings (52) —
Deferred revenue (27) (30)
Other accrued expenses (39 (62
Unrealized investment gains — 5)
Unrealized foreign exchange gains 27 (8)
Other (64) (29
Total (1,287) (1,267)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) (182 6
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Deferred income taxes (assets and liabilities Heeen netted by jurisdiction) have been classifiethé Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position as follows (in millions):

As of December 31, 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets — current (1) $ 93 $ 44
Deferred tax assets — non-current 19¢ 28t
Deferred tax liabilities — current (1) (48) (17)
Deferred tax liabilities — non-current (420 (306
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (182) $ 6

(1) Included in Other current assets and Other cutianitities.

Valuation allowances have been established prignaiith regard to the tax benefits of certain neg¢maing loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Valuation allowances decreased Byrflion in 2013 , primarily attributable to théange in the valuation allowances for
foreign tax credit carryforwards.

The Company recognized, as an adjustment to addltfmaid-in-capital, income tax benefits attribuéato employee stock compensation
of $74 million , $33 million and $36 million in 281, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

During 2013 we changed our assertion on a porti@muoundistributed earnings and U.S deferred inedaxes of $51 million were
accrued. Undistributed earnings of non-U.S. emstitiere approximately $3.8 billion at December 3112. U.S. income taxes have not been
provided on these undistributed earnings becawseate considered to be permanently invested isetsabsidiaries. It is not practicable to
estimate the amount of unrecognized deferred &dilities, if any, for these undistributed foreigarnings.

At December 31, 2013 , the Company had U.K. opagdtiss carryforwards of $660 million and capitad carryforwards of $270
million , nearly all of which have an indefinitercgorward. In addition there are U.S. federal @tieg loss carryforwards of $25 million that
will expire at various dates from 2020 to 2027 &h8. state operating loss carryforwards of $412ianilthat will expire at various dates from
2014 to 2031. In other non-U.S. jurisdictions thare operating and capital loss carryforwards &7&illion and $86 million , respectively,
which have various carryforward periods and wiljjineto expire in 2015.

During 2012, we were granted a tax holiday forgleod from October 1, 2012 through September 8222with respect to withholding
taxes and certain income derived from servicedng&pore. This tax holiday and reduced withholdirgrate may be extended when certain
conditions are met or may be terminated earlyrifade conditions are not met. The benefit realidadng 2013 was approximately $3.9
million .

Uncertain Tax Positions

The following is a reconciliation of the Compang&ginning and ending amount of uncertain tax passti(in millions):

2013 2012
Balance at January 1 $ 15¢ $ 11¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryear 22 21
Additions for tax positions of prior years 69 45
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (70 Q)
Settlements (20 (22
Lapse of statute of limitations (©)] (5)
Balance at December 31 $ 164 $ 15€

As of December 31, 2013, $141 million of uncertaix positions would impact the effective tax r@tecognized. The Company does
not expect the uncertain tax positions to changeifstantly over the next twelve months.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltieserbtatuncertain tax positions in its provision ifttome taxes. Aon accrued potential
interest and penalties of $2 million and $6 milliar2013 and 2012 , respectively. The Company desrded a liability for interest and
penalties of $27 million and $23 million as of Detdger 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries file various inedax returns in their jurisdictions. The Compang Bubstantially concluded all U.S.
federal income tax matters for years through 200&erial U.S. state and local income tax jurisdioati
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examinations have been concluded for years thr@dgh. The Company has concluded income tax exaiminsain its primary non-U.S.
jurisdictions through 200!

11. Shareholders' Equity

Redomestication

Prior to the Redomestication, the Company accouiatepurchases of its outstanding common stockguie treasury share method
permitted under U.S. GAAP. Under this method, toenBany recorded purchases of its own outstandingroan stock as a reduction to
Additional paidin capital based on the cost of the shares acquiheder U.K. law, when the Company repurchasesutstanding shares, thc
shares are treated as cancelled. In April 2012Ctirapany constructively cancelled 60 million shaEgeasury stock related to the
Redomestication. The impact of the cancellatioalbdutstanding treasury shares was a decreasedindy shares and Retained earnings of
$60 million and $2.4 billion , respectively. Theldrace of Treasury stock at cost of $2.5 billion a0 eliminated as part of the cancellation.
Additionally, effective upon the completion of tRedomestication, the par value of Aon's outstandigty shares decreased from $1.00 to
$0.01 . The impact of this change was a decrea®edmary shares of $323 million , and an incraasidditional paid-in capital of $323
million .

As a U.K. incorporated company, Aon plc must hadisttibutable reserves" to make share repurchasgayodividends to shareholders.
Distributable reserves may be created throughdheiregs of the U.K. parent company and, amongsroatiethods, through a reduction in sl
capital approved by the English Companies Coudtribiutable reserves are not linked to a U.S. GAd&ported amount. On April 4, 2012, the
Company received approval from the English Compagieurt to reduce its share premium and in conmeetith that approval, recognized
distributable reserves in the amount of $8.0 hillicAs of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Compaudydistributable reserves of $5.9 billion
and $7.0 billion , respectively.

Ordinary Shares

In January 2010, the Company's Board of Directateaized a share repurchase program under which $p billion of common stock
may be repurchased ("2010 Stock Repurchase PBhdyes could be repurchased through the open nmarkeprivately negotiated
transactions, including structured repurchase aogr from time to time, based on prevailing madagtditions, and were to be funded from
available capital. Any repurchased shares were available for employee stock plans and for otlogporate purposes.

The 2010 Stock Repurchase Program, which relatedrtonon stock of Aon Corporation and preceded tha@ofestication, did not
extend to shares of Aon plc. In April 2012, the Qxamy's Board of Directors therefore authorizedaeiepurchase program under which up
to $5.0 billion of Class A Ordinary Shares may épurchased ("2012 Share Repurchase Program"). Wmdegrrogram, shares may be
repurchased through the open market or in privateotiated transactions, from time to time, basegrevailing market conditions, and will
be funded from available capital.

In 2013 , the Company repurchased 16.8 millioneshat an average price per share of $65.65 fdahdost of $1.1 billion . During
2012 , the Company repurchased 21.6 million shar@n average price per share of $52.16 fotahdost of $1.1 billion under the 2012
Share Repurchase Program and the previously coadp2®10 Share Repurchase Program. The remainihgraagtd amount for share
repurchase under the 2012 Share Repurchase Prag#h® billion . Since the inception of the 2012a8 Repurchase Program, we
repurchased a total of 36.3 million shares foaggregate cost of $2.1 billion .

Participating Securities

Unvested share-based payment awards that contaiforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend eqalents, whether paid or unpaid, are
participating securities, as defined, and therefsiheuld be included in computing basic and diltathings per share using the two class
method. Certain of the Company's restricted shaerds allow the holder to receive a non-forfeitatilddend equivalent.

Net income, attributable to participating secusitreere $11 million , $11 million , and $13 milliéor the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011 respectively.
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Weighted average shares outstanding are as fo(iowsillions):

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Shares for basic earnings per share (1) 311.¢ 328.t 335.t
Common stock equivalents 4.C 4.1 5.4
Shares for diluted earnings per share 315.¢ 332.¢ 340.¢

(1) Includes 3.9 million , 4.7 million and 7.6 fioh shares of participating securities for thergeended December 31, 2013, 2012 , and
2011 respectively.

Certain ordinary share equivalents were not inaudehe computation of diluted net income per sHacause their inclusion would
have been antidilutive. The number of shares exddtbm the calculation was 0.0 million in 20132 énillion in 2012 and 0.1 million in

2011.

Dividends
During 2013, 2012, and 2011 , the Company paiitléhds on its Class A Ordinary Shares of $212ionil| $204 million , and $200

million , respectively. Dividends paid per Clas#dinary Share were $0.68 , $0.62 and $0.60 foyéaes ended December 31, 2013 , 2012
and 2011 respectively.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changes in Accumulated other comprehensive logomponent, net of related tax, are as follows (iifians):

Foreign Post-
Change in Fair  Change in Fair Currency Retirement
Value of Value of Translation Benefit
Investments (1) Derivatives (1) Adjustments Obligation (2) Total
Balance at January 1, 2011 $ — 3 (24) % 166 $ (2,06) $ (1,91)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications:
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications — (44) 47 (682) (779)
Tax benefit — 15 3 22t 242
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificatines, — (29 (44) (457) (530
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other compnetve
loss:
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss — 25 — 89 114
Tax benefit — 9) — (28) (37
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss, net — 16 — 61 77
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) ircom — (23 (44) (396) (453
Balance at December 31, 2011 — (37 124 (2,457%) (2,370
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications:
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications — (29 10¢ (59¢) (50¢)
Tax benefit — 7 — 164 171
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificatines, — (12 10¢ (439) (337)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other compnetve
loss:
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss — 33 — 11C 142
Tax benefit — (12 — (34) (46)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss, net — 21 — 76 97
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) ircom — 9 10¢ (35§) (240
Balance at December 31, 2012 — (28) 233 (2,81%) (2,610
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications:
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications 27 (12 (65) 33€ 28¢€
Tax benefit (13 5 1 (13€) (143
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificatines, 14 (7) (64) 20C 14z
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgnsive
loss:
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss (20 21 — 131 132
Tax benefit 7 (8) — (38) (39
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss, net (13 13 — 93 93
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) ircom 1 6 (64) 29¢ 23¢€
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1 3 (22) $ 16 $ (2,522 $ (2,379

(1) Reclassifications from this category includediccumulated other comprehensive loss are recard@ther income
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(2) Reclassifications from this category includedccumulated other comprehensive loss are recard€dmpensation and benefits

12. Employee Benefits

Defined Contribution Savings Plans

Aon maintains defined contribution savings planstifie benefit of its U.S. and U.K. employees. Thpamse recognized for these plar
included in Compensation and benefits in the Cadatdd Statements of Income, as follows (in mikipn

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
u.s. $ 12z  $ 11t $ 104
U.K. 45 41 43

$ 16€ $ 15¢ $ 147

Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension asdrptirement health and welfare plans that provadigement, medical, and life
insurance benefits. The post-retirement healthglanes are contributory, with retiree contributi@justed annually, and the life insurance anc
pension plans are generally noncontributory. Thaiicant U.S, U.K. and Canadian pension plansciosed to new entrants.

Pension Plans

The following tables provide a reconciliation oétbhanges in the projected benefit obligationsfaimdsalue of assets for the years en
December 31, 2013 and 2012 and a statement ofititkedl status as of December 31, 2013 and 2012hdanaterial U.K. plans, U.S. plans
and other plans, which are located in the Nethddamnd Canada. These plans represent approxin®a#yof the Company's projected benefit
obligations.
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U.K. U.S. Other
(millions) 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Change in projected benefit obligation
At January 1 $ 494 ¢ 452 $ 288 $ 2657 $ 1,32: $ 1,068
Service cost 1 1 7 — 18 14
Interest cost 21C 217 114 11¢ 45 48
Participant contributions — — — — 1 1
Plan amendment — — 12 — — —
Curtailments — — — — @ —
Plan transfer and acquisitions — — 11& — — —
Actuarial loss (gain) 14& (11€) 17 29 1 (23
Benefit payments (18€) (159 (128§ (129 (449 (42
Actual expenses — — — — @ —
Change in discount rate (95) 324 (277) 20z (85) 23¢
Foreign currency impact 87 151 — — 5) 24
At December 31 $ 5106 $ 494 $ 2,74 $ 288 $ 1,25 $ 1,320
Accumulated benefit obligation at end of year $ 5106 $ 494+ $ 2,742 $ 2,88 $ 1177 $ 1,241
Change in fair value of plan assets
At January 1 $ 486 $ 424t $ 1631 $ 1,328 $ 1,00¢ $ 852
Actual return on plan assets 304 281 19¢ 203 34 111
Participant contributions — — — — 1 1
Employer contributions 31¢€ 341 15z 22¢€ 55 71
Plan transfer and acquisitions — — — — — —
Benefit payments (18€) (159 (128§ (129 (449 (42
Actual Expenses — — — — @ —
Foreign currency impact 104 14€ — — 7 15
At December 31 $ 539 $ 486( $ 185 $ 1,631 $ 1,061 $ 1,00¢
Market related value at end of year $ 539 $ 486( $ 1,768 $ 1566 $ 1,061 $ 1,00¢
Amount recognized in Statement of Financial Pasitib
December 31
Funded status $ 292 % 84 $ (889 $ (1,259 $ (191) $ (319
Unrecognized prior-service cost 24 24 12 — 3 4
Unrecognized loss 2,012 1,981 1,21¢ 1,591 40z 491
Net amount recognized $ 2328 $ 1921 $ 34z $ 33€ $ 214 % 181
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated StatemerfEanancial Position consist of (in millions):
U.K. u.s. Other
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Prepaid benefit cost (1) $ 54 $ 301 $ — $ — $ 1 $ =
Accrued benefit liability (2) (257) (385) (889 (1,257) (192) (319
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 2,03¢ 2,00t 1,231 1,591 40~ 49t
Net amount recognized $ 2,326 $ 1921 $ 34z $ 33 $ 214 % 181

(1) Included in Other nonurrent asse

(2) Included in Pension, other post retirement, and @agployment liabilitie
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Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprelvensiss that have not yet been recognized as coemg®of net periodic benefit
cost at December 31, 2013 and 2012 consist of {lions):

U.K. u.S. Other
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Net loss $ 2012 $ 198 $ 1,21¢ $ 1591 $ 40z $ 491
Prior service cost 24 24 12 — 3 4

$ 203 $ 2,008 $ 1231 $ 1591 $ 408 $ 49¢

In 2013, U.S. plans with a projected benefit obligatioRBO") and an accumulated benefit obligation ("AB@"gxcess of the fair valt
of plan assets had a PBO of $2.7 billion , an AB@27 billion , and plan assets of $1.9 billiod.K. plans with a PBO in excess of the fair
value of plan assets had a PBO of $1.2 billionplad assets with a fair value of $1.0 billion , gol@ns with an ABO in excess of the fair value
of plan assets had an ABO of $1.2 billion and @asets with a fair value of $1.0 billion . Otheamqd with a PBO in excess of the fair value of
plan assets had a PBO of $1.2 billion and plantasg¢h a fair value of $1.0 billion , and planstivan ABO in excess of the fair value of plan
assets had an ABO of $0.4 billion and plan assétsanfair value of $0.3 billion .

In 2012, U.S. plans with a with a PBO and an AB@»xuess of the fair value of plan assets had a &8%2.9 billion , an ABO of $2.9
billion , and plan assets of $1.6 billion . U.Kaps with a PBO in excess of the fair value of @asets had a PBO of $2.2 billion and plan
assets with a fair value of $1.8 billion , and glavith an ABO in excess of the fair value of plasets had an ABO of $2.2 billion and plan
assets with a fair value of $1.8 billion . Otheaind with a PBO in excess of the fair value of @asets had a PBO of $1.3 billion and plan
assets with a fair value of $1.0 billion , and glavith an ABO in excess of the fair value of plasets had an ABO of $1.3 billion and plan
assets with a fair value of $1.0 billion .

The following table provides the components ofperiodic benefit cost for the plans (in millions):

U.K. u.s. Other
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Service cost $ 1 % 1 % 4 $ 7 $ — $ — $ 18 $ 14 $ 1t
Interest cost 21C 217 21€ 114 11¢ 122 45 48 51
Expected return on plan assets (302) (274) (23¢) (139 (127) (120 (59) (49 (49
Amortization of prior-service cost 1 1 1 — — — — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss 49 43 39 52 43 31 23 17 14
Net periodic benefit cost $ (41) $ (12 $ 22 $ 34 % 35 % 33 §% 27 % 3 % 31

The weighted-average assumptions used to deteffotine benefit obligations are as follows:

U.K. U.S. Other
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Discount rate 4.55% 4.45% 3.97-4.87% 3.73-4.05% 3.60-4.71% 3.25 - 3.89%
Rate of compensation increase 3.70 - 4.40% 3.85% N/A N/A 2.25 - 3.50% 2.25 - 3.50%
Underlying price inflation 2.4% 2.25% N/A N/A 1.50 - 2.50% 2.00 - 2.50%

The weighted-average assumptions used to detethenget periodic benefit cost are as follows:

U.K. u.s. Other
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
5.30 - 3.73 - 4.33 - 4.35 - 3.25 - 4.40 - 4.70 -
Discount rate  4.45% 4.80% 5.50% 4.05% 4.60% 5.34% 3.89% 4.94% 5.45%
Expected
return on plan 3.20 - 4.60 - 4.90 - 4.90 -
assets 6.30% 6.30% 7.20% 8.80% 8.80% 8.80% 6.50% 6.75% 7.00%
Rate of
compensation  3.25 - 2.25 - 2.25 - 2.00 -

increase 3.85% 3.55% 4.00% N/A N/A N/A 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%




The amounts in Accumulated other comprehensivedgrpscted to be recognized as components of nietdiebenefit cost during 2014
are $44 million in the U.S. and $63 million outsitie U.S.
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Expected Return on Plan Assets

To determine the expected long-term rate of returplan assets, the historical performance, inveistcommunity forecasts and current
market conditions are analyzed to develop expeetenns for each asset class used by the plansexpested returns for each asset class are
weighted by the target allocations of the planse &hkpected return on plan assets in the U.S. &b 8dlects a portfolio that is seeking asset
growth through a higher equity allocation while ntaining prudent risk levels. The portfolio contirertain assets that have historically
resulted in higher returns and other financialrinstents to minimize downside risk.

No plan assets are expected to be returned todghgény during 2014 .
Fair value of plan assets

The Company determined the fair value of plan asbebugh numerous procedures based on the aasstasid available information.
See Note 15 "Fair Value Measurements and Finahwaiuments” for a description of the procedura$qumed to determine the fair value of
the plan assets.

The fair values of the Company's U.S. pension pksets at December 31, 2013 and December 31,, 2y1&sset category, are as foll¢
(in millions):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other Unobservable
Balance at Identical Assets  Observable Inputs Inputs

Asset Category December 31, 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 53 § 53 § — $ =
Equity investments: (2)

Large cap domestic 303 303 — —

Small cap domestic 66 5 61 —

Large cap international 21z 66 14¢€ —

Equity derivatives 361 14¢€ 21E —
Fixed income investments: (3)

Corporate bonds 39t — 39t —

Government and agency bonds 96 — 96 —

Asset-backed securities 25 — 25 —

Fixed income derivatives 13 — 13 —
Other investments:

Alternative investments (4) 26€ — — 26¢€

Commaodity derivatives (5) 14 — 14 —

Real estate and REITS (6) 51 51 — —

Total $ 1,85 $ 624 $ 96 9 26€

(1) Consists of cash and institutional shtertm investment func

(2) Consists of equity securities, equity derivativaas] pooled equity func

(3) Consists of corporate and government bondgtaacked securities, and fixed income derivat
(4) Consists of limited partnerships, private equitd dedge fund

(5) Consists of longlated options on a commaodity ind

(6) Consists of exchange traded REI
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Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other Unobservable
Balance at Identical Assets  Observable Inputs Inputs

Asset Category December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 22 % 22 % = =
Equity investments: (2)

Large cap domestic 23¢ 23¢ — —

Small cap domestic 44 — 44 —

Large cap international 18¢ 59 12¢ —

Equity derivatives 22¢€ 69 157 —
Fixed income investments: (3)

Corporate bonds 421 — 421 —

Government and agency bonds 97 — 97 —

Asset-backed securities 18 — 18 —

Fixed income derivatives 52 — 52 —
Other investments:

Alternative investments (4) 262 — — 262

Commaodity derivatives (5) 17 — 17 —

Real estate and REITS (6) 51 51 — —

Total $ 1,631 $ 434 % 93t 262

(1) Consists of cash and institutional shierim investment func

(2) Consists of equity securities, equity derivativaas] pooled equity func

(3) Consists of corporate and government bondgtaacked securities, and fixed income derivat

(4) Consists of limited partnerships, private equitd dedge fund

(5) Consists of longlated options on a commaodity ind

(6) Consists of exchange traded REI
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The following table presents the changes in thesL8vair-value category in the Company's U.S. mamplans for the years ended

December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in md)ion

Fair Value
Measurement

Using Level 3 Inputs

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 191
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2012 22

Relating to assets sold during 2012 1

Purchases, sales and settlements—net 48

Transfer in/(out) of Level 3 —

Balance at December 31, 2012 262
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2013 26

Relating to assets sold during 2013 4

Purchases, sales and settlements—net (26)

Transfer in/(out) of Level 3 —

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 26€

85




The fair values of the Company's major U.K. pengilam assets at December 31, 2013 and Decemb20382,, by asset category, are as
follows (in millions):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other Unobservable
Balance at Identical Assets  Observable Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 55§ 55 § — $ =
Equity investments:
Pooled funds: (1)

Global 66¢ 66¢ —

Europe 15¢ — 15¢ —
Equity securities — global (2) 171 171 — —
Derivatives (2) 31 — 31 —
Fixed income investments:

Pooled funds: (1)

Fixed income securities 50C — 50C —
Fixed income securities (3) 2,04: 2,04: — —
Annuities 564 — — 564
Derivatives (3) 142 — 14z —
Other investments:

Pooled funds: (1)
Real estate (4) 23 — — 23
Alternative investments (5) 54¢ — — 54€
Total $ 539 $ 2,76¢ $ 1,49 $ 1,13:¢

(1) Consists of various equity, fixed income, commodiyd real estate mutual fund type investment Vet
(2) Consists of equity securities and equity derivat

(3) Consists of corporate and government bonds and fo@me derivative

(4) Consists of property funds and trusts holding direal estate investmer

(5) Consists of limited partnerships, private equitd dedge fund
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Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other Unobservable
Balance at Identical Assets  Observable Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29¢ $ PASII — $ =
Equity investments:
Pooled funds: (1)

Global 967 — 967 —

Europe 31¢ — 31¢ —
Equity securities — global (2) 137 137 — —
Derivatives (2) 10z — 10z —
Fixed income investments:

Pooled funds: (1)

Fixed income securities 501 — 501 —
Fixed income securities (3) 1,23¢ 1,23¢ — —
Annuities 56¢ — — 56¢
Derivatives (3) 217 — 217 —
Other investments:

Pooled funds: (1)
Real estate (4) 70 — — 7C
Alternative investments (5) 44¢€ — — 44¢
Total $ 486( $ 1,66¢ $ 2,107 $ 1,08¢

(1) Consists of various equity, fixed income, commodiyd real estate mutual fund type investment Ve
(2) Consists of equity securities and equity derivat

(3) Consists of corporate and government bonds and fix@@me derivative

(4) Consists of property funds and trusts holding direal estate investmer

(5) Consists of limited partnerships, private equitd dedge fund
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The following table presents the changes in thesL8vair-value category in the Company's U.K. penglans for the years ended

December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in md)ion

Fair Value Measurements Using Level 3 Inputs

Alternative
Annuities Investments Total

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 41¢ 97 $ 33t 851
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2012 4 1 19 16

Relating to assets sold during 2012 1 11 12
Purchases, sales and settlements—net 137 (32 68 17z
Transfers in/(out) of Level 3 — — — —
Foreign exchange 16 3 13 32
Balance at December 31, 2012 56€ 70 44¢€ 1,08¢
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2013 (13) 1 32 20

Relating to assets sold during 2013 — 3 5 8
Purchases, sales and settlements—net — (50 51 1
Transfers in/(out) of Level 3 — — — —
Foreign exchange 9 (@D} 12 20
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 564 23 % 54€ 1,13¢
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The fair values of the Company's major other panplan assets at December 31, 2013 and Decemb2032,, by asset category, are as
follows (in millions):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other Unobservable
Balance at Identical Assets  Observable Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11 % 11 $ — $ =
Equity investments:
Pooled funds: (1)
Global 31¢ — 31¢ —
North America 52 — 52 —
Fixed income investments:
Pooled funds: (1)
Fixed income securities 50¢ — 50¢ —
Derivatives 20 — 20 —
Fixed income securities (2) 61 — 61 —
Derivatives (2) 14 — 14 —
Other investments:
Pooled funds: (1)
Commaodities 32 — 32 —
REITS 5 — 5 —
Real estate (3) 17 — — 17
Alternative investments (4) 8 — — 8
Derivatives 14 — 14 —
Total $ 1,061 $ 11 $ 1,028 % 25

(1) Consists of various equity, fixed income, commodiyd real estate mutual fund type investment Ve
(2) Consists of corporate and government bonds and fix@@me derivative
(3) Consists of property funds and trusts holding direal estate investmer

(4) Consists of limited partnerships, private equitd dedge fund
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Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other Unobservable
Balance at Identical Assets  Observable Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5 § 5 $ = =
Equity investments:
Pooled funds: (1)
Global 274 — 274 —
North America 65 — 65 —
Fixed income investments:
Pooled funds: (1)
Fixed income securities 472 — 472 —
Derivatives 23 — 23 —
Fixed income securities (2) 64 — 64 —
Derivatives (2) 28 — 28 —
Other investments:
Pooled funds: (1)
Commodities 30 — 30 —
REITS 5 — 5 —
Real estate (3) 17 — — 17
Alternative investments (4) 11 — — 11
Derivatives 15 — 15 —
Total $ 1,00¢ $ 5 % 97€ 28

(1) Consists of various equity, fixed income, commodiyd real estate mutual fund type investment Ve

(2) Consists of corporate and government bonds and fo@me derivative

(3) Consists of property funds and trusts holding direal estate investmer

(4) Consists of limited partnerships, private equitd dedge fund
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The following table presents the changes in thesL8vair-value category in the Company's othersganplans for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in md)ion

Fair Value Measurements Using Level 3 Inputs

Real Alternative
Estate Investments Total
Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 37 % 11  $ 48
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2012 2 — 2
Relating to assets sold during 2012 — — —
Purchases, sales and settlements—net — — —
Transfers in/(out) of Level 3 (18 — (18
Foreign exchange — — —
Balance at December 31, 2012 17 11 28
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2013 (€N} 1 —
Relating to assets sold during 2013 — 1 1
Purchases, sales and settlements—net — 4 (4)
Transfers in/(out) of Level 3 — — —
Foreign exchange 1 Q) —
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 17 ¢ 8 $ 25

I nvestment Policy and Strategy

The U.S. investment policy, as established by the Retirement Plan Governance and Investment Cdeer(tRPGIC"), seeks
reasonable asset growth at prudent risk levelsmvidirget allocations, which are 49% equity investis, 30% fixed income investments, and
21% other investments. Aon believes that plan asgetwelldiversified and are of appropriate quality. Thedstment portfolio asset allocat
is reviewed quarterly and re-balanced to be wiffdlicy target allocations. The investment policyasiewed at least annually and revised, as
deemed appropriate by the RPGIC. The investmeintipsifor international plans are generally essdtdd by the local pension plan trustees
and seek to maintain the plans' ability to mediliizes and to comply with local minimum fundingquirements. Plan assets are invested in
diversified portfolios that provide adequate lev&iseturn at an acceptable level of risk. The staeent policies are reviewed at least annually
and revised, as deemed appropriate to ensurehihabjectives are being met. At December 31, 28 weighted average targeted allocatior
for the U.K. and non-U.S. plans was 31% for eqirityestments and 69% for fixed income investments.

Cash Flows

Contributions

Based on current assumptions, the Company expectstribute approximately $173 million and $212liom , respectively, to its U.S.
and non-U.S. pension plans during 2014 .
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Estimated Future Benefit Payme

Estimated future benefit payments for plans ar®léswvs at December 31, 2013 (in millions):

U.K. u.S. Other
2014 $ 15¢ $ 15z % 45
2015 157 15¢ 46
2016 16€ 16€ 48
2017 181 173 48
2018 19C 171 51
2019 — 2023 1,14: 86¢ 28C

U.S. and Canadian Other Post-Retirement Benefits

The following table provides an overview of the @twlated projected benefit obligation, fair valdelan assets, funded status and net
amount recognized as of December 31, 2013 and f201Be Company's other material post-retirememiefieplans located in the U.S. and
Canada (in millions):

2013 2012
Accumulated projected benefit obligation $ 11€ % 134
Fair value of plan assets 20 2C
Funded status (98) (119
Unrecognized prior-service credit 9 (15)
Unrecognized loss 18 37
Net amount recognized $ 89 ¢ (92)

Other information related to the Company's othestysetirement benefit plans are as follows:
2013 2012 2011

Net periodic benefit cost recognized (millions) $4 $1 $6
Weighted-average discount rate used to determinegfibenefit obligations 4.44 - 4.95 3.67 —4.00 4.33-5.00
Weighted-average discount rate used to determinper@dic benefit costs 3.67 - 4.00 4.33-5.00 4.92 - 6.00

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprelvensiss that have not yet been recognized as coemg®of net periodic benefit
cost at December 31, 2013 are $18 million and $Bomiof net loss and prior service credit, respegty. The amount in Accumulated other
comprehensive income expected to be recognizedasmponent of net periodic benefit cost during 23181 million and $5 million of net
loss and prior service credit, respectively.

Based on current assumptions, the Company expects:
* To contribute $6 million to fund material oth@ost-retirement benefit plans during 2014

» Estimated future benefit payments will be apirately $8 million each year for 2014 through 2048d $40 million in aggregate for
2019-2023.

The accumulated post-retirement benefit obligaisoncreased by $5 million and decreased by $5aniby a respective 1% increase or
decrease to the assumed health care trend ratesefViee cost and interest cost components of eragiic benefits cost is increased by $0.5
million and decreased by $0.5 million by a respecii% increase or decrease to the assumed healtinead rate.

For most of the participants in the U.S. plan, Admbility for future plan cost increases for @®-and Medical Supplement plan
coverage is limited to 5% per annum. Although theemployer trend rates range from 8% to 5% per, yerause of this cap, these plans are
effectively limited to 5% per year in the futureuiing 2012, Aon recognized a plan amendment thased out post-retirement coverage in its
U.S. plan over the next two years. The amendmeaudtezl in recognition of prior service credits &f@illion in 2012 in net periodic benefit
cost. The impact of this amendment also resultedriew prior service credit of $10 millievhich will impact net periodic benefit cost in fuél



periods as it is recognized over the average rantagervice life of the employees.
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13. ShareBased Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes share-based compiensaxpense recognized in the Consolidated Stattnud Income in
Compensation and benefits (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011

Restricted share units ("RSUs") $ 174 $ 154 % 14z
Performance share awards ("PSAs") 117 46 78
Share options 2 5 9
Employee share purchase plans 7 7 6
Total share-based compensation expense 30C 212 23t
Tax benefit 81 62 77
Share-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 21¢ % 15C % 15¢

Restricted Share Units

RSUs generally vest between three and five yeatsphy vest up to ten years from the date of greme. fair value of RSUs is based
upon the market value of the Aon ordinary shargeetiate of grant. With certain limited exceptiosasy break in continuous employment will
cause the forfeiture of all unvested awards. Corsgion expense associated with RSUs is recognizexdte requisite service period.
Dividend equivalents are paid on certain RSUs, thasethe initial grant amount.

A summary of the status of the Company's RSUs felbsvs (shares in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Fair Fair Fair
Years ended December 31 Shares Value (1) Shares Value (1) Shares Value (1)
Non-vested at beginning of year 10,43: $ 44 9,91¢ $ 42 10,67 $ 38
Granted 3,71« 62 5,113 46 3,50¢ 51
Vested (3,945 44 (3,959 42 (3,779 39
Forfeited (442) 47 (639) 44 (49)) 39
Non-vested at end of year 9,75¢ 51 10,43: 44 9,91¢ 42

(1) Represents per share weighted average fair valaearfd at date of gra

The fair value of RSUs that vested during 20131228nd 2011 was $172 million , $180 million and @hdillion , respectively.
Performance Share Awards

The vesting of PSAs is contingent upon meetingoearindividual, divisional or company-wide perfomea conditions, including
revenue generation or growth in revenue, pretagrireor earnings per share over a one to fpear period. The performance conditions art
considered in the determination of the grant dairevialue for these awards. The fair value of P&Asased upon the market price of an Aon
ordinary share at the date of grant. Compensatiperese is recognized over the performance periuljracertain cases an additional vesting
period, based on management's estimate of the muhhbaits expected to vest. Compensation expenadjusted to reflect the actual number
of shares issued at the end of the programs. Thialdssue of shares may range from 0 - 200% ofédtget number of PSAs granted, based or
the terms of the plan and level of achievemenhefrelated performance target. Dividend equivalargsnot paid on PSAs.
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Information regarding the Company's target PSAstgdand shares that would be issued at currefdarp@nce levels for PSAs granted
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@h#l, respectively, is as follows (shares in amds, dollars in millions, except fair
value):

2013 2012 2011
Target PSAs granted 1,13¢ 1,36¢ 1,71¢
Fair value (1) $ 58 $ 47  $ 5C
Number of shares that would be issued based orrdyserformance levels 1,70z 2,451 1,44:
Unamortized expense, based on current performavetsl $ 70 3% 0 $ —

(1) Represents per share weighted average fair valawarfd at date of gra

During 2013 , the Company issued approximatelyndillion shares in connection with the 2010 Leadgr&terformance Plan ("LPP")
cycle and 0.2 million shares related to other gentmce plans. During 2012, the Company issued appately 1.4 million shares in
connection with the 2009 LPP cycle and 0.9 millktvares related to other performance plans. Duig 2the Company issued approximately
1.2 million shares in connection with the 2008 Ldyele and 0.3 million shares related to a 2006quarance plan.

Share Options

In prior periods, options to purchase ordinary shavere granted to certain employees at fair vafuthe date of grant. Commencing in
2010, the Company ceased granting new share optitimghe exception of historical contractual cortmménts. Generally, employees are
required to complete two continuous years of serbiefore the options begin to vest in increments the completion of a four -year period of
continuous employment, although a number of optiwere granted that require five continuous yearseofice before the options are fully
vested. Options issued under the LPP program atly over three years with a six -year term. ftlaimum contractual term on share
options is ten years from the date of grant.

The Company uses a lattice-binomial option-priaimgdel to value share options. Lattice-based optadnation models use a range of
assumptions over the expected term of the optBxgected volatilities are based on the averagheohistorical volatility of the Company's
share price and the implied volatility of tradediops and the Company's shares. The valuation nstdsglfies employees between those
receiving LPP options, Special Stock Plan ("SSPtjoms, and all other option grants. The Comparigbes that this stratification better
represents prospective share option exercise patt€he expected dividend yield assumption is basetie Company's historical and expe:
future dividend rate. The risk-free rate for pesadthin the contractual life of the option is bdge the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at
the time of grant. The expected life of employearstoptions represents the weighted-average pstoo#t options are expected to remain
outstanding and is a derived output of the latioemial model.

In connection with its incentive compensation pJdhe Company granted no shares for the years dbdeember 31, 2013 and 2012 anc
80,000 shares at $53 per share for the year endeeniber 31, 2011. The weighted average assumptiengieighted average expected life
and estimated fair value of employee share optpasted are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Weighted average volatility NA NA 26.1%
Expected dividend yield NA NA 1.3%
Risk-free rate NA NA 2.2%
Weighted average expected life, in years NA NA 55
Weighted average estimated fair value per share NA NA $10.92
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A summary of the status of the Company's shar@optnd related information is as follows (shaneghousands):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Price Exercise Price Exercise Price
Shares Per Share Shares Per Share Shares Per Share
Beginning outstanding 5611 $ 32 9,11¢ $ 32 13,91¢ $ 32
Granted — — — — 8C 53
Exercised (2,116 32 (3,419 31 (4,546 32
Forfeited and expired (33 34 (92 37 (337) 36
Outstanding at end of year 3,46: 32 5,611 32 9,11¢ 32
Exercisable at end of year 3,27( 32 5,117 31 7,83: 30
Shares available for grant 11,33( 17,02« 24,50¢

A summary of options outstanding and exercisablef &cember 31, 2013 is as follows (shares inshods):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Weighted- Average Weighted-
Remaining Average Remaining Average
Range of Exercise Shares Contractual Exercise Price Shares Contractual Exercise Price
Prices Outstanding Life (years) Per Share Exercisable Life (years) Per Share
$14.71 — 22.86 1,24¢ 143 $ 22.4¢ 1,244 143 $ 22.4¢
22.87 — 25.51 174 1.50 25.4¢ 174 1.50 25.4¢
25.52 — 32.53 304 0.90 27.41 304 0.90 27.41
32.54 — 36.88 39z 2.32 35.8¢ 32¢ 2.09 35.7i
36.89 — 43.44 83C 2.55 39.4¢ 76C 231 39.5¢
43.45 - 52.93 51¢ 3.50 47.0¢ 46E 3.09 46.3¢
3,462 3,27(

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the po&thx intrinsic value, based on options with aereise price less than the Company's
closing share price of $83.89 as of December 3132@vhich would have been received by the optioidérs had those option holders
exercised their options as of that date. At Decer3the2013 , the aggregate intrinsic value of aptioutstanding was $179 million , of which
$170 million was exercisable.

Other information related to the Company's shat®og is as follows (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exerdise $ 73 % 67 $ 8C
Cash received from the exercise of stock options 61 10t 152
Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stockas 15 11 14

Unamortized deferred compensation expense, whidhdes both options and awards, amounted to $3B®mas of December 31,
2013, with a remaining weighted-average amortiragieriod of approximately 2.1 years .

Employee Share Purchase Plan
United States

The Company has an employee share purchase plgprdivides for the purchase of a maximum of 7.3iamishares of the Company's
ordinary shares by eligible U.S. employees. Pod2G11, shares of the Company's common stock werdhased at 3 -month intervals at 85%
of the lower of the fair market value of the comnstoick on the first or the last day of each 3-mgughod. Beginning in 2011, the Company's
ordinary shares were purchased at 6 -month inteata85%of the lower of the fair market value of the ordinahares on the first or last day
each 6-month period. In 2013, 2012 , and 201%6,@® shares, 621,000 shares and 468,000 shaspsctieely, were issued to employees



under the plan. Compensation expense recognize®6&vasllion in both 2013 and 2012 , and $5 millior2011 .
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United Kingdom

The Company also has an employee share purchaséplaligible U.K. employees that provides for fiechase of shares aftera 3 -
year period and that is similar to the U.S. plaevjpusly described. Thr-year periods began in 2013 and 2010, allowingterpurchase of a
maximum of 350,000 and 300,000 shares, respegtiveR013, 2012 , and 2011, 172,000 shares(P>0ares, and 63,000 shares,
respectively, were issued under the plan. Compemsakpense of $1 million was recognized in eacBGif3, 2012 , and 2011 .

14. Derivatives and Hedging

The Company is exposed to market risks, includimnges in foreign currency exchange rates ancestteates. To manage the risk
related to these exposures, the Company entersanimus derivative instruments that reduce theses by creating offsetting exposures. The
Company does not enter into derivative transactionrading or speculative purposes.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange riskwithreceives revenues, pays expenses, or entersitiercompany loans
denominated in a currency that differs from itsdtimnal currency, or other transactions that ardgnated in a currency other than its
functional currency. The Company uses foreign emghalerivatives, typically forward contracts, opand cross currency swaps, to reduce
its overall exposure to the effects of currencgtilations on cash flows. These exposures are hedgeverage, for less than two years;
however, in limited instances, the Company has éeagrtain exposures up to five years in the future

The Company also uses foreign exchange derivatiypisally forward contracts and options, to hedgeaet investments in foreign
operations for up to two years in the future.

The Company also uses foreign exchange derivatiypisally forward contracts and options, to mant#gecurrency exposure of the
Company's global liquidity profile, including moaey assets or liabilities that are denominatednmmfunctional currency of an entity, for up
to one year in the future. These derivatives atanoounted for as hedges, and changes in faieakirecorded each period in Other income
in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company holds variable-rate short-term brolkeayl other operating deposits. The Company uss®et rate derivatives, typically
swaps, to reduce its exposure to the effects efast rate fluctuations on the forecasted inteezsipts from these deposits for up to two year:
in the future.

Certain derivatives also give rise to credit rifksn the possible non-performance by counterparlibs credit risk at the balance sheet
date is generally limited to the fair value of taa®ntracts that are favorable to the Company.Qdrapany has reduced its credit risk by using
International Swaps and Derivatives AssociatioS[DA") master agreements, collateral and credit sttgggrangements, entering into non-
exchange-traded derivatives with highly-rated méjwancial institutions and by using exchartggded instruments. The Company monitors
creditworthiness of, and exposure to, its countdiggm As of December 31, 2013, all net derivapesitions were free of credit risk contingent
features. The Company has not received or pledgedallateral related to derivative arrangementsfddecember 31, 2013 .

The notional and fair values of derivative instruntseare as follows (in millions):

Derivative Assets (1) Derivative Liabilities (2)
Notional Amount Fair Value Fair Value

As of December 31 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Derivatives accounted for as hedges:
Interest rate contracts $ 171 % 33 $ 9 ¢ 17 $ — 3 —
Foreign exchange contracts 1,191 1,20¢ 71 191 93 25C

Total 1,362 1,544 8C 20¢ 93 25C
Derivatives not accounted for as hedges
Foreign exchange contracts 21t 30¢ — 2 — 1

Total $ 1577 $ 1,84¢ $ 80 % 21C ¢ 93 % 251
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(1) Included within Other current assets ( $48iamlin 2013 and $167 million in 2012) or Other raurrent assets ( $34 million in 2013 and
$43 million in 2012)

(2) Included within Other liabilities $51 milliom 2013 and $171 million in 2012) or Other non-emtrliabilities ( $42 million in 2013 ar®BC
million in 2012)

Offsetting of financial assets and derivatives &saee as follows (in millions):

Gross Amounts Offset in the Statement Net Amounts of Assets Presented in the

Gross Amounts of Recognized Assets of Financial Position Statement of Financial Position (1)
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Derivatives accounted for as hedc
Interest rate contracts $ 9 3 17 $ — % — % 9 3 17
Foreign exchange contracts 71 191 (30) (160) 41 31
Total 80 20¢ (30 (160 50 48
Derivatives not accounted for as
hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts — 2 — — — 2
Total $ 80 $ 21C % (30) $ ae0) $ 50 $ 5C

(1) Included within Other current assets ( $18ionillin both 2013 and 2012) or Other non-currenétssE$32 million in both 2013 and 2012)

Offsetting of financial liabilities and derivatiViabilities are as follows (in millions):

Gross Amounts of Recognized Gross Amounts Offset in the Statement Net Amounts of Liabilities Presented in
Liabilities of Financial Position the Statement of Financial Position (2)
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Derivatives accounted for as hedg
Interest rate contracts $ — % — — % — % — ¢ —
Foreign exchange contracts 93 25C (30) (160) 63 9C
Total 93 25C (30) (160 63 aC
Derivatives not accounted for as
hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts — 1 — — — 1
Total $ 93 $ 251 $ (30) $ (ae0) $ 63 $ 91

(2) Included within Other current liabilities ( $23illion in both 2013 and 2012) or Other non-cutrgbilities ( $40 million in 2013 and $68
million in 2012)
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The amounts of derivative gains (losses) recogniz¢ide Consolidated Financial Statements are limafe (in millions):

December 31,

Gain (Loss) recognized in Accumulated Other Compreénsive Loss: 2013 2012 2011
Cash flow hedges:
Interest rate contracts (1) $ 2 3 — (@]
Foreign exchange contracts (2) 4 (22 (54)
Total 2 (21) (55)
Foreign net investment hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts $ — 4 3 2

(1) Location of future reclassification from Accumulat®ther Comprehensive Loss will be included witlmiterest Expen:

(2) Location of future reclassification from Acculated Other Comprehensive Loss will be includethiwiCompensation and benefits ($ 17
million loss for 2013, $8 million loss for 2012 afi@ million loss for 2011), Other general expensesne for 2013, $19 million loss for
2012 and $34 million loss for 2011), and Other meo( $13 million gain for 2013, $6 million gain f8012 and $14 million loss for 2011)

December 31,

Gain (Loss) reclassified from Accumulated Other Comrehensive Loss into Income
(Effective Portion): 2013 2012 2011

Cash flow hedges:
Interest rate contracts (1) $ @ $ @ $ —
Foreign exchange contracts (2) (10) (39) (36)
Total (17) (39) (36)
Foreign net investment hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts $ — ¢ — $ —

(1) Included within Interest Exper

(2) Included within Compensation and benefits Z #dillion loss for 2013, $9 million loss for 2018cd$3 million loss for 2011), Interest
Expense ($ 3 million loss for 2013 and none foht#2@12 and 2011), Other general expenses ( $Dmildiss for 2013, $16 million
loss for 2012 and $25 million loss for 2011), arttiéd income ( $14 million gain for 2013, $9 millitwss for 2012 and $8 millioloss
for 2011)

The amount of gain (loss) recognized in the Codatdid Financial Statements is as follows (in miltip

Twelve months ended December 31,

Amount of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on Recognized in Income on
Derivative(2) Related Hedged Item
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Fair value hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts(1) $ 8 $ 1 % 2 3 8 ¢ 1 $ 2

(1) Relates to fixed rate de
(2) Included in interest exper

The Company estimates that approximately $20 miltibpretax losses currently included within Accuated other comprehensive loss
will be reclassified into earnings in the next tweemonths.

The amount of gain (loss) recognized in incomehenimeffective portion of derivatives for 2013 120and 2011 was not material.

The Company recorded a loss of $18 million andia gg$13 million in Other income for foreign exafge derivatives not designated or
qualifying as hedges for 2013 and 2012 , respdgtive
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15. Fair Value Measurements and Financial Instrments

Accounting standards establish a three tier fditevlierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used asuring fair values as follows:

» Level 1 —observable inputs such as quoted prices for idairdEsets in active marke
» Level 2 —inputs other than quoted prices for identical asetctive markets, that are observable eithecdyr or indirectly; an

» Level 3— unobservable inputs in which therbtike or no market data which requires the usgalfiation techniques and the
development of assumptions.

The following methods and assumptions are usedtimate the fair values of the Company's finanicisiruments:

Money market funds and highly liquid debt secusitige carried at cost and amortized cost, respégtias an approximation of fair
value. Based on market convention, the Companyidersscost a practical and expedient measure of&e.

Cash, cash equivalents, and highly liquid debtrimaents consist of cash and institutional short-term inwent funds. The Company
independently reviews the short-term investmentifuio obtain reasonable assurance the fund netwdse is $1 per share.

Equity investmentgonsist of domestic and international equity siiesrand exchange traded equity derivatives valigiag the closing
stock price on a national securities exchange. @eecounter equity derivatives are valued usingeolable inputs such as underlying price
the equity security and volatility. The Companyéapéndently reviews the listing of Level 1 equitgwggties in the portfolio and agrees the
closing stock prices to a national securities ergeaand on a sample basis, independently vetifeesbservable inputs for Level 2 equity
derivatives and securities.

Fixed income investmentonsist of certain categories of bonds and deviest Corporate, government, and agency bondsadued by
pricing vendors who estimate fair value using régezxecuted transactions and proprietary modedeth@n observable inputs, such as interes
rate spreads, yield curves and credit risk. Asaek®d securities are valued by pricing vendors edionate fair value using discounted cash
flow models utilizing observable inputs based @u# and quote activity of securities with simikeatures. Fixed income derivatives are value
by pricing vendors using observable inputs sudntasest rates and yield curves. The Company obtidetailed understanding of the models
inputs, and assumptions used in developing prio@aged by its vendors. This understanding includissussions with valuation resources at
the vendor. During these discussions, the Compagy a fair value measurement questionnaire, whiphrit of the Company's internal
controls over financial reporting, to obtain théoimation necessary to assert the model, inputsaasdmptions used comply with U.S. GAAP,
including disclosure requirements. The Company alstains observable inputs from the pricing veralat independently verifies the
observable inputs, as well as assesses assumpsiedgor reasonableness based on relevant markgitions and internal Company
guidelines. If an assumption is deemed unreasonbhsed on the Company's guidelines, it is theiewead by a member of management and
the fair value estimate provided by the vendodisisted, if deemed appropriate. These adjustmentstioccur frequently and have not
historically been material to the fair value estiesaused in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pooled fundsconsist of various equity, fixed income, commogdigd real estate mutual fund type investment vehi®ooled investme
funds fair value is estimated based on the propoate share ownership in the underlying net asgete investment, which is based on the
value of the underlying securities that trade orational securities exchange. Where possible, trapany independently reviews the listing
securities in the portfolio and agrees the clositogk prices to a national securities exchange.ddrapany gains an understanding of the
investment guidelines and valuation policies offtimed and discusses fund performance with pooled faanagers. The Company obtains
audited fund manager financial statements, wheitadbe. If the pooled fund is designed to replicateublicly traded index, the Company
compares the performance of the fund to the indeassess the reasonableness of the fair value reezenut.

Alternative investmentsonsist of limited partnerships, private equitg &iedge funds. Alternative investment fair valugaserally
estimated based on the proportionate share owpdrsttie underlying net assets of the investmentesasrmined by the general partner or
investment manager. The valuations are based dousdiactors depending on investment strategy, Etgry models, and specific financial
data or projections. The Company obtains auditead fuanager financial statements, when available.Jémpany obtains a detailed
understanding of the models, inputs and assumptised in developing prices provided by the investreanagers (or appropriate party)
through regular discussions. During these discassigth the investment managers, the Company ufsEs\alue measurement questionnaire,
which is part of the Company's internal
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controls over financial reporting, to obtain théoimation necessary to assert the model, inputsaasdmptions used comply with U.S. GAAP,
including disclosure requirements. The Company alstains observable inputs from the investment manand independently verifies the
observable inputs, as well as assesses assumpsiedgor reasonableness based on relevant markgitions and internal Company
guidelines. If an assumption is deemed unreasonbhsed on the Company's guidelines, it is theiewead by a member of management and
the fair value estimate provided by the vendodisisted, if deemed appropriate. These adjustmentstioccur frequently and have not
historically been material to the fair value estiesain the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Derivatives are carried at fair value, based upon industnydsted valuation techniques that use, where possibteent market-based or
independently sourced pricing inputs, such asésteates, currency exchange rates, or impliedilités.

Annuity contractsconsist of insurance group annuity contracts paset to match the pension benefit payment streaga tovcertain
selected plan participant demographics within arfieayor United Kingdom defined benefit plans. Angugbntracts are valued using a
discounted cash flow model utilizing assumptionshsas discount rate, mortality, and inflation. T@&mpany independently verifies the
observable inputs.

Real estate and REITsonsist of publicly traded REITs and direct restbée investments. Level 1 REITs are valued usiaglosing
stock price on a national securities exchange.lBwel 3 values are based on the proportionate sifasenership in the underlying net asset
value as determined by the investment managerCbinepany independently reviews the listing of LeV&EIT securities in the portfolio and
agrees the closing stock prices to a national g&siexchange. The Company gains an understamditige investment guidelines and
valuation policies of the Level 3 real estate fuadd discusses performance with the fund managkesCompany obtains audited fund
manager financial statements, when available. Is&=ddscription of "Alternative investments" forther detail on valuation procedures
surrounding Level 3 REITSs.

Guaranteesare carried at fair value, which is based on disted estimated cash flows using published histbdamulative default rat:
and discount rates commensurate with the underkykpgpsure.

Debt is carried at outstanding principal balance, Egsunamortized discount or premium. Fair valugsised on quoted market prices
estimates using discounted cash flow analyses lasedrrent borrowing rates for similar types ofrowing arrangements.

100




The following tables present the categorizatiothefCompany's assets and liabilities that are nedsat fair value on a recurring basi
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively (in om#):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets Other Unobservable
Balance at for Identical Observable Inputs
December 31, 2013 Assets (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Money market funds and highly liquid debt
securities (1) $ 2,07¢  $ 2,05 $ 25 3 —
Other investments
Fixed maturity securities
Corporate bonds 2 — — 2
Government bonds 7 — 7 —
Equity securities 13 6 7 —
Derivatives
Interest rate contracts 9 — 9 —
Foreign exchange contracts 71 — 71 —
Liabilities:
Derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts 93 — 93 —

(1) Includes $2,054 million of money market fureshel $25 million of highly liquid debt securitiesathare classified as Fiduciary assets,
Short-term investments or Cash equivalents in tiesGlidated Statements of Financial Position, déjmgnon their nature and initial
maturity. See Note 7 "Investments" for additiomdbrmation regarding the Company's investments.

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets Other Unobservable
Balance at for Identical Observable Inputs
December 31, 2012 Assets (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Money market funds and highly liquid debt
securities (1) $ 2,13: % 2,10¢ $ 25 3 —
Other investments
Fixed maturity securities
Corporate bonds 12 — — 12
Government bonds 8 — 8 —
Equity securities 5 5 — —
Derivatives
Interest rate contracts 17 — 17 —
Foreign exchange contracts 19z — 19z —
Liabilities:
Derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts 251 = 251 =

(1) Includes $2,108 million of money market furagel $25 million of highly liquid debt securitidsat are classified as Fiduciary assets,
Short-term investments or Cash equivalents in thesGlidated Statements of Financial Position, ddipenon their nature and initial
maturity. See Note 7 "Investments" for additiomdbrmation regarding the Company's investments.
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There were no transfers of assets or liabilitiggv/ben fair value hierarchy levels during 2013 0120 The Company recognized $6
million of realized gains and no unrealized gain¥seses recognized in the Consolidated Statenoéritecome during 2013 related to assets
and liabilities measured at fair value using unokegle inputs. There were no realized or unrealgaids or losses recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Income during 2012 @d 2€lated to assets and liabilities measurediatditue using unobservable inputs.

The fair value of all long-term debt instrumentslassified as Level 2. The following table diseeshe Company's financial instruments
where the carrying amounts and fair values diffengillions):

As of December 31 2013 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value
Long-term debt $ 3,68t % 3,89¢ % 3,712 % 4,162

16. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal

Aon and its subsidiaries are subject to numeraaisgl, tax assessments, lawsuits and proceedinigariba in the ordinary course of
business, which frequently include errors and oimiss("E&QO") claims. The damages claimed in thesdtens are or may be substantial,
including, in many instances, claims for punititreple or extraordinary damages. Aon has histdyigalrchased E&O insurance and other
insurance to provide protection against certaisdeghat arise in such matters. Aon has exhaustedterially depleted its coverage under
some of the policies that protect the Company aadsequently, is self-insured or materially sefftired for some historical claims. Accruals
for these exposures, and related insurance redesjalhen applicable, have been provided to thengthat losses are deemed probable ar
reasonably estimable. These amounts are adjustedtime to time as developments warrant. Amourtded to settlement provisions are
recorded in Other general expenses in the Consetidétatements of Income.

A retail insurance brokerage subsidiary of Aon jes insurance brokerage services to Northrop Gram@orporation (“Northrop™).
This Aon subsidiary placed Northrop's excess ptgpesurance program for the period covering 200&ithrop suffered a substantial loss in
August 2005 when Hurricane Katrina damaged Nortbrigzilities in the Gulf states. Northrop's excessirance carrier, Factory Mutual
Insurance Company ("Factory Mutual"), denied cogerfor the claim pursuant to a flood exclusion. tNap sued Factory Mutual in the
United States District Court for the Central Distrof California and later sought to add this Aaibsdiary as a defendant, asserting that if
Northrop's policy with Factory Mutual does not cotlee losses suffered by Northrop stemming fromridane Katrina, then this Ac
subsidiary will be responsible for Northrop's Iasg®n August 26, 2010, the court granted in lay Bactory Mutual's motion for partial
summary judgment regarding the applicability of fleed exclusion and denied Northrop's motion td #ids Aon subsidiary as a defendant in
the federal lawsuit. On January 27, 2011, NortHiled suit against this Aon subsidiary in state itdn Los Angeles, California, pleading
claims for negligence, breach of contract and gegli misrepresentation. Northrop has since settiddFactory Mutual. Aon believes that it
has meritorious defenses and intends to vigoralesignd itself against these claims. The outconthisflawsuit, and the amount of any losses
or other payments that may result, cannot be ettt this time.

Another retail insurance brokerage subsidiary of Aas been sued in Tennessee state court by § @iery Mills Mall Limited
Partnership ("Opry Mills") that sustained flood dege to its property in May 2010. The lawsuit sé&k30 million from numerous insurers
with whom this Aon subsidiary placed the clientspgerty insurance coverage. The insurers conteatcotily $50 million in coverage is
available for the loss because the flood eventmwedwn property in a high hazard flood zone. Ogilfs is seeking full coverage from the
insurers for the loss and has sued this Aon sudrsidh the alternative for the same $150 millioffedence on various theories of professional
liability if the court determines there is not fatbverage. In addition, Opry Mills seeks prejudgtrieterest, attorneys' fees and enhanced
damages which could substantially increase Aorpeexre. Aon believes it has meritorious defensddratends to vigorously defend itself
against these claims. The outcome of this lawani, the amount of any losses or other paymentsrthgtresult, cannot be estimated at this
time.

A pensions consulting and administration subsid@riewitt before its acquisition by Aon providedvisory services to the Trustees of
the Philips UK pension fund and the relevant emgtaf fund beneficiaries (together, "Philips").January 2014, the Aon subsidiary was
served with a High Court lawsuit alleging negligerand breach of duty. The proceeding assert Philgit to claim damages related to Phil
use of a credit default swap hedging strategy @unsto the supply of the advisory services, whichkdid to have resulted in substantial
damages to Philips. Aon believes that it has méoiis defenses and intends to vigorously deferadf ibgyainst these allegations. The outcome
of this circumstance, and the amount of any lossesher payments that may result, cannot be etdifra this time.
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Mazeikiu Nafta ("MN"), which operates an oil refigan Lithuania, has sued an insurance brokerafsidiary of Aon in London. Aon
placed property damage and business interruptioarage for MN. There was a fire at the refinerg@®6. MN settled with insurers in
November 2011 and claimed against Aon in DecemB&2 ZThe claim is fo$125 million , which is the shortfall alleged by Mdlhave been
caused by Aon's failure to obtain appropriate lessrinterruption coverage. Aon believes that itrhasgtorious defenses and intends to
vigorously defend itself against these allegatidie outcome of this lawsuit, and the amount of lasges or other payments that may result,
cannot be estimated at this time.

The International Road Transport Union ("IRU") suezh in a court in Switzerland. IRU alleges, amartiger things, that, between 1995
and 2004, a predecessor of Aon and, later, an Absidiary (1) accepted commissions for certainriaisce placements that violated a fee
agreement entered between the parties and (2)geedy failed to ask certain insurance carriersdotribute to the IRU's risk management
costs. Aon believes that it has meritorious dederand intends to vigorously defend itself agaimsse claims. The outcome of these
proceedings, and the amount of any losses or pthenents that may result, cannot be estimatedsatitie.

AXA Versicherung Aktiengesellschaft ("AXA") startedtbitral proceedings against an insurance andueamce brokerage subsidiary of
Aon in Germany. Predecessors of AXA granted presisars of the Aon subsidiary a mandate to underwah-proportional reinsurance
business from 1975 through 1999. AXA alleges, amathgr things, that the Aon-related entities intamally exceeded their mandate and that,
if AXA had known of this intention, it would not kia granted a mandate. Aon believes that it haganieus defenses and intends to
vigorously defend itself against these claims. daome of these proceedings, and the amountyolioases or other payments that may
result, cannot be estimated at this time.

From time to time, Aon's clients may bring clainmsldake legal action pertaining to the performanfciduciary responsibilities.
Whether client claims and legal action relatechto€ompany's performance of fiduciary responsiéditire founded or unfounded, if such
claims and legal actions are resolved in a mannfavarable to the Company, they may adversely affen's financial results and materially
impair the market perception of the Company antlahés products and services.

Although the ultimate outcome of all matters reddrto above cannot be ascertained, and liabiliti@sdeterminate amounts may be
imposed on Aon or its subsidiaries, on the basigetent information, amounts already providedilabgity of insurance coverages and legal
advice received, it is the opinion of managemeat the disposition or ultimate determination oftsataims will not have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial position offAdlowever, it is possible that future results pémtions or cash flows for any particular
quarterly or annual period could be materially etiéel by an unfavorable resolution of these matters.

Guarantees and | ndemnifications

In connection with the redomicile of Aon's headdeia ("the Redomestication™), the Company on Ari2012 entered various
agreements pursuant to which it agreed to guarahéeebligations of its subsidiaries arising undsued and outstanding debt securities. T
agreements included the (1) Amended and Restatkhiure, dated as of April 2, 2012, among Aon Cration, Aon plc, and The Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trusteeg(tfirustee") (amending and restating the Indentlméed as of September 10, 20
between Aon Corporation and the Trustee), (2) Aredrehd Restated Indenture, dated as of April 22 2@thong Aon Corporation, Aon plc
and the Trustee (amending and restating the Indendated as of December 16, 2002, between AondCatipn and the Trustee), (3) Amenc
and Restated Indenture, dated as of April 2, 28&#yng Aon Corporation, Aon plc and the Trustee (adivey and restating the Indenture,
dated as of January 13, 1997, as supplementeceliyitst Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Jarl@&r§997) (4) First Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of April 2, 2012, among AoraRie N.S. 1, ULC, as issuer, Aon Corporation, asantor, Aon plc, as guarantor, and
Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as trumteég5) Amended and Restated Trust Deed, amongZdoporation, Aon plc, Aon
Services Luxembourg & Co S.C.A. (formerly knownfam Financial Services Luxembourg S.A.) ("Aon Luxeoarg") and BNY Mellon
Corporate Trustee Services Limited, as trustee"{tbgembourg Trustee") (amending and restatingTthest Deed, dated as of July 1, 2009, as
amended and restated on January 12, 2011, amon®®&laware, Aon Luxembourg and the Luxembourg Tejste

Effective as of the same date, the Company alssreshinto agreements pursuant to which it agregaiémantee the obligations of its
subsidiaries arising under the (1) $450,000,000nT€redit Agreement dated June 15, 2011, among@amporation, as borrower, Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent and the o#igeents and lenders party thereto, (2) $400,000@e -Year Agreement dated March 20,
2012, among Aon Corporation, as borrower, Citibald., as administrative agent and the other agamdislenders party thereto and (3)
€650,000,000 Facility Agreement, dated October D302 among Aon Corporation, the subsidiaries of Sanporation party thereto as
borrowers, Citibank International plc, as agent| te other agents and lenders party thereto, asded on July 18, 2011.
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The Company provides a variety of guarantees ashehimifications to its customers and others. Theimam potential amount of future
payments represents the notional amounts that ¢tmddme payable under the guarantees and indeatiufis if there were a total default by
the guaranteed parties, without consideration s6jtbe recoveries under recourse provisions orattfethods. These amounts may bear no
relationship to the expected future payments, yf &or these guarantees and indemnifications. Articgpated amounts payable that are dee
to be probable and reasonably estimable are indlirdthe Company's Consolidated Financial Statesyantd are recorded at fair value.

The Company expects that, as prudent businesg#tsadictate, additional guarantees and indemtidics.may be issued from time to
time.

Letters of Credit

The Company had total letters of credit ("LOCs")standing for approximately $71 million at DecemBé&r 2013 , compared to $74
million at December 31, 2012 . These letters oflitreover the beneficiaries related to certain ohA U.S. and Canadian nqoalified pensiol
plan schemes and secure deductible retentionsdnisfown workers compensation program. The Companyalso issued LOCs to cover
contingent payments for taxes and other busindggations to third parties, and other guaranteesrfiscellaneous purposes at its internationa
subsidiaries. Amounts are accrued in the Conselii&tnancial Statements to the extent the guarsateeprobable and estimable, and are
recorded at fair value.

Commitments

The Company has provided commitments to fund aelimited partnerships in which it has an inteiashe event that the general
partners request funding. Some of these commitntevs specific expiration dates and the maximurem@! funding under these
commitments was $34 million at December 31, 2008ring 2013 , the Company funded $15 million ofsheommitments.

Premium Payments

The Company has certain contractual contingentagueaes for premium payments owed by clients t@gemsurance companies. Costs
associated with these guarantees, to the extemtadde and probable, are provided in Aon's alloveaioe doubtful accounts. The maximum
exposure with respect to such contractual contingearantees was approximately $98 million at Ddzem31, 2013 compared to $104 million
at December 31, 2012 .

17. Segment Information

The Company has two reportable segments: RiskiSokiand HR Solutions. Unallocated income and esggnwvhen combined with the
operating segments and after the elimination @rgggment revenues and expenses, equal the anmtmtsConsolidated Financial
Statements.

Reportable operating segments have been determgiiegl a management approach, which is consistehttiaé basis and manner in
which Aon's chief operating decision maker ("CODM8$gs financial information for the purposes abedlting resources and evaluating
performance. The CODM assesses performance basgueoating income and generally accounts for isegment revenue as if the revenue
were from third parties and at what managemenebedi are current market prices. The Company dagsresent net assets by segment as th
information is not reviewed by the CODM.

Risk Solutions acts as an advisor and insuranceeinsiurance broker, helping clients manage tligisy via consultation, as well as
negotiation and placement of insurance risk wigumance carriers through Aon's global distributietwork.

HR Solutions partners with organizations to sohairtmost complex benefits, talent and relatednfoia challenges, and improve
business performance by designing, implementinginconicating and administering a wide range of hucagital, retirement, investment
management, health care, compensation and talerdagement strategies.
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Aon's total revenue is as follows (in millions):

Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Risk Solutions $ 7,78 $ 763 $ 7,531
HR Solutions 4,057 3,92¢ 3,781
Intersegment elimination (32) (43) (32)
Total revenue $ 1181f $ 1151« $ 11,28
Commissions, fees and other revenues by produetsaf@lows (in millions):
Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Retail brokerage $ 625¢ $ 6,08 $ 6,020
Reinsurance brokerage 1,50t 1,50¢ 1,46:
Total Risk Solutions Segment 7,761 7,594 7,48¢
Consulting services 1,62¢ 1,58t 1,54¢
Outsourcing 2,46¢ 2,372 2,25¢
Intrasegment (39 (32 (23)
Total HR Solutions Segment 4,057 3,92¢ 3,781
Intersegment (31 (43 (32)
Total commissions, fees and other revenue $ 11,787 $ 1147¢ $ 11,23t
Fiduciary investment income by segment is as faldiw millions):
Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Risk Solutions $ 28 % 38 $ 52
HR Solutions — — —
Total fiduciary investment income $ 28 $ 38 $ 52
A reconciliation of segment operating income betfaseto income before income taxes is as followsillions):
Years ended December 31 2013 2012 2011
Risk Solutions $ 1540 $ 1,497 $ 141
HR Solutions 31¢ 28¢ 33€
Segment income before income taxes 1,85¢ 1,782 1,74¢
Unallocated expenses (187) (18€) (153
Interest income 9 10 18
Interest expense (210 (228) (24%)
Other income 68 2 19
Income before income taxes $ 153¢ $ 1,38C $ 1,38¢

Unallocated expenses include administrative orratbsts not attributable to the operating segmenish as corporate governance costs
Interest income represents income earned primanilgperating cash balances and certain income pirgisecurities. Interest expense
represents the cost of worldwide debt obligations.

Other income consists of equity earnings, realgaids or losses on the sale of investments, gailosses on the disposal of businesses
gains or losses on derivatives, and gains or lassdsreign currency transactions.

Revenues are generally attributed to geographasarvased on the location of the resources prodticagevenues. Intercompany
revenues and expenses are eliminated in consdlideselts.
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Consolidated revenue by geographic area is asafsl{@ millions):

Americas Europe,
United other than United Middle East, Asia
Years ended December 31 Total States uU.S. Kingdom & Africa Pacific
2013 $ 11,81t $ 557/ $ 1,212 $ 154 $ 2,30¢ $ 1,17¢
2012 11,51 5,33¢ 1,19( 1,541 2,271 1,17¢
2011 11,28 5,13¢ 1,17¢ 1,51¢ 2,37 1,081

Consolidated non-current assets by geographicaaesas follows (in millions):

Americas Europe,
United other than United Middle East, Asia
As of December 31 Total States uU.S. Kingdom & Africa Pacific
2013 $ 13,72¢ $ 7,72( $ 55¢ $ 2392 $ 2,44C $ 617
2012 13,81¢ 8,35¢ 59¢ 1,721 2,462 682

18. Guarantee of Reqgistered Securities

As described in Note 16, in connection with the &adstication, Aon plc entered into various agregmpuarsuant to which it agreed to
guarantee the obligations of Aon Corporation agsinder issued and outstanding debt securities.@aporation is a 100% directly owned
subsidiary of Aon plc. The debt securities thatsareject to Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X are th@%5enior notes due September 2015, the
3.125% senior notes due May 2016, the 5.00% sewi@s due September 2020, the 8.205% junior sutabeti deferrable interest debentures
due January 2027 and the 6.25% senior notes duerSlegr 2040. All guarantees of Aon plc are full amdonditional. There are no other
subsidiaries of Aon plc that are guarantors ofdéiet.

Aon Corporation entered into an agreement pursiearhich it agreed to guarantee the obligation8af plc arising under the
4.250% Notes Due 2042 exchanged for Aon Corporatiautstanding 8.205% junior subordinated defeeratterest debentures due January
2027 in both Original Notes and Exchange Notes fasndescribed in Note 8. Those notes are subjétil®3-10 of Regulation S-X. Aon
Corporation also agreed to guarantee the obligatidon plc arising under the 4.45% Notes Due 2848ed on May 21, 2013 and the 4.00%
Notes Due November 2023 issued on November 21,.20 5ch case, the guarantee of Aon Corporatifuiliand unconditional. There are
subsidiaries of Aon plc, other than Aon Corporatitrat are guarantors of the 4.250% Notes Due 20424.45% Notes Due 2043 or #h@0%
Notes Due 202:

The following tables set forth condensed consadlidgstatements of income, comprehensive incomecasl flows for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 , and condexmseswblidating statements of financial positioroBBecember 31, 2018nd December 3.
2012 in accordance with Rule 3-10 of Regulation.SFe condensed consolidating financial informatimiudes the accounts of Aon plc, the
accounts of Aon Corporation, and the combined atisoof the non-guarantor subsidiaries. The condkosasolidating financial statements
are presented in all periods as a merger under conmontrol, with Aon plc presented as the paremigany in all periods priceind subseque
to the Redomestication. The principal consolidatidgistments are to eliminate the investment irsislidries and intercompany balances and
transactions.

In July 2013, Aon Holdings LLC, an intermediatedin company and the direct parent of Aon Corporgtiransferred its ownership of
Aon Corporation to Aon plc via distribution. Thadincial results of Aon Holdings LLC were includade Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries
column of the Condensed Consolidating Financiale®tants. The Company has reflected the transf@pnfCorporation from Aon Holdings
LLC to Aon plc below for all periods presented.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Revenue
Commissions, fees and other $ 3 3 — $ 11,78  $ — 11,78
Fiduciary investment income — — 28 — 28
Total revenue 3 — 11,81 — 11,81¢
Expenses
Compensation and benefits 69 18z 6,69: — 6,94
Other general expenses 4 35 3,16( — 3,19¢
Total operating expenses 73 21¢ 9,85: — 10,14«
Operating income (70 (21¢) 1,95¢ — 1,671
Interest income — 3 6 — 9
Interest expense (20 (13¢) (52 — (210
Intercompany interest (expense)
income 12C 24 (1449 — —
Other Income — 19 49 — 68
Income (loss) before taxes 30 (310 1,81¢ — 1,53¢
Income tax expense (benefit) 12 (64) 44z — 39C
(Income) loss before equity in
earnings of subsidiaries 18 (24€) 1,37¢ — 1,14¢
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries,
of tax 1,09t 1,061 — (2,156 —
Net income 1,11: 81t 1,37¢ (2,156 1,14¢
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — 35 — 35
Net income attributable to Aon
shareholders $ 1,11 ¢ 81t % 1,341 % (2,15¢) $ 1,11:
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Revenue
Commissions, fees and other $ 2 1 3 11,47  $ 12 3% 11,47¢
Fiduciary investment income — 1 37 — 38
Total revenue 2 2 11,51 QD 11,51«
Expenses
Compensation and benefits 117 24 6,56¢ — 6,70¢
Other general expenses 18 47 3,14¢ (@D} 3,20¢
Total operating expenses 13t 71 9,71: Q) 9,91¢
Operating (loss) income (139 (69) 1,79¢ — 1,59¢
Interest income — 1 9 — 10
Interest expense — (164) (64) — (228)
Intercompany interest (expense)
income (29 19C (77 — —
Other income (expense) — 57 (55) — 2
(Loss) income before taxes (152 15 1,515 — 1,38(
Income tax (benefit) expense (37 8 38¢ — 36C
(Loss) income before equity in
earnings of subsidiaries (115 7 1,12¢ — 1,02(
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries,
of tax 1,10¢ 93z — (2,040 —
Net income 99: 93¢ 1,12¢ (2,040 1,02(
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — 27 — 27
Net income attributable to Aon
shareholders $ 99z 93¢ % 1,101 $ (2,040 $ 99:
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustment Consolidated
Revenue
Commissions, fees and other $ — ¢ — 3 11,23¢ 12 3% 11,23t
Fiduciary investment income — 2 50 — 52
Total revenue — 2 11,28¢ QD 11,28:
Expenses
Compensation and benefits — 11¢€ 6,44¢ — 6,567
Other general expenses — 47 3,07¢ (@D} 3,12¢
Total operating expenses — 16t 9,52 Q) 9,691
Operating income — (163) 1,75¢ — 1,59¢
Interest income — 4 14 — 18
Interest expense — 171 (74) — (24%)
Intercompany interest income
(expense) — 18C (180 — —
Other income (expense) — 36 (17) — 19
(Loss) income before taxes — (119 1,50z — 1,38¢
Income tax (benefit) expense — (43 421 — 37¢
(Loss) income before equity in
earnings of subsidiaries — (77) 1,081 — 1,01(C
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries,
of tax 97¢ 86¢ — (1,847 —
Net income 97¢ 797 1,081 (1,849 1,01C
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — 31 — 31
Net income attributable to Aon
shareholders $ 97¢ ¢ 797 % 1,05¢( (1,847) % 97¢




Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensivecome

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net income $ 1,11 % 81t $ 1,37¢ $ (2,15¢) $ 1,14¢
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — 35 — 35
Net income attributable to Aon shareholde$ 1,11 $ 81t $ 1,341 % (2,15¢) $ 1,118
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax:
Change in fair value of investments — — 1 — 1
Change in fair value of derivatives — 5 1 — 6
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — (60) 5) — (65)
Post-retirement benefit obligation — 223 70 — 293
Total other comprehensive income — 16¢ 67 — 23t
Equity in other comprehensive income of
subsidiaries, net of tax 23€ 69 — (305) —
Less: Other comprehensive loss
attributable to noncontrolling interests — — D — D
Total other comprehensive income
attributable to Aon shareholders 23¢€ 237 68 (305) 23¢€
Comprehensive income attributable to Aol
shareholders $ 1,34¢ $ 1,052 $ 1,40¢ $ (2,460 $ 1,34¢
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensivecome
Year Ended December 31, 2012
Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net income $ 99 $ 93¢ $ 1,12¢  $ (2,040 $ 1,02(
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — 27 — 27
Net income attributable to Aon shareholde$ 99: $ 93¢ $ 1,101 $ (2,040 $ 99:
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Change in fair value of derivatives — 2 7 — 9
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — 24 85 — 10¢
Post-retirement benefit obligation — (68) (290 — (35¢)
Total other comprehensive loss — (42 (19¢) — (240
Equity in other comprehensive loss of
subsidiaries, net of tax (240) (187) — 427 —
Less: Other comprehensive income
attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — — —
Total other comprehensive loss attributabl
to Aon shareholders (240) (229) (29¢) 427 (240
Comprehensive income attributable to Aon
shareholders $ 758 % 71C % 90 ¢ (1,619 $ 752
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensivecome

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net income $ 97¢ % 797 % 1,081 $ (1,847 $ 1,01(
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests — — 31 — 31
Net income attributable to Aon shareholde$ 97¢ $ 797 % 1,05C $ 1,847 $ 97¢
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Change in fair value of derivatives — — (13 — (13
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — (6) (37 — 43
Post-retirement benefit obligation — (173) (229) — (396
Total other comprehensive loss — (179 (273) — (452)
Equity in other comprehensive loss of
subsidiaries, net of tax (453) 277) — 73C —
Less: Other comprehensive income
attributable to noncontrolling interests — — 1 — 1
Total other comprehensive loss attributabl
to Aon shareholders (45%) (45€) (279 73C (459)
Comprehensive income attributable to Aon
shareholders $ 52¢ $ 341 % 7€ $ 11179 $ 52¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Financial Pdi&in

As of December 31, 2013

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ — 247 $ 1,24¢ % (1,01¢) 477
Short-term investments — 162 36C — 523
Receivables, net — 4 2,89: — 2,89¢
Fiduciary assets — — 11,87: — 11,87:
Intercompany receivables 18¢€ 3,50: 5,452 (9,147 —
Other current assets — 69 513 (19 563
Total Current Assets 18€ 3,98¢ 22,33¢ (10,17¢) 16,33(
Goodwill — — 8,991 — 8,991
Intangible assets, net — — 2,57¢ — 2,57¢
Fixed assets, net — — 791 — 791
Investments — 57 75 — 13z
Deferred tax assets 14C 46E 19z (60%) 19z
Intercompany receivables 7,16¢ 2,17¢ 2,201 (11,545 —
Other non-current assets 6 95 1,22¢ (99 1,23(
Investment in subsidiary 4,607 11,69 — (16,30 —
TOTAL ASSETS $ 12,10¢ 18,47 $ 38,397 $ (38,726 30,25
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Fiduciary liabilities $ — — $ 11,87 $ — 11,87:
Short-term debt and current portion
of long-term debt — — 707 4) 703
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 1,03¢ 62 1,84¢ (1,01¢) 1,931
Intercompany payables 15 5,44¢ 3,67 (9,147 —
Other current liabilities 12 47 86¢€ (29 90¢€
Total Current Liabilities 1,06: 5,55¢ 18,97( (10,180 15,41
Long-term debt 792 2,512 37¢ 4 3,68¢
Deferred tax liabilities — — 1,02¢ (605) 42(
Pension, other post-retirement and
other post-employment liabilities — 92t 682 — 1,607
Intercompany payables 2,10¢ 7,267 2,17¢ (11,54% —
Other non-current liabilities 5 15¢ 867 (99 932
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,96( 16,42: 24,10( (22,42Y 22,05¢
TOTAL AON SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY 8,14t 2,05¢ 14,247 (16,307 8,14t
Noncontrolling interests — — 50 — 50
TOTAL EQUITY 8,14t 2,05¢ 14,29; (16,307) 8,19t
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
EQUITY $ 12,10¢ 18,47 $ 38,397 $ (38,726 30,25

112




Condensed Consolidating Statement of Financial Pdi&in

As of December 31, 2012

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 131 19¢ % — (39 291
Short-term investments — 89 257 — 34¢€
Receivables, net 5 1 3,09t — 3,101
Fiduciary assets — — 12,21 — 12,21
Intercompany receivables — 2,092 3,54¢ (5,637 —
Other current assets 7 53 37C — 43C
Total Current Assets 14z 2,43¢ 19,48: (5,676 16,38:
Goodwill — — 8,94: — 8,94:
Intangible assets, net — — 2,97t — 2,97t
Fixed assets, net — — 82C — 82C
Investments — 49 11€ — 16t
Deferred tax assets 117 62C 26€ (71¢) 28t
Intercompany receivables 16€ 1,99 2,35( (4,519 —
Other non-current assets — 11¢& 90¢ (207) 91€
Investment in subsidiary 10,39¢ 10,20¢ — (20,60¢6) —
TOTAL ASSETS $ 10,82« 15,42 $ 35,85¢ $ (31,620 30,48¢
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Fiduciary liabilities $ — — 3 12,21 $ — 12,21
Short-term debt and current portion
of long-term debt — 42¢ 23 — 452
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 10 71 1,811 (39 1,85:
Intercompany payables 51 2,637 2,16z (4,850 —
Other current liabilities — 49 77¢ 3 831
Total Current Liabilities 61 3,18¢ 16,98¢ (4,88¢) 15,35(
Long-term debt 107 2,51t 1,091 — 3,71z
Deferred tax liabilities — — 1,024 (71¢) 30¢€
Pension, other post-retirement and
other post-employment liabilities — 1,29¢ 982 — 2,27¢
Intercompany payables 2,89( 16€ 2,247 (5,309 —
Other non-current liabilities 4 254 88t (207) 1,03¢
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,06z 7,41F 23,21¢ (11,019 22,68
TOTAL AON SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY 7,762 8,00¢ 12,59¢ (20,60¢) 7,762
Noncontrolling interests — — 43 — 43
TOTAL EQUITY 7,762 8,00¢ 12,64: (20,60¢) 7,80¢
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
EQUITY $ 10,82« 15,42 $ 35,85¢ % (31,620 30,48¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (50) $ (441) $ 2,12¢  $ — 1,63
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Sales of long-term investments — 8 85 — 93
Purchase of long-term investments — (15) — — (15)
Net (purchases) sales of short-term
investments - non-fiduciary — (74) (100 — (174
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
acquired — — (54) — (54)
Proceeds from sale of businesses — 7 33 — 40
Capital expenditures — (229 — (229)
CASH USED FOR INVESTING
ACTIVITIES — (74) (26%) — (339
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Share repurchase (1,109 — — — (1,109
Advances from (to) affiliates 46C 99¢ 479 977) —
Issuance of shares for employee benefit plans 98 — — — 98
Issuance of debt 1,73( 2,94 232 — 4,90¢
Repayment of debt (1,05Y) (3,379) (247) — (4,679
Cash dividends to shareholders (212 — — — (212
Purchase of shares from noncontrolling
interests — — (8) — (8)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests — — (29 — (19
CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (81 562 (521 (977) (1,016
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS — — (92 — (92)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (131 48 1,24¢ (977) 18¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 131 19¢ — (3¢ 291
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF PERIOD $ — $ 247 % 1,24¢ $ (1,01¢) $ 477
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 87 $ (105) ¢ 1,611 $ —  $ 1,41¢
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Sales of long-term investments — 79 99 — 17¢
Purchase of long-term investments — (12 — — (12
Net (purchases) sales of short-term
investments - non-fiduciary — 232 20¢ — 44C
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
acquired (50 (55) (57) — (162)
Proceeds from sale of businesses — — 2 — 2
Capital expenditures — — (269) — (269)
CASH USED FOR INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (50) 244 a7 — 177
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Share repurchase (1,025 (100 — — (1,125
Advances from (to) affiliates 1,37¢ 48¢ (1,850 (18) —
Issuance of shares for employee benefit plans 69 49 — — 11¢€
Issuance of debt — 73z 1 — 73:
Repayment of debt — (1,067 (16 — (1,077
Cash dividends to shareholders (15%) (49 — — (204)
Purchase of shares from noncontrolling
interests — — (4) — (4)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests — — (27) — (27)
CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 26¢ 60 (1,896 (18) (1,586
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS — — 9 — 9
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 131 19¢ (299 (18 19
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR — — 29¢ (22) 272
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF PERIOD $ 131 § 19¢ $ — $ (39) ¢ 291
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Other
Aon Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(millions) Aon plc Corporation Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ — $ (201) $ 1,21¢  $ —  $ 1,01¢
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Sales of long-term investments — 13z 57 — 19C
Purchase of long-term investments — (20 (20 — (30)
Net (purchases) sales of short-term
investments - non-fiduciary — 11t (123 — (8)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
acquired — (10 (96) — (106
Proceeds from sale of businesses — 5 4 — 9
Capital expenditures — — (247) — (247)
CASH USED FOR INVESTING
ACTIVITIES — 22: (409) — (18¢€)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Share repurchase — (828¢) — — (828¢)
Advances from (to) affiliates — 78¢ (76¢) (22) —
Issuance of shares for employee benefit plans — 201 — — 201
Issuance of debt — 1,29( 38¢ — 1,67
Repayment of debt — (1,289 (400 — (1,68¢)
Cash dividends to shareholders — (200) — — (200
Purchase of shares from noncontrolling
interests — — (24) — (29
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests — — (30 — (30)
CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES — (36) (839) (23 (89¢)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS — — (10 — (20)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — (14) (39 (23 (74)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR — 14 332 — 34¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF PERIOD $ — $ —  $ 29§ (21) ¢ 27z
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19. OQuarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly financial data for the yearsedrdecember 31, 2013 and 2012 as follows (in nmidljexcept per share data):

1Q 20Q 3Q 4Q 2013
INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Commissions, fees and other revenue $ 2,90¢ 2,891 2,78¢ 3,202 11,781
Fiduciary investment income 7 6 8 7 28
Total revenue $ 2,91¢ 2,891 2,79¢ 3,20¢ 11,81f
Operating income $ 41C 382 364 51k 1,671
Net income 272 252 264 36C 1,14¢
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingeneists 11 11 8 5 35
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 261 241 25¢€ 35k 1,11:
PER SHARE DATA
Basic net income per share attributable to AonedieElders $ 0.82Z 0.77 0.8¢ 1.1€ 3.51
Diluted net income per share attributable to Acarsholders $ 0.82Z 0.7¢€ 0.8z 1.14 BA5E
CLASS A ORDINARY SHARE DATA
Dividends paid per share $ 0.1€ 0.1¢ 0.1¢ 0.1¢ 0.6¢
Price range:
High $ 61.87 67.2¢ 76.3( 84.3: 84.3:
Low $ 54.6¢ 58.4¢ 64.2( 70.72 54.6¢
Shares outstanding 309.1 307.5 301.( 300.7 300.7
Average monthly trading volume 46.4 34.¢ 30.¢ 37.€ 37.t
1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q 2012
INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Commissions, fees and other revenue $ 2,82¢ 2,81: 2,72¢ 3,10¢ 11,47¢
Fiduciary investment income 12 8 11 7 38
Total revenue $ 2,841 2,821 2,731 3,11¢ 11,51
Operating income $ 40z 394 33¢ 461 1,59¢
Net income 24¢ 254 21C 307 1,02(
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingneists 11 8 6 2 27
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders $ 23¢ 24¢€ 204 30t 99z
PER SHARE DATA
Basic net income per share attributable to Aonedi@ders $ 0.72 0.74 0.6z 0.9t 3.02
Diluted net income per share attributable to Aon
shareholders $ 0.71 0.7¢ 0.62 0.9 2.9¢
CLASS A ORDINARY SHARE DATA
Dividends paid per share $ 0.1¢ 0.1€ 0.1¢ 0.1¢€ 0.62
Price range:
High $ 49.5] 52.61 53.3t 57.92 57.9:
Low $ 45.5¢ 45.0¢ 45.8 51.7¢ 45.0¢
Shares outstanding 326.4 322.¢ 318.1 310.¢ 310.¢
Average monthly trading volume 47.C 47.€ 30.1 33.7 39.¢
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accotants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have conducted an evaluation of the effectivenéshe design and operation of our disclosurdrotsiand procedures, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the SecuBtiebange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchang§ Astof the end of the period covered
by this annual report of December 31, 2013 . Basethis evaluation, our chief executive officer amdkef financial officer concluded as of
December 31, 2013 that our disclosure controlspradedures were effective such that the informatadating to Aon, including our
consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclasedir SEC reports is recorded, processed, suraathénd reported within the time periods
specified in SEC rules and forms, and is accumdlatel communicated to Aon's management, includimgbief executive officer and chief
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timelgaisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

Management of Aon plc is responsible for estahtigtaind maintaining adequate internal control owerfcial reporting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Bee Company's internal control over financigdoging is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafitial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accouptimgiples. Because of its inherent limitationgemal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, prajestof any evaluation of effectiveness to futurequls are subject to the risk that controls |
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policgeprocedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomorf senior management, including our chief exgeuifficer and chief financial
officer, we assessed the effectiveness of ourriaterontrol over financial reporting as of DecemBg&r 2013 . In making this assessment, we
used the criteria set forth by the Committee ofr&ooing Organizations of the Treadway CommissioB$%0) in thenternal Control —
Integrated Framewor (1992 Framework) Based on this assessment, management has condudidernal control over financial reporting is
effective as of December 31, 2013 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby Ernst & Young LLP, the
Company's independent registered public accouffiimg as stated in their report titled "Report nflependent Registered Public Accounting
Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting."

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No changes in Aon's internal control over financgdorting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Eawge Act) occurred during 201i3at
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, Aon's internal control ovérdncial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Aon plc

We have audited Aon plc's internal control oveafinial reporting as of December 31, 2013 , basedfitaria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Cortemibf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway @@sion (1992 Framework) (the
COSO criteria). Aon plc's management is respongdrlenaintaining effective internal control ovendincial reporting, and for its assessmet
the effectiveness of internal control over finahogporting included in the accompanying ManagersdRéeport on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the company's internal controf éimancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadxdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is:. audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonablessssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repagtincludes those policies and procedures thatdftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfauinauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdanaate because of changes in conditions c
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Aon plc maintained, in all mateniabpects, effective internal control over finahoigorting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated statements of financial position ofiudc as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and thteteconsolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, shareholders' equity andftmash for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 31, 2013 and our report
dated February 18, 2014 expressed an unqualifisdoopthereon.

St ¥ MLLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 18, 2014
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Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpmate Governance.

Information relating to Aon's Directors is set fortnder the heading "Proposal 1 — Resolutions RizgguElection of Directors" in our
Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual General Meatin§hareholders to be held on June 24, 2014 '(Phexy Statement") and is incorporated
herein by reference from the Proxy Statement. médion relating to the executive officers of Aorsét forth in Part | of this Form 10-K and is
incorporated by reference. Information relatingdonpliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Aéhcorporated by reference from the
discussion under the heading "Section 16(a) Beiaéfwnership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxgt8ment. The remaining information
called for by this item is incorporated herein bference to the information under the heading "G@te Governance" and the information
under the heading "Board of Directors and Comnsttéethe Proxy Statement.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation.
Information relating to director and executive offi compensation is set forth under the headingsifignsation Committee Report,"

"Compensation Discussion and Analysis," and "ExgeeuCompensation” in the Proxy Statement, andualhsnformation is incorporated
herein by reference.

The material incorporated herein by reference ¢artformation set forth under the heading "Compgosaommittee Report” in the
Proxy Statement shall be deemed furnished, anélledt in this Form 10-K and shall not be deemezbiporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,@E#thange Act as a result of this furnishing, pkt¢e the extent that it is specifically
incorporated by reference by Aon.

Information relating to compensation committeeriloteks and insider participation is incorporatedréference to the information under
the heading "Board of Directors and CommitteeghaProxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficiBOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Médrs.

Information relating to equity compensation pland ¢he security ownership of certain beneficial evenand management of Aon's

ordinary shares is set forth under the headingsiitE€ompensation Plan Information", "Principal Hets of Voting Securities" and "Security
Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers"lie tProxy Statement and all such information isipotated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Traresctions, and Director Independence.

Aon hereby incorporates by reference the infornmatinder the headings "Corporate Governance — Rirdstlependence” and "Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions" in the yP8iatement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information required by this Item is included untiee caption "Auditor Fees" in the Proxy Statenserd is hereby incorporated by
reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedes.

(a) (1) and (2).The following documents have been included in Raltem 8.
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegistiePublic Accounting Firm, on Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of Financial Positiods-of December 31, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Income — Years Empsbmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incemésars Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Eguityears Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Yeade&December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following document has been included in Paitéim 9.

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegistiePublic Accounting Firm, on Internal Control o¥énancial Reporting

All schedules for the Registrant and consolidatdssiliaries have been omitted because the regnfecnation is not present in

amounts sufficient to require submission of theesithes or because the information required is deuin the respective financial statements
or notes thereto.

(a)(3). List of Exhibits (numbered in accordance wh Item 601 of Regulation S-K)

Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, liquidation or Succession.

2.1* Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of July @102among Aon Corporation, Alps Merger Corp., Aipasrger LLC

and Hewitt Associates, Inc. — incorporated by refiee to Exhibit 2.1 to Aon's Current Report on F8HR filed on
July 12, 2010.

2.2* Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganizatioartsyamong Aon Corporation and Market Mergeco lated
January 12, 2012 — incorporated by reference toe&Xrk of the Registration Statement on Form S-4/e(No. 333-
178991) filed by Aon Global Limited on February2®12.

2.3* Amendment No. 1 to Merger Agreement dated as othlae, 2012 by and between Aon Corporation and Btark
Mergeco — incorporated by reference to Exhibitt®.2Aon's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Mafdc 2012.

Articles of Association.

3.1* Articles of Association of Aon plc — incorporatey teference to Exhibit 3.1 to Aon's Current Remort-orm 8-K filed
on April 2, 2012.

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders Including Indentures.

4.1* Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of Ap2iD22, among Aon Corporation, Aon plc and The BaihKew York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (amending and restathmegyIndenture, dated as of January 13, 1997, gdesupnted by the

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Janugy$997) — incorporated by reference to Exhibitté.2\on's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

4.2* Capital Securities Guarantee Agreement dated darafary 13, 1997 between Aon and The Bank of Newk,\as

Guarantee Trustee — incorporated by reference bibixd.8 to Aon's Registration Statement on Forh Eile No. 333-
21237) filed on February 6, 1997.

4.3* Capital Securities Exchange and Registration Riglgteement dated as of January 13, 1997 among Aam Capital A,
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and Goldman, S&#ICo. — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4ta®\on's
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 33337) filed on February 6, 1997.
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Stanley & Co. Incorporated and Goldman, Sachs &€Edncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.11 to AdRegistration
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-21237) filed=ebruary 6, 1997.

4.5* Guarantee Exchange and Registration Rights Agreedatad as of January 13, 1997 among Aon, Aon GlapjtMorgan
Stanley & Co. Incorporated and Goldman, Sachs &-Eancorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to AdRegistration
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-21237) filed=ebruary 6, 1997.
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4.6* Indenture dated as of December 31, 2001 betweeatBriEquity Partnership Structures I, LLC, as issaed The Bank of
New York, as Trustee, Custodian, Calculation AgBlute Registrar, Transfer Agent and Paying Agenitieerporated by
reference to Exhibit 4(i) to Aon's Annual Reportlearm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

4.7* Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of Ap2iD22, among Aon Corporation, Aon plc and The BaihKew York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (amending @stating the Indenture, dated as of Decembe2d®,, between
Aon Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon $rCompany, N.A.) — incorporated by reference tbigit 4.2 to
Aon's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on AprilZ012.

4.8* Indenture dated as of April 12, 2006 among Aon ko@aN.S.1, ULC, Aon and Computershare Trust CompéiSanada,
as Trustee — incorporated by reference to Exhiliitd the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Afdrd, 2006.

4.9* Amended and Restated Trust Deed, dated as of Mxch012, among Aon Corporation, Aon plc, Aon Segsi
Luxembourg & Co. S.C.A. (formerly known as Aon Ria&l Services Luxembourg S.A.) and BNY Mellon Cangte
Trustee Services Limited, as trustee (amendingestating the Trust Deed, dated as of July 1, 280%mended and
restated on January 12, 2011) — incorporated tereate to Exhibit 4.2 to Aon's Current Report omi8-K filed on
April 2, 2012.

4.10* Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of Ap2i022, among Aon Corporation, Aon plc and The Baihkew York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (amendingd i@stating the Indenture, dated as of Septembhe&2Qi®, between
Aon Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon $riCompany, N.A.) — incorporated by reference tbibit 4.2 to
Aon's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on AprilZ012.

4.11* Form of 3.50% Senior Note due 2015 — incorporatedelierence to Exhibit 4.2 to Aon's Current Remort-orm 8-K
filed on September 10, 2010.

4.12* Form of 5.00% Senior Note due 2020 — incorporatedeierence to Exhibit 4.3 to Aon's Current Remort~orm 8-K
filed on September 10, 2010.

4.13* Form of 6.25% Senior Note due 2040 — incorporatedeierence to Exhibit 4.4 to Aon's Current Remort~orm 8-K
filed on September 10, 2010.

4.14* Indenture dated as of March 8, 2011, among Aonriéi@dN.S. 1, ULC, Aon Corporation and Computersiaust
Company of Canada. — incorporated by referencextobit 4.1 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-K dilen March 8,
2011.

4.15* First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of AprR@.2, among Aon Finance N.S. 1, ULC, Aon Corporgtas guarantor,
Aon plc, as guarantor, and Computershare Trust @ompf Canada, as trustee (supplementing the lodedated as of
March 8, 2011 among Aon Finance N.S.1, ULC, AonpBaation, as guarantor, and Computershare Trustp@ognof
Canada, as trustee) — incorporated by referenBshibit 4.2 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-Keéilon April 2, 2012.

4.16* Form of 3.125% Senior Note due 2016 — incorporétedeference to Exhibit 4.2 to Aon's Current Regort-orm 8-K
filed on May 27, 2011.

4.17* Indenture, dated as of December 12, 2012 by anahgron plc, Aon Corporation, The Bank of New YorleNbn Trust
Company, N.A. — incorporated by reference to Exttbl to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-K filedacember 13,
2012.

4.18* Form of 4.250% Senior Note Due 2042 - incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.6 to Aon's Registratidgat&ment on Form
S-4 (File No. 333-187637) filed on March 29, 2013.

4.19* Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2013, among Aon, Borporation and The Bank of New York Mellon Tr@xmpany,
National Association, as trustee (including the Aatee) — incorporated by reference to Exhibitté.Aon's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 24, 2013.

4.20*
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filed on May 24, 2013.

4.21* Form of 4.00% Senior Note due 2023 — incorporatedeierence to Exhibit 4.2 to Aon's Current Remort~orm 8-K
filed on November 26, 2013.
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Material Contracts.

10.1* Amended and Restated Agreement among the Attoreex i@l of the State of New York, the Superintendémtsurance
of the State of New York, the Attorney Generallaf State of Connecticut, the lllinois Attorney Geatethe Director of
the lllinois Department of Insurance, and Aon Cogpion and its subsidiaries and affiliates effeetas of February 11,
2010 — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.A¢m's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Februaéy 2010.

10.2* Three-Year Term Credit Agreement, dated as of AufiBs2010, among Aon Corporation, Credit Suisse A%
administrative agent, the lenders party thereto,gdo Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as syndicatgeng Bank of
America, N.A., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. andSR&curities Inc., as co-documentation agents,iC3eisse
Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley Senior Rogdinc., as joint lead arrangers and joint bookeers, and Bank of
America, N.A., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. andSsREecurities Inc. as co-arrangers — incorporategkfirence to
Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-kKdion August 16, 2010.

10.3* Senior Bridge Term Loan Credit Agreement, datedfasugust 13, 2010, among Aon Corporation, CredisSe AG, as
administrative agent, the lenders party thereto,gdo Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as syndicatgeng Bank of
America, N.A., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. andSREcurities Inc., as co-documentation agents,iC3eisse
Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley Senior Rogdinc., as joint lead arrangers and joint bookers, and Bank of
America, N.A., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. andSREecurities Inc. as co-arrangers — incorporategkfirence to
Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-kKdion August 16, 2010.

10.4* $400,000,000 Five-Year Credit Agreement dated adasth 20, 2012 among Aon Corporation, CitibankhNas
Administrative Agent, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.Ad Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agents, Rayal Bank
of Scotland Plc and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asstion, as documentation agents and Citigroup &lttarkets, Inc.,
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Merrill Lynch, Peer&enner and Smith Incorporated, as joint leaahgers and joint
book managers and the lenders party thereto —piocated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's CutrRReport on
Form 8-K filed on March 21, 2012.

10.5* Joinder Agreement executed by Aon plc as of Aprt@1.2 (modifying the $400,000,000 Five-Year Crédjteement,
dated as of March 20, 2012, among Aon Corporatishorrower, Citibank, N.A., as administrative agard the other
agents and lenders party thereto) — incorporatetgyence to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current Reporform 8K filed on
April 2, 2012.

10.6* European Facility Amendment and Restatement Agragrdated as of March 30, 2012, among Aon Corpamaton plc,
the subsidiaries of Aon Corporation party theretdarrowers, Citibank International plc, as agant the other agents
and lenders party thereto, amending and restadtegtiropean Facility Agreement dated as of OctabeP010 and
amended on July 18, 2011 — incorporated by referém&xhibit 10.3 to Aon's Current Report on Forid 8led on
April 2, 2012.

10.7* $450,000,000 Term Credit Agreement Dated as of 18n2011 among Aon Corporation, as borrower, ¢énelérs party
thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as administratigeat, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. as syiitin agent,
Citigroup Global Markets, Inc., Credit Suisse AGUische Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs Bark BBS
Securities Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as oounentation agents, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Ferfa&mith
Incorporated and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Ejoint lead arrangers and joint bookrunnerd, @itigroup Global
Markets, Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LIB@utsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs B&dw, RBS
Securities Inc. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLE@&@rrangers — incorporated by reference to ExAibif to Aon's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2011.

10.8* Amendment No. 1 to Term Credit Agreement, datedfaspril 2, 2012, among Aon Corporation, as borrowon plc, as
guarantor, the lenders party thereto and Bank oéien, N.A., as administrative agent (amending®#&0,000,000 Term
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2011, arAongCorporation, as borrower, Bank of America, N.@s
administrative agent and the other agents and tenmety thereto) — incorporated by reference thikix10.1 to Aon's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.9* Letter of Amendment and Waiver between Aon andb@itk International PLC (as agent) dated April Z8,2amending
€650,000,000 Facility Agreement dated October 0802as amended July 18, 2011 and as amendedsiateteMarch
30, 2012 — incorporated by reference to Exhibitl10.Aon's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed oayML, 2013.

10.10%% pgn Corporation Outside Director Deferred Compensna&\greement by and among Aon and its directors afe not

Analaviad Armanlaviaan Af AAn Arv iba AFFLAT lnAAviaAvA tnd s vAafAavanan A Tuhilkie 1NTAN $A A Al iAl DaAanAve A



Form 10-K for the year ended December 319199

10.11.*# Aon Corporation Outside Director Deferred CompeinsalPlan — incorporated by reference to Exhibit91id. Aon's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmem31, 2007.
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10.12.4Amendment to the Aon Outside Director Deferred Cengation Plan, effective January 1, 2008, dated1®l2012 —
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Adpisarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ehdlene 30, 2012.

10.13.*# Aon Corporation Outside Director Corporate Bequrtah (as amended and restated effective Janu2G10) —
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Adptgarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter entlate 30, 2010.

10.14.*#Aon Corporation Non-Employee Directors' DeferredcBtUnit Plan — incorporated by reference to Exhilifi.2 to Aon's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter entlate 30, 2006.

10.15.*# Amendment to the Aon Corporation Non-Employee Ooe®eferred Stock Unit Plan, effective Januar2d06, dated
July 19, 2012 — incorporated by reference to ExHiBi16 to Aon's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtfar quarter ended
June 30, 2012.

10.16.*# Aon Corporation 1994 Amended and Restated Outsitkrfr Stock Award Plan — incorporated by refeeeta
Exhibit 10(b) to Aon's Quarterly Report on Form QQer the quarter ended March 31, 1995.

10.17.*# Aon Corporation Outside Director Stock Award andifRenent Plan (as amended and restated effectiugadn 1, 2003)
and First Amendment to Aon Corporation Outside Elive Stock Award and Retirement Plan (as amendddestated
effective January 1, 2003) — incorporated by rafeesto Exhibit 10.12 to Aon's Annual Report on FA®AK for the year
ended December 31, 2007.

10.18.*# Second Amendment to the Aon Corporation Outsidedars Stock Award and Retirement Plan — incorsatdty
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Aon's Quarterly Report~orm 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.

10.19.*# Amendment to the Aon Corporation Outside DirectimcE Award and Retirement Plan effective Januar30D3, dated
July 19, 2012 — incorporated by reference to ExHiBi15 to Aon's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtfer quarter ended
June 30, 2012.

10.20.*# Amendment to the Aon Corporation Outside Directimc® Award and Retirement Plan, effective Januar30D8, dated
July 19, 2012 — incorporated by reference to ExHiBi18 to Aon's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtfar quarter ended
June 30, 2012

10.21.*#Aon Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restat@tterporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to therént Report on
Form 8-K filed on May 24, 2006.

10.22.*#First Amendment to the Amended and Restated AockSteentive Plan — incorporated by reference tbikix 10(au) to
Aon's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2006.

10.23.*# Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Ammk 8tcentive Plan, dated April 2, 2012 — incorfiechby
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Aon's Current ReporfForm 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.24.*#Form of Stock Option Agreement — incorporated Hegmence to Exhibit 99.D(7) to Aon's Schedule TAgMNumber 005-
32053) filed on August 15, 2007.

10.25.*# Aon Stock Award Plan (as amended and restatedghrBebruary 2000) — incorporated by reference toiliik10(a) to
Aon's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quagteded June 30, 2000.

10.26.*# First Amendment to the Aon Stock Award Plan (asraee and restated through 2000) — incorporatea:feyence to
Exhibit 10(as) to Aon's Annual Report on Form 1@eKthe year ended December 31, 2006.

10.27.*#Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement — incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Aon's AnnuapBrt on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

10.28.*# Aon Stock Option Plan as amended and restatedghrd®97 — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@gaAon's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endedch 31, 1997.



10.29.*# First Amendment to the Aon Stock Option Plan asraded and restated through 1997 — incorporated feyeece to
Exhibit 10(a) to Aon's Quarterly Report on FormQG@er the quarter ended March 31, 1999.

10.30.*# Second Amendment to the Aon Stock Option Plan aanded and restated through 1997 — incorporateéfeyence to
Exhibit 99.D(3) to Aon's Schedule TO (File Numb@6e82053) filed on August 15, 2007.

10.31.*# Third Amendment to the Aon Stock Option Plan asrahed and restated through 1997 — incorporated fleyenece to
Exhibit 10(at) to Aon's Annual Report on Form 10eK the year ended December 31, 2006.

10.32.*# Aon Deferred Compensation Plan (as amended aratedstffective as of November 1, 2002)ireorporated by referent
to Exhibit 4.6 on Aon's Registration Statement omkS-8 (File Number 333-106584) filed on JuneZQ3.
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10.33.*#First Amendment to Aon Deferred Compensation Pésnafnended and restated effective as of NovemIt280R) —
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Adxrsmual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwer 31, 2007.

10.34.*# Seventh Amendment to the Aon Deferred Compens#&tian (as amended and restated effective as of Nowefn
2002) — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1&®2Aon's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeat@nh
December 31, 2007.

10.35.*#Aon Deferred Compensation Plan (as amended amatedstffective as of September 20, 2013) — incarjeor by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Quarterly Report~orm 10-Q filed on October 25, 2013.

10.36.*#Form of Severance Agreement, as amended on Septd®p2008 — incorporated by reference to Exhibitllto Aon's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter enseptember 30, 2008.

10.37.*#Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors adfficers of Aon Corporation — incorporated by mefiece to
Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-kdion February 5, 2009.

10.38.*#Form of Deed of Indemnity for Directors of Aon ple incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to AdBurrent Report
on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.39.*#Form of Deed of Indemnity for Gregory C. Case —oipmrated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Aon'sr€ar Report on
Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.40.*#Form of Deed of Indemnity for Executive OfficersAdn plc — incorporated by reference to Exhibit6lth Aon's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.41.*#Aon Corporation Executive Special Severance Plaianaended and restated April 2, 2012 and as assoyn&dn plc as
of April 2, 2012 — incorporated by reference to Eh10.14 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-Kdilen April 2, 2012.

10.42.*# Aon Corporation Excess Benefit Plan and the follmp@amendments to the Aon Corporation Excess BeRkit: First
Amendment, Second Amendment, Third Amendment, Rifttrendment (repealing 4th Amendment), Sixth Amenaime
(amending Section 4.1), Sixth Amendment (amendirtgclé VII), and the Eighth Amendment — incorporctey
reference to Exhibit 10.30 to Aon's Annual Report@rm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

10.43.*#First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Aop@ation Excess Benefit Plan — incorporated byrazfee to
Exhibit 10.2 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-kdion February 5, 2009.

10.44.*# Employment Agreement dated April 4, 2005 between And Gregory C. Case — incorporated by referemce t
Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Quarterly Report on Form 10e@the quarter ended March 31, 2005.

10.45.*# Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datefidsvember 13, 2009 between Aon and Gregory CeGas
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Addisrent Report on Form 8-K filed on November 17020

10.46.*# Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreemeed @s of November 13, 2009 between Aon and Gregory
Case — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2da's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Novemb@r 2009.

10.47.*#International Assignment Letter dated as of Jan2r2012 by and between Aon and Gregory C. Casecerporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current Reporform 8-K filed on January 13, 2012.

10.48.*# Employment Agreement dated as of October 3, 200¥d®n Aon Corporation and Christa Davies — incoaped by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporfForm 8-K filed on October 3, 2007.

10.49.*# Amendment effective as of March 27, 2012 to EmplegtrAgreement between Aon Corporation and Christeidy dated
as of October 3, 2007 — incorporated by referendexhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-kédion March 30,
2012.

10.50.%4,
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reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Currenp®&® on Form 8-K filed on January 13, 2012

10.51.*#Change in Control Agreement entered into as of k&r¢ 2012 by and between Aon Corporation and €hbavies —
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to ther€ut Report on Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2012.

10.52.*# Employment Agreement dated December 7, 2010, betvea Corporation and Stephen P. McGill — incorpedaby
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current ReporfForm 8-K filed on December 13, 2010.
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10.53.*#Change in Control Agreement dated December 7, B@teen Aon Corporation and Stephen P. McGill —eiporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current ReéporForm 8-K filed on December 13, 2010.

10.54.*# International Assignment Letter dated as of Jan@2r2012 by and between Aon and Stephen P. MeGilhicorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aon's Current R¢porForm 8-K filed on January 13, 2012.

10.55.*# Employment Agreement dated as of January 22, 2éi@den Aon Corporation and Baljit Dail — incorp@@ty
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Aon's Quarterly Report~orm 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

10.56.*# Separation Agreement dated as of February 13, B Hhd between Aon and Baljit Dail — incorporatgdréference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-Kdion February 14, 2012.

10.57.*# International Assignment Letter dated as of Jan@2r2012 by and between Aon and Michael J. O'Cornro
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AdBisrent Report on Form 8-K filed on January 13,201

10.58.*# Employment Agreement, dated and effective as ofchkl&9, 2013, between Aon Corporation and Micha&'Gonnor -
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Adptgarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2013.

10.59.*# Change in Control Agreement, entered into as ofdM&9, 2013, between Aon Corporation and Micha@'Gonnor -
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Adptgarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2013.

10.60.*# Employment Agreement dated and effective as of Mai 2012 by and between Aon Corporation and Gyedo
Besio — incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@.3he Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3012.

10.61.*#Change in Control Agreement entered into as of M&r¢ 2013 by and between Aon Corporation and GyegioBesio —
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to ther€ut Report on Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2012.

10.62.*# International Assignment Letter dated as of Jan2r2012 between Aon Corporation and Gregory 3iBe-
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Adisarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ehdarch 31, 2012.

10.63.*# Employment Agreement dated as of September 30, Bétideen Aon Corporation and Kristi Savacool — mpooated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Aon's Quarterly Report~orm 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

10.64.*# Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of May2011 between Aon Corporation and Kristi Savaeeol
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Adpisarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endedch 31, 2012.

10.65.*# Aon Corporation Leadership Performance Progran2@d0-2012 — incorporated by reference to ExhibiB10 Aon's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endedch 31, 2010.

10.66.*# Aon Corporation Leadership Performance Progran2@drl-2013 — incorporated by reference to Exhibid®Go Aon's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endadch 31, 2011.

10.67.*#Aon Hewitt Performance Program for 2011-2013 — ipovated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Aon's Qery Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011.

10.68.*# Aon Corporation Leadership Performance Progran2@dr2-2014 — incorporated by reference to Exhibii3Go Aon's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endegdch 31, 2012.

10.69.*# Aon plc Leadership Performance Program for 2013520hcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 tsmAdQuarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2013.

10.70.*# Senior Executive Incentive Compensation Plan —ripamated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Aon's Grréy Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

10.71.*# Senior Executive Incentive Compensation Plan —nipo@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Aon's Qaerdy Report on
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10.72.*# Amended and Restated Global Stock and Incentivepéasation Plan of Hewitt Associates, Inc. — incoaped by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Hewitt's Quarterly Bemn Form 10-Q for the quarter ended DecembeRGQ7
(Commission File No. 001-31351).
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10.73.*#First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Gldtmak and Incentive Compensation Plan of Hewittog&sges, Inc.,
dated April 2, 2012 — incorporated by referenc&xibit 10.8 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8-kKdi on April 2,
2012.

10.74.*# Aon Corporation 2011 Incentive Plan, as amendedeastdted effective April 2, 2012 — incorporatedrbference to
Exhibit 10.11 to Aon's Current Report on Form 8Hi€d on April 2, 2012.

10.75.*# Deed of Assumption of Aon plc dated April 2, 2012ireorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Addisrent Report
on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.76.*# Master Amendment dated April 2, 2012 to the Aonisgs Plan, Aon Supplemental Savings Plan, Aon Quaitmn
Supplemental Employee Stock Ownership Plan, Aorp@Quaition 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Aoeied
Compensation Plan, Aon Stock Award Plan, Aon Stopkion Plan and the Employment Agreement dated Apidl 4,
2005, between Aon Corporation and Gregory C. Casacerporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to AdBisrent Report
on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.77.*#Form of Change in Control Agreement — incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 10.15 to Aon's QuarterlypB&e on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

10.78.*#Form of Assignment, Assumption and Amendment tor@kan Control Agreement for Executive Officersfafn plc —
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Ad&srent Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2012.

10.79.*# Aon Deferred Compensation Plan (as Amended andaieesEffective as of January 1, 2008) — incorpatéte reference
to Exhibit 4.2 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1Aon's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File Ken833-106584)
filed on April 2, 2012.

Statement re: Computation of Ratios.
12.1.Statement regarding Computation of Ratio of EamitogFixed Charges.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
21 List of Subsidiaries of Aon.
Consents of Experts and Counsel.

23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications.

31.1.Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive iO&r of Aon in accordance with Section 302 of tletfaines-Oxley Act
of 2002.

31.2.Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial 0éfr of Aon in accordance with Section 302 of tletfanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Section 1350 Certifications.

32.1.Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officf Aon in accordance with Section 906 of theb8aes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2.Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Offrcof Aon in accordance with Section 906 of theb8aes-Oxley Act of
2002.

XBRL Exhibits.

Interactive Data Files. The following materials fiked electronically with this Annual Report on o 1(-K:



101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.PRE

XBRL Report Instance Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.
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101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.

* Document has been previously filed with the@dies and Exchange Commission and is incorpdraggein by reference herein. Unless
otherwise indicated, such document was filed u@emmission File Number 001-07933.

# Indicates a management contract or comperyspl#@n or arrangement.

The registrant agrees to furnish to the SecuritresExchange Commission upon request a copy @nilJongterm debt instruments tr
have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(i))¢ARegulation S-K, and (2) any schedules omittétti respect to any material plan of
acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquinlatbr succession set forth above.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiant has duly caused this

SIGNATURES

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigrit thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 18, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf

Aon plc

By: /s GREGORY C. CASE

Gregory C. Case, President
and Chief Executive Officer

of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature

/sl GREGORY C. CASE

Gregory C. Case

/s/ LESTER B. KNIGHT

Lester B. Knight

/s/ FULVIO CONTI

Fulvio Conti

/sl CHERYL A. FRANCIS

Cheryl A. Francis

/sl EDGAR D. JANNOTTA

Edgar D. Jannotta

/s/ J. MICHAEL LOSH

J. Michael Losh

Robert S. Morrison

/sl RICHARD B. MYERS

Richard B. Myers

/sl RICHARD C. NOTEBAERT

Richard C. Notebaert

/s GLORIA SANTONA

Gloria Santona

/s/ CAROLYN Y. WOO

Carolyn Y. Woo

/sl CHRISTA DAVIES

Christa Davies

/sl LAUREL MEISSNER

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and

Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Chairman and Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Senior Vice President and

Date

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014



Laurel Meissner Global Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 12.1

Aon plc and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Combined With Unconsolidated Subsidiaries
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Years Ended December 31,
(millions except ratio) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Income from continuing operations before incomesaand noncontrolling
interests (1)

$ 153 $ 138 $ 138 $ 1,05¢ $ 94¢

Less: Equity in earnings on less than 50% owneitiesnt 20 13 7 10 11
Add back fixed charges:
Interest on indebtedness 21C 22¢ 24t 182 122
Interest on uncertain tax positions 5 5 — (0] 2
Portion of rents representative of interest factor 52 42 55 48 48
Income as adjusted $ 1,78 $ 164: $ 1681 $ 127¢ $ 1,11C
Fixed charges:
Interest on indebtedness $ 21C % 228 % 24 $ 182 $ 122
Interest on uncertain tax positions 5 5 — (D] 2
Portion of rents representative of interest factor 52 42 55 48 48
Total fixed charges $ 267 $ 27t % 30C % 22¢ 3 172
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 6.7 6.C 5.€ 5.€ 6.5

(1) For the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2@blints related to discontinued operations haga beluded in Other income to
conform to amounts included in the ConsolidatedRaial Statements. These amounts in the years ébelmember 31, 2012 and 2011, which
were historically included in Income (loss) fronsabntinued operations, have been reclassifiedribom with current presentation. The
amounts reclassified were $1 million loss and $4ioniincome for the years ended December 31, 2012011, respectively, from Income
(loss) from discontinued operations to Other incoRa the years ended December 31, 2010 and 26€89yrds related to discontinued
operations remain in Income (loss) from discontthaperations as they are more meaningful to theegpitation of continuing operations in
those years.



Aon plc - Worldwide Subsidiaries as of December 32013

Name

Country

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction of Incorp

Access Plans, Inc.

Access Plans USA, inc.

Affinity Insurance Services, Inc.

AIS Affinity Insurance Agency, Inc.

AIS Insurance Agency, Inc.

Alexander Reinsurance Intermediaries, Inc.
Allen Insurance Associates, Inc.

Alliance HealthCard, Inc.

Alliance HealthCard of Florida, Inc.

Allied Group Holdings LLC

Allied North America Insurance Brokerage of Califia, LLC
Allied North America Insurance Brokerage of New KorLC
Allied North America Insurance Brokerage of TexasC
Allied Risk Solutions, LLC

American Insurance Services Corp.
American Safety Consultants, LLC
American Special Risk Insurance Company
AMXH, LLC

Aon Advisors, Inc.

Aon Advisory Services Inc.

Aon Aviation, Inc.

Aon Benfield Fac Inc.

Aon Benfield Global, Inc.

Aon Benfield Inc.

Aon Benfield Puerto Rico Inc.

Aon Benfield Securities, Inc.

Aon Brazil Holdings, LLC

Aon Capital Partners, Inc.

Aon Capital Managers, LLC

Aon Chile Holdings, LLC

Aon Consulting & Insurance Services

Aon Consulting Worldwide, Inc.

Aon Consulting, Inc.

Aon Consulting, Inc.

Aon Corporation

Aon eSolutions, Inc.

Aon Finance US 1, LLC

Aon Finance US 2, LLC

Aon Finance US 3, LLC

Aon Finance US LP

Aon Financial & Insurance Solutions, Inc.
Aon Fire Protection Engineering Corporation
Aon Fire Protection Engineering of lllinois P.C.
Aon Global Market Solutions, Inc.

Aon Group, Inc.

Aon Hewitt LLC

Aon Hewitt Absence Management, LLC

Aon Hewitt Benefit Payment Services, LLC

Oklahoma
Oklahoma
Pennsylvania
California
Washington
New York
California
Georgia
Georgia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Delaware
lllinois
Illinois
Delaware
lllinois
Puerto Rico
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Maryland
New York
New Jersey
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
Illinois
Tennessee
Maryland
Delaware
Connecticut
Illinois



Aon Hewitt Financial Advisors, LLC Delaware
Aon Hewitt Intermediaries, Inc. Delaware




Name

Country

Jurisdiction of Incorp

Aon Hewitt Navigators Insurance Services Inc.
Aon Human Capital Services, LLC

Aon Insurance Management Services - Virgin Islaits,
Aon Insurance Managers (Puerto Rico) Inc.
Aon Insurance Managers (USA) Inc.

Aon Insurance Managers (USVI), Inc.

Aon International Energy, Inc.

Aon International Holdings, Inc.

Aon Life Agency of Texas, Inc.

Aon Life Insurance Company

Aon Mexico Holdings, LLC

Aon PHI Acquisition Corporation of California
Aon Premium Finance, LLC

Aon Private Risk Management Insurance Agency, Inc.
Aon Private Risk Management of California InsuraAgency, Inc.

Aon Property Risk Consulting, Inc.

Aon Realty Services, Inc.

Aon Recovery, Inc.

Aon Retirement Plan Advisors, LLC

Aon Risk Consultants, Inc.

Aon Risk Insurance Services West, Inc.

Aon Risk Services (Holdings) of Latin America, Inc.
Aon Risk Services (Holdings) of the Americas, Inc.
Aon Risk Services Central, Inc.

Aon Risk Services Companies, Inc.

Aon Risk Services International (Holdings) Inc.
Aon Risk Services Northeast, Inc.

Aon Risk Services South, Inc.

Aon Risk Services Southwest, Inc.

Aon Risk Solutions of Puerto Rico, Inc.

Aon Risk Services, Inc. of Florida

Aon Risk Services, Inc. of Hawalii

Aon Risk Services, Inc. of Maryland

Aon Risk Services, Inc. of Washington, D.C.
Aon Risk Technologies, Inc.

Aon Service Corporation

Aon Services Group, Inc.

Aon Special Risk Resources, Inc.

Aon Title, Inc.

Aon Underwriting Managers, Inc.

Aon/Albert G. Ruben Insurance Services, Inc.
Aon Ward Financial Corporation

ARM International Corp.

ARM International Insurance Agency Corp.
ARMRISK CORP.

ASPN Insurance Agency, LLC

Association of Rural and Small Town Americans
Assurance Licensing Services, Inc.

Atlantic Star Administrators LLC

Atlantic Star Intermediaries, LLC

B E P International Cort

California
Delaware
U.S. Virgin Islands
Puerto Rico
Vermont
U.S. Virgin Islands
Texas
Maryland
Texas
Vermont
Delaware
California
Delaware
lllinois
California
New York
Pennsylvania
Delaware
Delaware
lllinois
California
Delaware
lllinois
lllinois
Maryland
Delaware
New York
North Carolina
Texas
Puerto Rico
Florida
Hawaii
Maryland
District of Columbia
Delaware
lllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Ohio

New York
Ohio

New Jersey
Delaware
Missouri
lllinois
Delaware
Delaware
New Jersen



Benefit Marketing Solutions, L.L.C. Oklahoma
Benfield Advisory Inc. Delaware




Name

Country

Jurisdiction of Incorp

Benfield Finance (London) LLC

Benfield Finance (Westport) LLC

Blanch Americas Inc.

BMS Insurance Agency, L.L.C.

Bowes & Company, Inc., of New York
Cananwill Corporation

Cananwill, Inc.

Cananwill, Inc.

CICA SPE, LLC

Citadel Insurance Managers, Inc.

Coalition for Benefits Equality and Choice
Corporate Investigative Solutions, Inc.
Crawley, Warren (U.S.A.) Inc.

DMA CLAIM SERVICES, LLC

E.W. Blanch Capital Risk Solutions, Inc.
E.W. Blanch Insurance Services Inc.

E.W. Blanch International Inc.

Ennis Knupp Secondary Market Services, LLC
Financial & Professional Risk Solutions, Inc.
Futurity Group, Inc.

Gateway Alternatives, L.L.C.

Global Insurance Strategies, LLC

Grant Park Capital, LLC

Healthy Paws Pet Insurance LLC

Hewitt Associates Caribe, Inc.

Hewitt Associates LLC

Hewitt Associates International Services, Inc.
Hewitt Associates Public Sector Consulting LLC
Hewitt EnnisKnupp, Inc.

Hewitt Financial Services LLC

Hewitt Insurance Brokerage LLC

Hewitt Insurance Services, Inc.

Hewitt International Holdings LLC

Hogg Robinson North America, Inc.

Holdco #1, Inc.

Holdco #2, Inc.

Huntington T. Block Insurance Agency, Inc.
Impact Forecasting, L.L.C.

INPOINT, INC.

International Accident Facilities, Inc.
International Claims Administrators, Inc.
International Risk Management (Americas), Inc.
International Space Brokers, Inc.

IRM/GRC Holding Inc.

J H Minet Puerto Rico Inc.

Johnson Rooney Welch, Inc.

K & K Insurance Group of Florida, Inc.

K & K Insurance Group, Inc.

K2 Technologies Inc.

McLagan Partners Asia, Inc.

McLaaan Partners. In

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Oklahoma
New York
Delaware
California
Pennsylvania
Delaware
California
California
New Jersey
Massachusetts
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Washington
Puerto Rico
lllinois
Delaware
lllinois
lllinois
Illinois
Delaware
Puerto Rico
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
District of Columbia
Illinois
lllinois
Massachusetts
Kansas
Ohio
Virginia
Delaware
Puerto Rico
California
Florida
Indiana
California
Delaware
Delaware



Membership Leasing Trust Delaware
Minet Holdings Inc. New York




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp
Minet Re North America, Inc. Georgia
Muirfield Underwriters, Ltd. Delaware
Paragon Strategic Solutions Inc. Delaware
Prairie State Underwriting Managers, L.L.C. lllinois
Premier Auto Finance, Inc. Delaware
Project Technologies International L.L.C. Delaware
Protective Marketing Enterprises, Inc. Tennessee
Private Equity Partnership Structures |, LLC Delaware
Redwoods Dental Underwriters, Inc. North Carolina
Rewards Plus of America Corporation Maryland
SINSER Management Services (Vermont), Inc. Vermont
Specialty Benefits, Inc. Indiana
T.J.E. Management, LLC Minnesota
The Capella Group, Inc. Texas
Underwriters Marine Services, Inc. Louisiana
VSC SPE, LLC Delaware
Ward Financial Group, Inc. Ohio
Wexford Underwriting Managers, Inc. Delaware
William Gallagher Associates of New Jersey, Inc. New Jersey
Worldwide Integrated Services Company Texas
Wrapid Specialty, Inc. California
Admiseg SA Argentina

Aon Affinity Argentina S.A. Argentina

Aon Assist Argentina S.A. Argentina

Aon Benfield Argentina S.A. Argentina

Aon Consulting Argentina S.A. Argentina

Aon Risk Services Argentina S.A. Argentina

Asevasa Argentina S.A. Argentina

Benfield Argentina S.A. Argentina

Hewitt Associates, S.A. Argentina

Marinaro Dundas S.A. Argentina

SN Re S.A. Argentina

Swire Blanch MSTC SA Argentina

Swire Blanch MSTC Il SA Argentina

Aon Aruba N.V. Aruba

Aon Captive Services Aruba N.V. Aruba

J.S. Johnson & Company Ltd Bahamas

Insurance Company of The Bahamas Ltd Bahamas

Aon Insurance Managers (Barbados) Ltd. Barbados

Anchor Underwriting Managers Ltd. Bermuda

Aon (Bermuda) Ltd. Bermuda

Aon Benfield Group Limited Bermuda

Aon Bermuda Holding Company Limited Bermuda

Aon Delta Bermuda Ltd. Bermuda

Aon Group (Bermuda) Ltd. Bermuda

Aon Insurance Managers (Bermuda) Ltd Bermuda

Benfield Investment Holdings Limited Bermuda

Benfield Juniperus Holdings Limited Bermuda

International Risk Management Group Ltd Bermuda

White Rock Insurance (Americas) Ltd. Bermuda

White Rock Insurance (SAC) Lt Bermudaz



Aon Bolivia SA Corredores de Seguros Bolivia
Aon Consulting Bolivia SRL Bolivia




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp

Aon Re Bolivia SA Corredores de Reaseguros Bolivia
Aon Affinity do Brasil Servicos e Corretora de SeguiS/C Ltda Brazil
Aon Affinity Servicos e Participacoes Ltda Brazil
Aon Affinity Administradora de Beneficios Ltda Brazil
Aon Benfield Brasil Corretora de Resseguros Ltda Brazil
Aon Holdings Corretores de Seguros Ltda Brazil
Hewitt Associates Servicos de Recursos Humanos Ltda Brazil
Hewitt Associates Administradora e Corretora deusegLtda Brazil
682465 Canada Ltd. Canada
Aon Benfield Canada ULC Canada
Aon Canada Inc. Canada
Aon Reed Stenhouse Inc. Canada
Aon Parizeau Inc. Canada
Aon Risk Services Canada Inc. Canada
Risk Management Consultants of Canada Limited Canada
Aon Hewitt Inc. Canada
Groupe-Conseil Aon Inc. Canada
Aon Direct Group Inc. Canada
Aon Wealth Management Inc. Canada
Aon Finance Canada 1 Corp. Canada
Aon Finance Canada 2 Corp. Canada
Aon Finance Canada 3 Corporation Canada
Aon Finance Canada 4 Corporation Canada
Cananwill Canada Limited Canada
Coles Hewitt Partnership Canada
Dominion Mutual Insurance Brokers Ltd. Canada
Minet Inc. Canada
K&K Insurance Brokers, Inc. Canada Canada
Alexander & Alexander Services Canada Inc. Canada
Aon Fire Protection Engineering Corporation Canada
Aon Canada Intermediaries GP Canada
Aon Canada Holdings N.S. ULC Canada
Aon Finance N.S. 1, ULC Canada
Aon Finance N.S. 2, ULC Canada
Aon Finance N.S. 3, ULC Canada
Aon Finance N.S. 4, ULC Canada
Aon Finance N.S. 5, ULC Canada
Aon Finco N.S. 2012-1, ULC Canada
Aon Finco N.S. 2012-2, ULC Canada
Hewitt Amalco 1 ULC Canada
Hewitt Amalco 2 ULC Canada
Hewitt Amalco 3 ULC Canada
Hewitt Amalco 4 ULC Canada
Hewitt Amalco 5 ULC Canada
Hewitt Associates Corporation Canada
Hewitt Associates Partnership Canada
Hewitt Holdings Canada Company Canada
Hewitt Management Ltd. Canada
Hewitt Western Management Amalco Inc. Canada
Horizon Professional Corporation Canada

IAQ Actuarial Constultina Services Canada | Canads



J. Allen Brown Consultants, Inc. Canada
M.A. Shakeel Management Ltd. Amalco Canada




Name

Country Jurisdiction of Incorp

USLP Underwriting Solutions LP

7193599 Canada Inc.

Aon Insurance Managers (Cayman) Ltd.

Aon Risk Solutions (Cayman) Ltd.

Aon Affinity Chile Ltda.

Aon Andueza Nikols Corredores de Seguros SA

Aon Consulting Chile Limitada

Aon Re (Chile) Corredores de Reaseguros Ltda

Aon Risk Services (Chile) SA

Aon Risk Services Holdings (Chile ) Ltda

Asevasa Chile Peritaciones e Ingenieria de Rie)és,
Benfield Corredores de Reaseguro Ltda

Excess Corredores de Reaseguros SA

Hewitt Associates Limitada (Chile)

Inversiones Benfield Chile Ltda

Nikols Chile SA

Aon Affinity Colombia Ltda. Agencia de Seguros

Aon Benfield Colombia Ltda. Corredores de Reaseguro
Aon Corporate Advisors Ltda

Aon Risk Services Colombia SA Corredores de Seguros
Tecsefin, S.A. en liquidacion

Alexander Insurance Managers (Netherlands Antil\es).
Aon Antillen N.V.

Aon Captive Services Antilles N.V.

Aon Holdings Antillen N.V.

Aon Insurance Managers (Antilles) N.V.
Akaoasesores Cia. Ltda.

Aon Consulting Ecuador S.A.

Aon Group Ecuador SA Intermediaria de Reasegurokiuidation)

Aon Risk Services Ecuador SA
Aon Affinity Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

Aon Affinity Mexico Agente de Seguros y de Fianzad). de C.V.

Aon Benfield Mexico Intermediario de Reaseguro AV
Aon Life, Agente de Seguros, S.A. de C.V.

Aon Mexico Business Support SA de CV

Aon Mexico Holdings, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Aon Risk Solutions Agente de Seguros y de FianZadeSCV
Asevasa Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

Hewitt Associates, S.C.

Hewitt Beneficios Agente de Seguros y de Fianzas, & C.V.

Aon (Panama) Ltd. SA

Aon Benfield Panama SA

Aon Broking Services SA

Frank B. Hall Re (Latin America) Inc.
Tecsefin Centroamerica, S.A.

Tecsefin Guatamala

Tecsefin Salvador

Aon Affinity Peru Corredores de Seguros S.A.
Aon Benfield Peru Corredores de Reaseguros SA
Asesores y Corredores de Seguros SA

Aon Enerav Carihbean | imite

Canada
Canada
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Curacao
Curacao
Curacao
Curacao
Curacao
Ecuador
Ecuador
Ecuador
Ecuador
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Panama
Panama
Panama
Panama
Panama
Panama
Panama
Peru
Peru
Rep. Dominica
Trinidad and Tobaa



J.S. Johnson & Company (Turks & Caicos) Ltd. Turks & Caicos
Asevasa Caricam, S.A. Uruguay




Name

Country Jurisdiction of Incorp

Aon Benfield Latin America SA

Asevasa Panama, S.A.

Marinaro Dundas SA

Administradora Aon CA

Aon Group Venezuela Corretaje de Reaseguros CA
Aon Risk Services Venezuela, Corretaje de Segufos C
Alexander Howden Group (Australia) Ltd.

Alexander Howden Reinsurance Brokers (Australia) Lt
Aon Benfield Australia Ltd.

Aon Charitable Foundation Pty. Ltd.

Aon Hewitt Ltd.

Aon Corporation Australia Ltd.

Aon Hewitt Financial Advice Ltd.

Aon Holdings Australia Pty Ltd

Aon Product Design & Development Australia Pty Ltd.
Aon Risk Services Australia Ltd.

Aon Services Pty Ltd.

Aon Superannuation Pty Ltd.

Aon Wealth Management Ltd.

Benfield (Australia) Pty Ltd

CSI The Remuneration Specialists Pty Ltd

Freeman McMurrick Pty Ltd.

Harbour Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd

Harbour Pacific Underwriting Management Pty Ltd
Hewitt Associates Pty. Limited

HIA Insurance Services Pty Ltd.

McDonald & Company (Australasia) Pty Ltd.

Aon Market Services Pty Ltd

Aon Australian Holdco 1 Pty Ltd

Aon Australian Holdco 2 Pty Ltd

Aon-COFCO Insurance Brokers Co., Ltd.

Aon Hewitt Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

Aon (Fiji) Ltd.

Aon Insurance Micronesia (Guam) Inc

Aon (CR) Insurance Agencies Co. Ltd.

Aon Agencies Hong Kong Limited.

Aon Assurance Agencies Hong Kong Limited

Aon Benfield China Limited

Aon Chevalier Risk Management Hong Kong Limited
Aon Commercial Insurance Agencies Hong Kong Limited
Aon Enterprise Insurance Agencies Hong Kong Limited
Aon Holdings Hong Kong Limited

Aon Hong Kong Limited

Aon Insurance Agencies (HK) Ltd

Aon Insurance Management Agencies (HK) Limited
Aon Insurance Underwriting Agencies Hong Kong Lt
Aon Life Insurance Agencies (HK) Limited

Aon Product Risk Services Hong Kong Limited

Aon Services Hong Kong Limited

Aon Underwriting Agencies (HK) Ltd.

Asian Reinsurance Underwriters | imit

Uruguay
Uruguay
Uruguay
Venezuela
Venezuela
Venezuela
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
China
China

Fiji

Guam
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hona Kona



Contingency Insurance Brokers Ltd. Hong Kong
Essar Insurance Services Limited Hong Kong




Name

Country Jurisdiction of Incorp

EW Blanch Limited

Aon Consulting Pvt. Ltd

Aon Global Insurance Brokers Pvt. Ltd.

Aon Specialist Services Pvt Ltd.

Ennis Knupp & Associates India Private Limited
Hewitt Associates (India) Pvt. Ltd.

Hewitt Human Resource Services Limited
Hewitt Outsourcing Services India Limited
PT Aon Benfield Indonesia

PT Aon Indonesia

PT Aon Hewitt Indonesia

Aon Benfield Japan Ltd.

Aon Hewitt Japan Ltd.

Aon Holdings Japan Ltd.

Aon Japan Ltd.

Aon Hewitt HR One Corporation

Y's Insurance Inc.

Aon Hewitt Consulting Korea Inc.

Aon Korea Inc.

Aon Insurance Agencies (Macau) Limited
Aon Benfield Malaysia Limited

Aon Insurance Brokers (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
Aon Hewitt Malaysia Sdn. Bhd

Aon Benfield New Zealand Limited

Aon Holdings New Zealand

Aon New Zealand Group

Aon New Zealand

Aon Saver Limited

Superannuation Management Nominees Ltd.
Aon Insurance Brokers (Pvt) Ltd.

Aon Insurance and Reinsurance Brokers Philippines |
Hewitt Associates Inc.

Aon Superannuation (PNG) Limited

Aon Hewitt (PNG) Ltd.

Aon Risk Services (PNG) Ltd.

Aon Insurance Micronesia (Saipan) Inc
Alexander & Alexander (Asia) Holdings Pte Ltd
Aon Benfield Asia Pte. Ltd.

Aon Consulting (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

Aon Hewitt Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Aon Insurance Agencies Pte. Ltd.

Aon Insurance Managers (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Aon Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Aon Singapore Center for Innovation, Strategy armh&yement Pte. Ltd.

Aon Singapore (Broking Centre) Pte. Ltd.
Hewitt HR Delivery Services Pte. Ltd.
Stenhouse (South East Asia) Pte. Ltd.

Aon Management Consulting Taiwan Ltd.
Aon Taiwan Ltd.

Aon Insurance Agency (General) Taiwan Ltd.
Aon Constiltina (Thailand) L imite

Hong Kong
India

India

India

India

India

India

India
Indonesia
Indonesia
Indonesia
Japan
Japan

Japan
Japan

Japan
Japan

Korea

Korea
Macau
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
New Zealand
New Zealand
New Zealand
New Zealand
New Zealand
New Zealand
Pakistan
Philippines
Philippines
PNG

PNG

PNG

Saipan
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Taiwan
Taiwan
Taiwan
Thailand



Aon Group (Thailand) Limited Thailand
Aon Hewitt (Thailand) Ltd. Thailand




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp
Aon Re (Thailand) Limited Thailand
Aon Risk Services (Thailand) Limited Thailand
Aon (Thailand) Limited Thailand
Aon (Vanuatu) Ltd. Vanuatu
Aon Vietnam Limited Vietham
Aon Angola Corretores de Seguros Limitada (In Ldigtion) Angola
Aon Holdings Austria GmbH Austria
Aon Hewitt GmbH Austria
Aon Jauch & Hubener GmbH Austria
Aon Benfield Ruckversicherungsmakler GmbH Austria
Aon Austria Versicherungsmakler GmbH Austria
Aon Re Middle East W.L.L. Bahrain
Aon Saudi Arabia E.C. (in liquidation) Bahrain
Agenion N.V./SA Belgium
Aon Belgium B.V.B.A. Belgium
Crion N.V. Belgium
Probabilitas N.V./SA Belgium
Aon Botswana (Pty) Ltd. Botswana
Aon Holdings Botswana (Pty) Ltd. Botswana
Aon Risk Management (Pty) Ltd. Botswana
Vassal Properties (Pty) Ltd. Botswana
Glenrand M | B (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd Botswana
Aon Business Consulting Ltd. Bulgaria
Aon Bulgaria Ltd. Bulgaria
Aon Insurance Brokerage Ltd. Croatia
Aon Business Consulting Ltd. Croatia
Aon Cyprus Insurance Broker Company Limited Cyprus
Aon Central and Eastern Europe a.s. Czech Rep.
Aon Denmark A/S Denmark
Aon Denmark Insurance Services A/S Denmark
Aon Private Consulting A/S Denmark
Optica A/S Denmark
Aon Benfield Middle East Limited Dubai
Riskikonsultatsioonid OU Estonia
Aon Finland Oy Finland
Aon Monia Oy Finland
Aon France SAS France
Aon France Finance SA France
Aon Holdings France SNC France
Hewitt Associates SAS France
International Space Brokers France SA France
AlV Karl Alt GmbH Germany
Aon Beteiligungsmanagement Deutschland GmbH & G8. K Germany
Aon Credit International Insurance Broker GmbH Germany
Aon Deutschland Beteiligungs GmbH Germany
Aon Holding Deutschland GmbH Germany
Aon Risiko & Versicherungsberatungs GmbH Germany
Aon Risk Services (Deutschland) GmbH (In Liquidajio Germany
Aon Versicherungsmakler Deutschland GmbH Germany
Carstens & Schues GmbH Germany

Hamhuraer Gesellschaft zur Forderuina des Verssinswesens mh

Germanv



Aon Hewitt GmbH Germany
Aon Hewitt Trust Solutions GmbH Germany




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp
PRORUCK Ruckversicherungs Aktiengesellschaft Germany
UNIT Versicherungsmakler GmbH Germany
WACUS Delkredere Management GmbH Germany
Aon Pensions Insurance Brokers GmbH Germany
Aon Greece S.A. Greece
Aon Credit Kelet-Europai Hitelbiztositasi Alkusz tKf Hungary
Aon Hungary Insurance Brokers Limited Liability Cpemy Hungary
Credit Management System Kft. Hungary
CRS Kozep-Europari Hitelbiztositasi Alkusz Kift. Hungary
Guarantee Transfer Solution Kift. Hungary
Aon Hewitt (Ireland) Limited Ireland
Aon Insurance Managers (Dublin) Ltd. Ireland
Aon Insurance Managers (Property) Limited Ireland
Aon Insurance Managers (Shannon) Limited Ireland
Bacon & Woodrow Partnerships (Ireland) Limited Ireland
Becketts (Trustees) Limited Ireland
Becketts Limited Ireland
Beech Hill Pension Trustees Ltd Ireland
Aon Commercial Services and Operations Ireland tachi Ireland
Aon Global Risk Research Limited Ireland
Aon Investment Holdings Ireland Limited Ireland
Aon MacDonagh Boland Group Ltd Ireland
Delany Bacon & Woodrow Partnership Ireland
Insureforsure Ltd. Ireland
MacDonagh Boland Crotty MacRedmond Ltd Ireland
Private Client Trustees Ltd. Ireland
Redmond Life & Pensions Ltd. Ireland
Aon Centre for Innovation and Analytics Ltd Ireland

Aon Risk Services (NI) Limited

Aminim International Underwriters of Insurance Agars (1990) Ltd.

Aon Israel Insurance Brokerage Ltd.

Aon Holdings Israel Ltd.

Aon Benfield Israel Limited

Delek Motors Insurance Agency (2003) Ltd
I. Beck Insurance Agency (1994) Ltd.
National Insurance Office Ltd.

Ronnie Elementary Insurance Agency Ltd
Aon Benfield Italia S.p.A.

Aon ltalia S.r.l.

Aon Re Trust Broker Srl

Aon Hewitt Risk & Consulting Srl

Aon S.p.A. Insurance & Reinsurance Brokers
Asscom Insurance Brokers Srl
Praesidium SpA

Aon Consulting Kazakhstan LLP
Insurance Broker Aon Kazakhstan LLP
Aon Consulting Ltd.

Aon Kenya Insurance Brokers Ltd

Minken Properties Ltd.

Aon Consulting Lesotho (Pty) Ltd.

Aon | esotho (Pt) | td

Ireland (Northern)
Israel

Israel

Israel

Israel

Israel

Israel

Israel

Israel

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy

Italy
Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan
Kenya
Kenya
Kenya
Lesotho

| esotha



Aon Insurance Managers (Liechtenstein) AG Liechtenstein
UADBB Aon Baltic Lithuania




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp
Aon Holdings Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Aon Insurance Managers (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg
Aon Luxembourg S.A. Luxembourg
Aon Global Risk Consulting Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Aon Re Canada Holdings SARL Luxembourg
Aon Finance Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Aon Services Luxembourg & Co SCA Luxembourg
Aon Services Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Aon Financial Securities Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Aon Malawi Limited Malawi

Aon Insurance Managers (Malta) Ltd. Malta

Aon Services (Malta) Ltd. Malta

White Rock Insurance (Europe) PCC Limited Malta

Aon Hewitt Limited Mauritius
Aon Mauritius Holdings Ltd. Mauritius
Glenrand M.I B. (Mauritius) Pte Ltd Mauritius
Aon Acore Sarl Morocco
Casablanca Intermediation Company Sarl Morocco
Aon Mogambiqgue - Corretores de Seguros, Limitada Mozambique
Glenrand M.1.B. (Mogambique), Corretores de Segurositada Mozambique
Aon Namibia (Pty) Ltd Namibia
Alexander & Alexander B.V. Netherlands
Alexander & Alexander Holding B.V. Netherlands
Aon 2008 B.V. Netherlands
Aon Americas Holdings BV Netherlands
Aon Benfield Netherlands CV, Reinsurance Brokers Netherlands
Aon CANZ Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Aon Captive Services (Nederland) B.V. Netherlands
Aon Consulting Nederland CV Netherlands
Aon Cash Management B.V. Netherlands
Aon Finance Netherlands B.V. Netherlands
Aon Global Holdings 1 C.V. Netherlands
Aon Global Holdings 2 C.V. Netherlands
Aon Groep Nederland B.V. Netherlands
Aon Group International B.V. Netherlands
Aon Hewitt Risk & Financial Management B.V. Netherlands
Aon Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Aon Holdings International B.V. Netherlands
Aon Holdings Middle East B.V. Netherlands
Aon Holdings Mid Europe B.V. Netherlands
Aon International Codperatief U.A. Netherlands
Aon Makelaars in Assurantien B.V. Netherlands
Aon Nederland CV Netherlands
Aon Corporation EMEA B.V. Netherlands
Aon Nikols Chile B.V. Netherlands
Aon Participations B.V. Netherlands
Aon Restructuring B.V. Netherlands
Aon Risk Services EMEA B.V. Netherlands
Aon Southern Europe B.V. Netherlands
Aon Verzuim Management B.V. Netherlands
Aon Global Risk Consuiltina B\ Netherlands



Assuradeurenbedrijf 't Huys ter Merwe C.V. Netherlands
Assurantie Groep Langeveldt C.V. Netherlands




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp
Bekouw Mendes C.V. Netherlands
Beursstraat 1A B.V. Netherlands
Bonnikeplein 18-22 B.V. Netherlands
B.V. Assurantiekantoor Langeveldt Schroder Netherlands
Celinvest Amsterdam B.V. Netherlands
COT Instituut voor Veiligheids-en CrisismanagemBny. Netherlands
D. Hudig & Co. B.V. Netherlands
De Admiraal B.V. Netherlands
Dorhout Mees Assurantien B.V. Netherlands
Aon Trust Services B.V. Netherlands
Heerkens Thijssen Groep B.V. Netherlands
Hewitt Associates B.V. Netherlands
Hewitt Associates Outsourcing B.V. Netherlands
Hudig-Langeveldt (Pensioenbureau) B.V. Netherlands
Hudig-Langeveldt (Reinsurance) B.V. Netherlands
Hudig-Langeveldt Makelaardij in Assurantien B.V. Netherlands
Jacobs & Brom B.V. Netherlands
Kerkenbos 1061 B.V. Netherlands
Langeveldt de Vos B.V. Netherlands
Langeveldt Groep B.V. Netherlands
Paalbergweg 2-4 B.V. Netherlands
Aon Norway AS Norway
Aon Majan LLC Oman

Aon Polska Sp.z.0.0. Poland

Aon Polska Services Sp. z.0.0. Poland
Carstens & Schues Poland Sp.z.o.0. Poland

Aon Hewitt Sp.zo.00 Poland

Aon Portugal Corretores de Seguros, S.A. Portugal
Aon Portugal - Consultores, Unipessoal, Lda. Portugal
Aon Re Bertoldi Corretagem de Resseguros S.A. Portugal
Nikols Portugal Mediacao de Seguros Lda Portugal
Aon Motor - Gestao E Consultoria de Frotas Unipelsddda Portugal
Aon Qatar LLC Qatar

Aon Romania Broker de Asigurare - re asigurarelS.R. Romania
Business Risk Consultants (Brisk) S.R.L. Romania
Aon Rus Insurance Brokers LLC Russia

Aon Rus LLC Russia

Aon Sint Maarten N.V. Saint Martin
Aon Saudi Arabia LLC Saudi Arabia

Aon Benfield Bratislava s.r.o.

Aon Consulting South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

Aon Holdings Sub-Sahara Africa (Pty) Ltd.

Aon Limpopo (Pty) Ltd

Aon Re Africa (Pty) Limited

Aon South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

Benfield (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd.

Bymac Insurance Brokers (Pty) Limited

Claims Fulfilment Company (Pty) Ltd.

Cyborg Systems (Africa) Pty Ltd. Corp.

Mafube Risk and Insurance Consultants (Pty) Ltd.
NYA Crises Constultina and Resnonse Manaaement (Pivited

Slovak Republic

South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa



QED Actuaries & Consultants (Pty) Ltd. South Africa
Signature Made (Pty) Ltd. South Africa




Name

Country Jurisdiction of Incorp

TM Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd.
Aon Marketing Directo S.A.U.

Aon Benfield Iberia Correduria de Reaseguros SA

Aon Direct Group Espana S.L.

Aon Direct Marketing Services Group Broker Corradufe Seguros S.L.U.

Aon Hewitt Espafia S.A.U.

Aon Gil y Carvajal Correduria de Seguros, S.A.

Aon Management Solutions SAU

Aon Re Iberia Cover Holder, SL

Aon Southern Europe y Cia SC

Aon Southern Holdings Spain, SL

Asevasa Asesoramiento y Valoraciones S.A.
Control de Riesgos S.A.

GDS Risk Solution Correduria de Seguros S.L.

Aon Swaziland (Pty) Ltd.

Aon Global Risk Consulting AB

Aon Hewitt AB

Aon Sweden AB

SINSER Holding AB

Strive Advisory AB

Aon Benfield Switzerland AG

Aon Credit International Schweiz AG
Aon Hewitt (Switzerland) S.A.

Aon Insurance Managers (Switzerland) AG
BM Beteiligungsmangement Services AG
BMS Schweiz AG

Inpoint Switzerland GmbH

Aon Risk Solutions Schweiz AG

Aon Tanzania Limited

Aon Tunisie S.A.

Aon Sigorta ve Reasurans Brokerligi AS
Aon (DIFC) Gulf LLC

Aon Middle East Co LLC

Aon Hewitt Middle East Limited

Hewitt Associates Middle East FZ LLP
Aon Uganda Limited

Aon Ukraine LLC

Aon Zambia Limited

Aon Zambia Pension Fund Administrators Limited

Aon Benfield (Pvt) Ltd.

Aon Consulting (Pvt) Ltd.

Aon Risk Services (Pvt) Ltd.

Glenrand M | B (Zimbabwe) (Pvt) Limited
Andes Global Ltd.

Aon Group Limited

AIM Gibraltar Ltd.

White Rock Insurance (Gibraltar) Ltd.
Aon Insurance Managers (Guernsey) Ltd.
Aon Insurance Managers (Holdings) Ltd.
Aon Services (Guernsey) Ltd

l incolnshire Insurance Comnanv PCC | imi

South Africa
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Swaziland
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Tanzania
Tunisia
Turkey
UAE

UAE

UAE

UAE
Uganda
Ukraine
Zambia
Zambia
Zimbabwe
Zimbabwe
Zimbabwe
Zimbabwe
BVI

BVI
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Guernsey
Guernsey
Guernsey
Guernse\



Lombard Trustee Company Limited Guernsey
White Rock Insurance Company PCC Ltd. Guernsey




Name Country Jurisdiction of Incorp
White Rock Insurance (Guernsey) ICC Limited Guernsey
Aon (Isle of Man) Limited Isle of Man
Aon Holdings (Isle of Man) Limited Isle of Man
Aon Insurance Managers (Isle of Man) Ltd. Isle of Man
Aon Corporate Services (Isle of Man) Limited Isle of Man
White Rock Insurance PCC (Isle of Man) Limited Isle of Man
IRISC (Jersey) Ltd. (in liquidation) Jersey
Alexander & Alexander Services UK Ltd (in liquidari) UK
Alexander Clay UK
Alexander Stenhouse & Partners Ltd UK

Aon 2007 Limited UK

Aon 180412 Limited (in liquidation) UK

Aon Adjudication Services Ltd UK

Aon Alexander & Alexander U.K. Pension Trustees Ltd UK

Aon ANZ 1 Limited UK

Aon ANZ 2 Limited UK

Aon ANZ Holdings Limited UK

Aon Bain Hogg Pension Trustees Limited UK

Aon Benfield Limited UK

Aon Benfield Securities Limited UK

Aon Consulting Financial Services Ltd UK

Aon Consulting Ltd UK

Aon Delta UK Limited UK

Aon Fiscal Representatives Limited UK

Aon Global Operations Limited UK

Aon Hewitt Limited UK

Aon Hewitt US Holdings Limited UK

Aon Holdings Limited UK

Aon Holdings UK (in liquidation) UK

Aon Overseas Holdings Limited UK

Aon Pension Trustees Ltd UK

Aon Risk Services UK Ltd (in liquidation) UK

Aon Risk Services US Holdings Limited UK

Aon SIPP Trustees Ltd UK

Aon Trust Corporation Ltd UK

Aon UK Group Ltd UK

Aon UK Holdings Intermediaries Ltd UK

Aon UK Limited UK

Aon UK Trustees Ltd UK

Aon US & International Holdings Limited UK

Bacon & Woodrow Limited UK

Bacon & Woodrow Partnerships Limited UK

Bacon & Woodrow Properties Company UK

Bacon & Woodrow Service Company Limited UK

Bacon & Woodrow Trustees Ltd UK

Bain Hogg Group Limited (in liquidation) UK
Bankassure Insurance Services Ltd UK
Benfield Greig Holdings Limited UK
Benfield Group Limited UK
Benfield Limited (in liquidation) UK

Cockman Consiiltants & Partners Limit

UK



CoSec 2000 Ltd
Crawley Warren Group Limited (in liquidation)

UK
UK




Name

Country Jurisdiction of Incorp

Doveland Services Limited

EW Blanch Holdings Limited

EW Blanch Investments Limited

Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Investment Consulting Lindte
Hewitt Associates (Europe) Limited

Hewitt Associates BPO Limited

Hewitt Associates Financial Services Limited
Hewitt Associates Ltd.

Hewitt Associates Outsourcing Limited

Hewitt Associates Outsourcing Services Limited
Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Limited

Hewitt Cyborg Limited

Hewitt Risk Management Services Limited
Hogg Group Ltd

International Space Brokers Europe Limited
International Space Brokers Limited

Jenner Fenton Slade Ltd

Leslie & Godwin (UK) Ltd

McLagan (Aon) Limited

Minet Consultancy Services Ltd

Minet Group

NBS Nominees Limited

Nicholson Leslie Investments Ltd (in liquidation)
NYA International Limited

Rasini Vigano Limited

SLE Worldwide Ltd

UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statement

Form Number Purpose

S-8 333-55773  Pertaining to Aon's stock award plan, stock oppitam, and employee stock purchase plan

S-4 333-168320 Eertaining to the registration of 4,545,566 shafeommon stock registered on Post Effective AmesainiNo.

S-8 333-103344  Pertaining to the registration of common stock

S-8 333-106584 Pertaining to Aon's deferred compensation plan

S-8 333-145928 Pertaining to the registration of common stock

S8 333-145930 Pertain_ing to_the registration of common stock ulyileg equity securities issued to Aon's presidemd chief
executive officer

S-8 333-174788 Pertaining to Aon's 2011 stock incentive plan adiil2employee stock purchase plan

S-8 333-178906 Pertaining to Aon's savings plan

S-4 333-178991 Pertaining to the registration of 355,110,708 Clag3rdinary Shares of Aon Global Limited, and ie tielated
Proxy Statement / Prospectus of Aon Global and Borporation contained therein
Pertaining to the registration of debt securitiesgrantees, preference shares, Class A Ordinang§ha

S-3 333-183686 Convertible Securities, share purchase contractshare purchase units of Aon plc and debt seesiéthd
guarantees of Aon Corporation

S-8 333-184999 Pertaining to Aon plc Company Share Save Plan

of our reports dated February 18, 2014 , with respethe consolidated financial statements of Alinand the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of Aon plc, included ingkAnnual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended &aber 31, 2013 .

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 18, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gregory C. Case, the Chief Executive Officedoh plc, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornK16F Aon pic;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandisother financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of ogerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant anddiav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b)  Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thaegtegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anldalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@nspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefrwaincial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that ined management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl GREGORY C. CASE

Date: February 18, 2014 Gregory C. Case
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Christa Davies, the Chief Financial Officer obi\plc, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornK16F Aon pic;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nistauisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandisother financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant anddiav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjur caused such disclosure controls and proesdaribe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b)  Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and presenthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thaegtegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anldalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@nspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and rtefreaincial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aismntifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl CHRISTA DAVIES

Date: February 18, 2014 Christa Davies
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 8
of Title 18 of the United States Code

I, Gregory C. Case, the Chief Executive Officedoh plc (the "Company"), certify that (i) the AndiReport on Form 10-K of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 Reedrt") fully complies with the requirements ofc8en 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetl(igrthe information contained in the Report faipresents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations & @ompany.

/sl GREGORY C. CASE

Gregory C. Case
Chief Executive Officer

February 18, 2014



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 8
of Title 18 of the United States Code

I, Christa Davies, the Chief Financial Officer o plc (the "Company"), certify that (i) the AnniRéport on Form 10-K of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 Reedrt") fully complies with the requirements ofc8en 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetl(igrthe information contained in the Report faipresents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations & @ompany.

/sl CHRISTA DAVIES

Christa Davies
Chief Financial Officer

February 18, 2014




